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--- Upon commencing at 9:08 a.m.1

2

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   (DOGRIB3

SPOKEN).  4

5

(OPENING PRAYER)6

7

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Good8

morning, everyone.  Welcome back to day 4, March 25th.  I9

appreciate you coming out this morning again for our10

hearing.  Today's agenda is as follows: 11

We will be having six (6) Intervenor12

presentations today, and each presentation will be thirty13

(30) minutes for the presentation and fifteen (15)14

minutes for questions.15

We'll be taking an hour lunch break today16

starting as close to possible as noon, and we'll also be17

having breaks in-between.  After each of the presenters18

we'll take a -- we'll take a short break.19

We -- if we have time before five o'clock20

today, we will have an open -- open mic session again for21

people, members of the public who wish to participate and22

say a few words to us on our de -- before our23

deliberations begin.24

And then we'll take a two (2) hour break25
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for dinner and a rest break between 5:00 and 7:00.  And1

then at seven o'clock we'll have our scheduled public2

session.  So that's our -- that's our lay -- layout for3

today.4

And we can start off with -- Karen5

McMaster is going to be giving her presentation first6

this morning.  Just a suggestion we've had from our7

recorder is try and keep your voice abo -- or your voice,8

your mouth about 4 to 5 inches away from the microphone,9

otherwise, it distorts it and it's very hard to -- to10

pick up what you're saying.11

And, again, the -- the translators and12

interpreters are working for us, so pace yourselves13

accordingly.  Thanks a lot.  You may begin.  Thirty (30)14

minutes.15

16

PRESENTATION BY KAREN MCMASTER:17

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Good morning.  Thank18

you for the opportunity to speak with all of you today. 19

My name is Karen McMaster and I'm appearing at this20

hearing as a resident of Yellowknife, a Canadian citizen,21

and in no other capacity.  And just to save everyone a22

question, I am not a biologist, although I have be --23

beside me Dr. Rick Page.  24

As most of you know, Dr. Page and Mr. Mark25
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Fraker have assisted me with this project.  And for those1

of you who do not know Dr. Page, I'll just read a summary2

of his working experience.3

"Dr. Rick Page, PhD, registered4

professional biologist began working on5

caribou in Ontario in 1977, did his6

Masters at U of Vic, University of7

Victoria, on the caribou of BC,8

surveyed the Bathurst caribou herd in9

1981, and continues to consult on NWT10

caribou.  Dr. Page has flown aerial11

surveys for caribou in BC, NWT, and12

Ontario.  He has well-developed13

quantitative skills and provides14

scientific advice and oversight on15

caribou management and research to16

provincial and state governments and to17

federal governments of Canada and the18

US."19

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Excuse me,20

Ms. McMaster, could you slow down -- slow down your pace,21

please?22

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Certainly.23

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thanks.24

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Certainly.  Dr. Page25
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has also lectured for two (2) decades on caribou1

management at the University of Victory, the University2

of British Columbia, and Michigan Technical University. 3

He also sits on the -- I believe it's the Disciplinary4

and Ethics Committee in BC in the Association.  5

If I might, and I can provide copies to6

the Board and -- and everyone else, just as a summary of7

this, I can make copies and submit them for your8

information.9

I am just respectfully asking that you10

confirm that, as we've spoken about in the past couple of11

days, that Mr. -- or Dr. Page has -- has suggested and is12

willing to answer any questions on behalf of anyone at13

the hearing. 14

I think he provides valuable insight into15

this hearing and he's a great resource for everyone.  And16

if I might ask him to speak at the end for a summary of17

his presentation as opposed to my presentation, and then18

open up the floor, and you're free to ask him questions.19

Mr. Chairs, is that still fine?20

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   If it's21

part of your fifteen (15) minute -- your thirty (30)22

minute presentation and the fifteen (15) minute question23

period, that's fine.24

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Okay, thank you.  25
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(BRIEF PAUSE)1

2

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   I've prepared here3

just a very quick overview of my presentation.  I broke4

my submissions into -- to several parts:  The first part5

is the goal and my conclusions in this hearing; the6

second part is the basis for decision-making; the third7

part was review process; the fourth part's some8

information about the land claim agreement and -- and9

several considerations; future management; and my10

summaries.11

My goals in this hearing are to encourage12

and support management decisions and practices which are,13

and I've listed here some of the -- some of the goals: 14

That we come up with decisions that are reliable,15

accurate, logical, fair, reasonable, transparent,16

inclusive, independent, unbiased, legally sound, not17

political, in keeping with sustainable development, and18

are in the public interest.19

My overall conclusion is that the total20

allowable harvest is unnecessary at this time, given the21

proposal that was put forward to us that it's22

unreasonable and that it's not in the public interest.  I23

believe that the status quo for hunting should be24

restored, and I believe that we must all work together to25
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collect and manage caribou information and create a path1

forward.  I don't think information should be controlled2

by any one (1) group and that it should be shared with3

everyone on a regular basis.4

I note that if -- if one believes the5

numbers as they are, and I took it by reading the Joint6

Management Proposal that Tlicho seemed to be agreeing to7

this number until last week, if those numbers are correct8

I do believe that no hunting should take place.  But I9

don't believe the numbers are anywhere near certain to10

what is being proposed.11

I've outlined in my submissions a summary12

of my reasons and to quickly review these, I don't13

believe we're in a crisis situation, I don't think the14

decline that's been purported has been substantiated, and15

I don't think there's sufficient information.16

ENR models are -- are not -- I don't --17

don't -- do not seem to be widely accepted.  There's been18

no independent evaluation of them that's been put forward19

to the public, and no consultation about some of these20

models.21

I do not believe that EC -- that ARC de --22

confirmed ENR's declines that have been purported in23

their models.  ARC recommended significant improvements24

in data collection, scientific rigour and transparency,25
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and I believe that this review process has been1

compromised. 2

I -- I do not believe that we are anywhere3

close to understanding the caribou situation here, and I4

believe that we can't just do something just to do5

something, that affects so many lives in the NWT.  There6

must be a basis, and the basis must be solid, reasonably7

solid, and -- and demonstrated, and we must come up with8

a reasonable solution.9

What we don't have.  I believe we don't10

have a solid basis of information.  We don't have a11

socioeconomic assessment.  We don't have reliable harvest12

information, we don't have predation information.  We are13

not near certain with respect to how harvest restrictions14

will affect -- or, sor -- we are near cer -- certain with15

respect to harvest restrictions and particularly bull. 16

And we do not have the creative and -- and collective17

thought at this point.18

I am -- because Dr. Page is here with us,19

I am going to skip over these conclusions and let Dr.20

Page speak to these personally.21

In my submissions, I -- I put forward my22

basis -- my thought process and my basis for decision23

making and my conclusions, and I've reviewed five (5),24

actually, general areas.  There's one (1) at the bottom,25
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caribou calculator, that I left off this slide.  One (1)1

is the joint proposal.  And as -- as most of you are2

aware at this hearing, the joint proposal contained very3

little supporting information to substantiate a decline. 4

And this information was forthcoming over time.  It took5

a lot of time to get this information forward, and there6

was valuable information that was submitted just before7

Christmas and well into the new year.8

And, you know, I note that the five9

hundred (500) caribou limit was not forthcoming until10

just, I believe, last week.11

The second issue that I was looking at was12

the Bathurst herd definition; creation of artificial13

decline, and I'll go -- I'll go through that; the ARC14

report, I'm going to skim through that; and the ENR draft15

technical report.16

It seems to me that -- and -- and I think17

this hearing -- and -- and hearing the evidence that's18

been put forward, and it -- it appeared to me at the very19

outset when I looked at this that it's -- it's more of a20

statistically driven decline, and that's problematic to21

me.22

I'm not going to repeat all of the other23

submissions that have been presented with respect to the24

artificial decline, and the Bathurst and the high Ahiak25
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split.  I think that has been well canvassed.1

I would like to point out, and I raised it2

the other day, that it does appear that ENR did look at3

the entire traditional calving ground for the Beverly4

herd and that that traditional calving ground is still5

very important.6

I've identified -- pardon me.  I have7

identified several factors here which I discuss in my8

submission in further detail.  One (1) of the things I9

would like to point out is some of the information that's10

being used for this hearing, and I'll give you an11

example, mortality rates.12

I spoke with a biologist who was in ENR13

back in the 90s and I asked -- you know, being a14

layperson, I asked what is the mortality rate of -- of a15

caribou, what's the average mortality rate.16

And I was told that if you're in sort of17

middle aged, as you would be perhaps a thirty-five (35)18

year old human, the mortality rate is maybe 1 percent,19

and that seemed to make sense as a thirty-five (35) year20

old.21

But, overall, the mortality rate for over22

the entire age of -- of a caribou might be 10 to 1523

percent.  And so it -- it occurred to me that the age of24

-- of the animal which is collared is very important.25
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I'll give you another example.  It appears1

that decisions are being made and -- and the -- the bull-2

to-cow ratio seems to be very important in this hearing,3

and it's been asserted that a forty (40) to a hundred4

(100) ratio is very important for a healthy herd, based5

on a recent Red Deer review, or study.6

And, again, I -- I went a little bit7

further and I asked a biologist for -- over in the Yukon8

who's been working there for twenty-five (25) years, and9

I said, In your -- in your view, what is a healthy herd?10

And he told me, If the bulls get down to11

10 percent, I'd be worried, but I'd be comfortable with12

20.  And so if the Bathurst herd is 30 to 36 or 37, 38,13

it's close to 40, it doesn't appear to me that there's a14

huge concern with that ratio.15

I have canvassed a number of issues with16

respect to the -- the assumptions that are made in terms17

of the decline of the Bathurst herd.  And I -- I18

seriously hope that information -- all information is19

considered and that we look beyond this.20

There's been a lot of discussion about the21

ARC report, and I think I've put forward my submissions22

in detail.  I -- I do note, and I've -- I've raised some23

concerns here that have been discussed in the ARC report,24

and I do note that the ARC report didn't look at the June25
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2009 survey, the draft technical report that was produced1

just before the Christmas holidays.2

And I would ask the Board and everyone3

else maybe just to take a look at the ARC report.  Look4

at the conclusions.  Look at the conclusions in the5

executive summary and look at the ones that are elsewhere6

in the body of the report.  They don't match.7

And the executive summary is supposed to8

be summary of the conclusions, that is the -- the text. 9

The body of the text is really what governs.  And even10

the document that was produced by ARC last week that gave11

a summary doesn't track the language.12

The ambiguities, the generally supporting13

ENR, those qualifiers are left out of the document that14

was submitted last week, and I would just ask the Board15

maybe just to -- to review the ARC report and -- and look16

at it thoroughly, and look at what ENR has tracked in17

terms of their language.  And I don't -- I think you'll18

find that the language isn't for -- isn't similar. 19

In terms of ARC at this point, I -- I also20

want to note that the ARC report assumed ENR definitions. 21

And as we know from -- this is -- it's a key concern in22

this hearing, is that definition.23

Quickly, with respect to the caribou24

calculator, this was, I believe, developed for the25
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Porcupine herd, and that herd has not been -- has not1

been assessed in the last seven (7) or eight (8) years.2

Again, I spoke with the biologist over3

there, and they're using assumptions that are based on4

previous data from -- from reports that are prepared long5

ago.6

The ENR draft technical report 2009, it7

was produced weeks into this Hearing.  It's a massive8

report with an incredible amount of detail.  It contains9

a model that -- as we have seen in this Hearing is -- is10

not well understood by a lot of people in this11

department.12

I believe the statisticianist (phonetic)13

is incredibly knowledgeable about it and -- and -- but14

there are a lot of people who don't know about that15

model.  And it wasn't produced.  I had to ask for it for16

this Hearing.  17

I'm not going to go over the -- the review18

process in detail in terms of how this was compromised. 19

I have submitted in my communications over time my20

concerns in this regard.  They're on the public registry. 21

I -- I do want to emphasize that there's been an22

incredible amount of information produced for this23

Hearing and I believe that that information should have24

been produced when this proposal was submitted.  I25
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understand that the proposal could have been developed1

over several years and that it could have been very2

detailed.3

And I -- I read yesterday or the day4

before, letters that were written by the Board to the5

proponents asking for detailed information and that6

seemed to be reasonable information to include, and a7

management plan for review, but that information wasn't8

forthcoming.  And I note that even the total allowable9

harvest was not forthcoming until after our submissions10

were -- were submitted and after our presentations were11

submitted.12

And so we walked into this Hearing not13

even knowing what the total allowable harvest was and14

without knowing all of ENR's management plans for outside15

of Wek'eezhii.  And the management plans have to jive and16

yet we have been afforded no opportunity to comment on17

these issues. 18

The proponent's positions were not clear19

until this past week and there's been ample opportunity20

since the beginning of this Hearing and since, I would21

say -- I suggest even three (3) years since -- or I guess22

it's three (3) years since the last hearing, there's been23

ample time for both proponents to put forward24

information.  And it's very unfair to come into this25
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Hearing and to have all this -- this volume of1

information produced with little forewarning.2

That document in December of 2009 to my3

knowledge was not raised in consultations.  We did not4

know it was forthcoming and it's a massive amount of5

material to go through.  6

The Tlicho Land Claim Agreement, I've --7

I've skimmed through in terms -- here in terms of some of8

the -- the statements and -- and the Board has put9

forward information that the, you know, it is -- the10

Board is an institution of public government to act in11

the public interest and I would suggest it's Canada12

residents and businesses in the NWT.  13

There's no ownership of wildlife.  It's14

specific in that -- that Tlicho Land Claim Agreement.  So15

the land claim agreement -- sorry, the wildlife is -- is16

for everyone.17

And there's no guarantee of supply of18

wildlife.  And restrictions are to be only for19

conservation, public health and public safety, and the20

Tlicho Land Claim Agreement outlines principles for --21

for management of wildlife.22

The Land Claim Agreement refers to the23

concept of this precautionary principle and -- and I24

would ask the Board to -- to look at the real declaration25
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principle, I think it's 19, and in that I think this is1

where the precautionary principle came from and it was2

originally included the use of cost effective3

conservation measures.  And so if you look at reasonable4

I think that needs to be taken into consideration.  5

I believe that we are nowhere close to6

having complete information about the caribou and again,7

we can't just do something just to do something.  There8

needs to be some sort of cause-and-effect relationship9

and a reasonable action plan.  10

Again, I believe that the harvest11

restrictions are unnecessary and unreasonable and they're12

not in the public interest.  We're missing reliable sound13

caribou numbers.  The evidence to support the decline and14

the harvest, the review of predators, the reasons15

thoroughly discussed and a socioeconomic assessment.16

And I would respectfully submit to the17

Board that these harvest restrictions are draconian to18

many, many people in the NWT, whether they be First19

Nations people or otherwise.20

We're speaking about changing people's21

lives here and taking away some businesses for families,22

and   restricting ways of lives.  And I don't think that23

a Board -- I respectfully submit that these decisions24

should not be made on a -- on a rushed basis.25
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Again, the Board being a cu -- a -- an1

institution of public government and public interests2

that we need transparency and disclosure.  I don't think3

we've had that in this -- for this hearing.  I think I4

would submit that the Board needs to look at creative --5

creative and reasonable solutions.6

This next item is priority.  And this is a7

sensitive issue, I understand, but I think it needs to be8

addressed, and my understanding that priority does not9

mean exclusivity and that it's not all to one (1) group10

and nothing to the other.  So I would encourage, and I11

think most of the Chiefs have -- have referred to this,12

and everyone has in this hearing, that we encourage13

collective problem-solving cohesiveness among NWT people14

and businesses and accountability.15

Future management.  I've gone through16

future management issues and I wanted to speak about the17

importance of coming up with reasonable action plans,18

having a strong basis for the proposal and that we do not19

prematurely affect the lives of so many people.  All20

stakeholders need to work together to collect reliable21

information and to proceed with a thoughtful and22

coordinated plan.  And I stress that this must be done23

with -- with everyone involved.  There's valuable24

information out there, I don't think it's been in -- in -25
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- included.1

Thank you very much.  Mahsi.2

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you3

very much.  There's ten (10) minutes left in your4

proposal time, or your presentation time.5

DR. RICK PAGE:   Well, first of all, I'd6

like to thank Karen McMaster for inviting me up here, and7

I'd like to thank the Board.8

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Could you9

tell us your name, please?10

DR. RICK PAGE:   Oh, sorry.  My name is11

Rick Page.  I'd like to thank the Board for the12

opportunity to speak here today.  I'd like to thank the -13

- the Chiefs of the Tlicho and people for not only being14

very welcoming but sharing their wisdom with me.  And I15

hope that something that I have to offer today to the16

Board and -- and to the people of the Tlicho will17

resonate with them and they'll be able to learn something18

from what I have to offer as well.  That's the reason I'm19

here.20

I also care about the caribou and I care21

about the people of this area that are affected by the22

decisions made about caribou.  So I've spent a fair bit23

of my life working on caribou and I've had the -- the24

great joy of working with one (1) of my Elders, Tom25



Page 24

Bergerud, who I did my Masters with, and who has -- has1

written a book that's been referred to a couple of times.2

And I see -- still see Tom on a regular3

basis.  We try to work together.  He's now -- he's -- now4

he's eighty (80).  He's working on a second book that may5

be even larger than this one, on the woodland caribou.6

So you've seen my -- my letter, it's on7

the public registry and I don't see any need to -- to go8

through those particular points now.  But there are a9

couple of -- of things I would like to highlight.  10

So Ms. McMaster has identified a number of11

the uncertainties in the data, and that's actually quite12

common to science and to biology.  We have a very poor13

understanding of the -- we have a very poor understanding14

of this, you know, massive universe, especially the15

animals and -- and -- and the natural components of it. 16

And that uncertainty may be something that is common to17

bi -- to scientists, but it can be very confusing to the18

general public.19

So the amount of information that we've20

seen in the last few days must be confusing to most21

people that are going to be affected by this decision.22

So I think there's an opportunity for the23

biologists to get together to try to find some consensus24

agreement on what we do and we don't understand about the25
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biology, perhaps not in the few days that are left to us1

but at some point in the -- in the development of this2

process.  And if that's something that the Board is3

interested in, then I'm more than willing to participate4

in that with Dr. Gunn and the -- the biologists of the5

ENR and whichever biologists the -- the Tlicho Government6

feels may represent their interests, as well.7

So I've been involved in similar consensus8

processes like that in British Columbia and it's been9

quite successful in -- in -- in coming up with a10

consensus-based agreement that satisfies the needs of all11

the interests and all the people.  I didn't -- wouldn't12

say it's easy but it's certainly possible and successful.13

A lot of the data we've seen today has14

been questioned on the basis of science, and one (1) of15

the differences that makes just going out and collecting16

information what makes it science is you answer the17

question why.  And that's one (1) of the things that18

still disturbs me, is that there's no answer to that19

question of:  Why have the caribou declined?  You know,20

what has happened to them?  If we had a better21

understanding of why this has occurred we should have a22

better understanding, we would have a better23

understanding of what we can do to resolve that problem.24

And so there is a risk by looking at25
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management solutions without understanding the reason for1

the problem that those solutions will not be effective. 2

They won't have -- they won't change, you know, the --3

the decline.4

Even more disturbing is to choose a5

particular solution, in this case restriction of harvest,6

which may not have been responsible for the decline.  Oh,7

sorry.8

So I'll just -- actually I'll just9

summarize right now by -- by reading from the last10

paragraph of my letter.11

So I don't believe that another12

independent scientific review, deep review of the13

information would be very helpful.  But instead, we14

suggest a collaborative approach with independent15

biologists working side by side with ENR biologists and16

First Nations specialists to determine a successful path17

to the future.18

And we are all willing to help in any19

capacity to chart this future path.  I think the solution20

lies in us all talking together.  Thank you very much.21

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Great. 22

Thank you very much, Ms. McMaster and Dr. Page.  We'll --23

I'll start off with a fifteen (15) minute question24

period.  We'll start off with our usual -- our usual25
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process of rotation and go through everybody and if we1

have time at the end then we can go back again.2

The first questions go to ENR.3

4

QUESTION PERIOD:5

MR. JOHN BOULANGER:   John Boulanger,6

statistician for ENR.  One question I -- I have here is7

basically there's a suggestion that there is no solution8

basically -- or no cause that's been hypothesized for the9

decline of the Bathurst caribou and that the mortality10

rates are -- are not reasonable.11

And we conducted an extensive data driven12

model that looked at that exact question that -- that was13

very much based on the data.  And one of the -- one of14

the causes or one of the very probable hypotheses was the15

effect of low productivity combined with a constant16

harvest on a declining population.17

And that's -- that was in the technical18

report.  It's also detailed in the recent harvest19

simulation paper and I was just curious, if you had a20

chance to -- to look at those exact results and if -- if21

you had any comments on this?22

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Sorry I have my back23

to you.  I -- in terms of my review --24

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Could you25
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give your name?  I'm sorry, it's Co-Chair Grant.  Could1

you give your name please, Ms. McMaster?2

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   It's Karen McMaster. 3

No, I have not, John, and the reason is, is because that4

model was not highlighted during discussions as an5

important model.6

And that model was contained in a paper,7

as I recall.  I think the caribou calculator was the8

document that was reviewed by -- or was put forward to9

the public as being a -- a critical model.10

And the model I think that you've produced11

there was produced -- was not produced or highlighted. 12

And this information I don't think was forthcoming to the13

general public to be aware about.14

The harvest numbers, it's a variable.  I'm15

sure that comes out of this and all the input data that16

you put in.  But no, we haven't had the opportunity to17

look at that.18

And I -- I think what has happened is part19

-- my concern about this whole process is that there's20

really never been a general public meeting with ENR to21

discuss the caribou issue and to discuss some of these22

models, and that the consultations were very sporadic and23

not even consistent information during the consultation.  24

So had ENR highlighted this as the key25
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model, I'm sure that other people would have sat down1

over the months and -- and looked at it in detail and I2

could have, therefore, provided it with advance notice to3

some biologists who could help me go through it.4

I don't -- Rick, do you have anything to5

add to that?6

DR. RICK PAGE:   Oh, one (1) thing -- this7

is Rick Page.  Mr. Co-Chair, yes, one (1) thing is that8

I've learned a lot more about the model and about the9

data by being here than I was able to learn from the10

materials that were presented before.  11

So part of that is valuable in that it's12

valuable for this -- this information to come out in the13

hearing, that's part of the purpose of the hearing, but14

it would have been more -- much more valuable for -- for15

me, as a scientist evaluating information, to have had16

that in -- in advance.  17

I was personally very rushed to prepare18

for this, but it's apparent that much of the material19

prepared by others on the registry was -- was rushed, as20

well, and wasn't very complete.  So we had asked for some21

of that, you know, other information to -- to be22

provided, as well.23

So I haven't -- those models are very24

complicated that -- that John referred to.  And we25
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haven't had the opportunity to reveal them, to -- to look1

at them in detail to make scientific comments.2

MR. JAN ADAMCZEWSKI:   Just a comment here3

initially.  Jan Adamczewski, ENR.  4

The Bathurst technical report was5

submitted to the Board in December, and it does have6

modelling outcomes from both models, and, fundamentally,7

the two (2) are very consistent in terms of the8

conclusions that were reached, so low productivity,9

harvest increasing its share of the herd every year, the10

conclusions from both those models are essentially the11

same.  The OLS model just allows us to go a little deeper12

into it. 13

Anyway, my question for either Karen or14

Rick Page:  If you have a herd of approximately thirty-15

two thousand (32,000) caribou that has been declining16

rapidly, what would you consider a sustainable harvest to17

be?18

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   I have a couple of19

comments with respect to this, Jan.  Oh, Karen McMaster,20

sorry.  Jan, in terms of that technical report, I -- I21

need to comment on that because the hearing commenced the22

middle of November, and that model should have been23

produced when the hearing commenced.24

That model was produced right before the25
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Christmas holidays, and, personally, I had already left. 1

That model was produced, and Christmas holidays took us2

to the middle of January.  Then ENR produced their3

Intervenor -- responses to Intervenor requests after the4

holidays, which I think were due before the holidays, but5

they were produced, I believe, January the 6th.6

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Excuse me,7

Ms. McMaster.  The question asked was what's -- what's8

the sustainable harvest.9

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Well, I -- I --10

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   What do11

you recommend as a sustainable harvest?12

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   I'm commenting, Sir,13

on -- on his -- his comments at -- at the outset, so --14

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Well, he15

po -- he posed a question after.16

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Okay.17

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Could you18

-- could you go --19

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Okay.20

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   -- on the21

question, please?22

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   If the herd is close23

to thirty-two thousand (32,000) right now, I think there24

does need to be some harvest restriction.  I don't think25



Page 32

we're close to thirty-two thousand (32,000).  I don't1

think we're even near it.  There are too many assumptions2

in the calculations.  3

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Great. 4

Co-Chair Grant.  Thank you very much.  Tlicho Government,5

your turn for questions.6

MR. ARTHUR PAPE:   Arthur Pape, for the7

Tlicho Government.  8

Dr. Page, I just want to confirm a couple9

of things from your report.  Your -- your letter was10

dated 22nd of February, addressed to the Board, and you11

said in that letter, on the 3rd page, that you had only12

seen ENR's report -- and I think you're talking about the13

draft technical report -- you'd only seen it for a few14

weeks and you had not had time for a thorough and15

critical scientific review, but some concerns were16

obvious.17

And you went on to say that you ordinarily18

would not be willing to express scientific criticisms in19

those circumstances, but you decided to do so now because20

the consequences for many people are so serious.  That is21

what you wrote, am I right?22

DR. RICK PAGE:   It's Rick Page.  Yes,23

that's correct.24

MR. ARTHUR PAPE:   And, Dr. Page, are you25
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still in that position where you have --1

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Excuse me,2

Mr. Pape.  Could you please address the questions to the3

Chair, please?  Thank you.4

MR. ARTHUR PAPE:   Thank you, Mr.5

Chairman.  Arthur Pape.  I'd like to know, Mr. Chair --6

Mr. Co-Chair, if Dr. Page is still in a position of not7

having had the time to do a thorough and critical8

scientific review of the material.9

That's what I understood him to say a few10

minutes ago in answer to questions from Mr. Boulanger and11

I -- I just want to confirm that he still has not done12

the kind of thorough and critical scientific review that13

he says he would normally do before expressing a14

scientific opinion.15

DR. RICK PAGE:   This is Rick Page.  Mr.16

Co-Chair, the -- my suggestion and in -- in the letter,17

as well, which I still stand by, is that I think a proper18

review requires a length of time and also collaboration19

with the original authors that developed those reports. 20

And that's the kind of review that I would still like to21

undertake if I have the opportunity to do that.  22

The draft technical report itself23

contained many conclusions but didn't necessarily contain24

the data and didn't contain the background reports that25
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those conclusions were drawn from.  And some of those1

reports we still haven't -- I still haven't seen, haven't2

been provided to us.  One of the critical things in many3

of the conclusions was based on satellite collar data and4

none of those data have been available to me yet.5

So I have been unable to do the kind of6

detailed scientific analysis I would have liked to have7

done in advance of this Hearing.8

MR. ARTHUR PAPE:   Arthur Pape.  Mr. Co-9

Chair, with respect, I don't think Dr. Page answered the10

question and I want him to confirm that he has not --11

he's given us some explanation or justification but I12

want him to confirm that he has still not done a thorough13

and critical scientific review of the type he would14

normally do before offering scientific opinions.15

MR. RICK PAGE:   This is Rick Page.  Mr.16

Co-Chair, yes, I haven't yet received the data required17

to do a scientific and -- and detailed review.18

MR. ARTHUR PAPE:   Arthur Pape.  Mr. Co-19

Chair, one (1) more followup question.  On the first page20

of Dr. Page's letter, he says that he has concerns about21

several aspects of ENR's approach including his concern22

about the hypothesis or the approach based on the concept23

that the Ahiak herd is a separate herd from the Bathurst24

herd.25
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But he goes on to say, in the second1

paragraph of his letter to this Board:2

"Therefore, the Bathurst herd has not3

declined and the proposed management4

actions are not justified."5

And the question I'd like Dr. Page to6

answer is whether he is purporting to reach those7

conclusions as a scientist.  And those are not qualified8

conclusions, those are definite conclusions.  He says:9

"The herd has not declined and the10

proposed management actions are not11

justified."12

And is he telling the Board that he puts13

those propositions to the Board even though he has not14

had a chance to do a thorough and critical scientific15

review?16

DR. RICK PAGE:   Rick Page again, Mr. Co-17

Chair.  Since I've arrived here and I've had some18

discussions with the ENR biologists, I think I and most19

other people have now agreed that there has been a20

decline of caribou in -- in this area.21

One of the conclusions though that I -- I22

had come to was that the -- the herd that is named the23

Ahiak and the herd that are -- is named the Bathurst24

contain animals that are offshoots of the same herd.25
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And so if the animals of the Ahiak were1

combined with the animals of the Bathurst, there may not2

have been a decline since we, at this point, apparently3

still do not know how many animals are in the Ahiak herd.4

Again this is areas of confusion that I'm5

confused about, that are scientific uncertainties that6

are confusing, I think, in terms of -- of drawing7

scientific conclusions that can be used to develop8

management recommendations.9

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you10

very much.  Let's move on to the Intervenors for their11

try at it and their expert witness.  Ms. Gunn, any12

questions from you?13

MS. ANNE GUNN:   Anne Gunn.  Mr. Co-Chair,14

yes, I have three (3) questions.  First of all, I'd just15

like to say how much I find myself in agreement with Rick16

that there is a need for perhaps the biologists to work17

together because I'm -- I'm surprised by your letter. 18

I'm surprised that you refer to the tenets of science,19

and you list them, but in your letter you don't follow on20

that because you provide no alternate hypothesis, no21

supporting evidence.  Your -- your citations are -- are -22

- sometimes are incorrect and I have an example.23

You -- you suggest that -- that we use24

meta-population and meta-population is just a super25
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population of the population, so it's just putting all1

the herds into one (1) group.  And first of all, you say2

that ARC recommended that.  They didn't.  They said it3

might, might be useful and they didn't follow up on that. 4

The paper you cite and you quote actually said that at5

the management -- for management it was recommended to6

use herds.  So you sort fly a kite and then -- but7

there's no substance to it.8

So I do have a -- a question about -- on9

the same lines:  Are you familiar with the Alaska Fish10

and Game census and inventory report series?11

DR. RICK PAGE:   I -- excuse me -- Rick12

Page again.  I haven't looked at those in quite a few13

years.14

DR. ANNE GUNN:   There are -- the reason I15

mention this is -- is two (2) points for the Board:  One16

(1) is that these are a series of annual reports,17

although they actually come out every two (2), three (3)18

years, but they have all the information on what work is19

-- what monitoring is being done with the herds and what20

management actions are being recommended.21

They're not part of the peer-reviewed22

literature which is -- which is what various people,23

various Intervenors have recommended, but they have the24

incredible advantage to -- to particularly co-management25
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boards, that they include all the information you need to1

-- to look at the government recommendations on2

decisions.3

If it was a peer-reviewed paper -- and by4

peer-reviewed I mean a journal, and the peer review is5

just simply two -- two (2) reviewers who look at it --6

it's unusual -- those journals do not include all the raw7

data like the actual counts, you know, the sex and age8

counts, it doesn't include the information that a co-9

management board would need.10

The degree of rigour provided by peer11

review has frequently been questioned by the journals12

themselves, like how well a system works.  The -- the13

government series of reports are also peer-reviewed14

usually because they are -- they are co-authored, there's15

more than one (1) author.  And usually your colleagues16

are your fiercest critics, is -- as I know to my cost17

since some of my co-authors are in this room.18

So I think there's a measure of -- of19

critique within either of the system of reports.  The20

advantage of -- of -- and I mention the Alaska Fish and21

Game Report to Rick -- is because Rick has questioned22

both the rate of decline, as being exceptional, and23

mortality, as being exceptional.24

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Excuse --25
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excuse me, Ms. Gunn.  Could you propose a question1

through me to -- 2

DR. ANNE GUNN:   Okay.  3

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   -- the4

proponents, please?  Thanks.5

DR. ANNE GUNN:   So, Rick, were you aware6

that there is -- there are reported rates -- rates -- 7

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Excuse me. 8

And address your questions to me -- 9

 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:   Yes.  10

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   -- to11

either of the Chairs?12

DR. ANNE GUNN:   Sorry.13

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you. 14

15

DR. ANNE GUNN:   Sorry.  I'm -- I'm just16

trying to go too quickly.17

Mr. Co-chair, there are -- from the Alaska18

Fish and Game Reports there are examples of both19

mortality, annual mortality and rates of decline that are20

very similar to what ENR is reporting for the Bathurst21

herd.  So my question to Rick was when he suggested that22

these rates were too high, was he aware of the Alaskan23

literature, the Fish and Game Annual Inventory Reports?24

DR. RICK PAGE:   This is Rick Page again. 25
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Mr. Co-Chair, this letter was -- and -- and the work was1

co-authored with Mr. Mark Fraker, and he actually had --2

has worked in Alaska, and -- and he was the one who3

provided the comments on the inventory methods and the4

review of the inventory reports.5

So though I'm familiar with -- with -- in6

general, with that literature and that information, it7

was really Mr. Fraker who, as I said, did those analyses,8

provided those comments. 9

However, he's not here and so I'll answer10

to the best of my ability.  And some of the mortality11

rates I recognize are anomalous, our data aren't very12

precise, and so morta -- mortality rates do vary from13

year to year.14

And you can have small samples sizes that15

indicate relatively large mortalities because of, again,16

the vagaries of science.  However, some of the17

mortalities that you would have to have in order to have18

the kind of decline we have seen through the survey data19

were -- were quite a surprise to us.20

So if you calculate, you know, where did21

all the caribou go type mortalities, those are the22

numbers we were referring to that, again, you know, may23

not be unprecedented based on other surveys but are24

somewhat surprising in terms of if there are these large25
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numbers of caribou disappearing, you know, what has1

killed them, what are the reasons for their loss, where2

are the carcasses which admittedly are difficult to find,3

what are those ancillary pieces of information, those4

extra pieces of information that we would -- that you5

would expect to have to have to make a decision that --6

that the number of caribou out there really is as low as7

it is.8

We also had been told that there was9

traditional information from the Elders that they were10

still seeing large numbers of caribou in many cases and11

weren't having increased difficulty in -- in finding12

caribou to hunt.13

So again, bits and pieces of information14

seem to be inconsistent with the idea of the mortalities15

that we -- mortality rates that were being proposed.16

However, I was, as I said, relatively far17

removed from the situation and was hurried in my -- in18

the preparation of this letter. 19

And it certainly is, as Ms. Gunn has said,20

as Dr. Gunn has said, was not up to my usual standards21

which I was only doing because I felt it was important22

that I was able to come here and offer whatever I could23

to the Board.24

I do intend to get together with Dr. Gunn25
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and Tom Bergerud who lives right down the road and after1

the Board Hearings are completed we'll have a chance to2

discuss some of these things that would have been3

wonderful to have  discussed ahead of time.4

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay. 5

Thank you.  Ms. Gunn...?6

DR. ANNE GUNN:   Anne Gunn.  Mr. Co-Chair7

I just have a couple of quick points.8

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   As long9

they're a question, Ma'am, that -- that would be great.10

DR. ANNE GUNN:   They're quick questions. 11

Karen, were you aware that the -- the demographic model12

was posted on the public registry quite a bit earlier in13

December?14

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   I was not aware.15

DR. ANNE GUNN:   Karen --16

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   If I can ask --17

sorry, ask, is that the -- the statistical model?18

DR. ANNE GUNN:   Yes.19

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   No, I was not.20

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay, Ms.21

Gunn, thank you.  We'll have to move on and let some of22

the other people have a turn.  23

John Andre, Shoshone Adventures...?  24

John Andre...?  No response.25
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Boyd Warner...?  Boyd Warner, Bathurst1

Inlet Developments...?  No response.2

Barry Taylor, Arctic Safaris...?  Barry3

Taylor..?  No response.4

Yellowknives Dene First Nation...? 5

Yellowknives Dene First Nation...?  Nothing.6

City of Yellowknife, Gordon Van Tighem,7

the Mayor...?  City of Yellowknife...?8

North Slave Metis Alliance, any questions? 9

 North Slave Metis Alliance...?  10

NWT Wildlife Federation, Martin Knutsan,11

any questions, sir?12

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   No questions, thank13

you.14

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you. 15

NWT Tourism...?  NWT Tourism, any questions?16

MS. JENNI BRUCE:   No questions, thank17

you.18

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you19

very much.  Peterson's Point Lake Lodge, any questions?20

MS. AMANDA PETERSON:   Yes, just one (1)21

question please.  Amanda Peterson.  Mr. Co-Chair, I heard22

comments about information and so my question would be: 23

Did the Intervenor receive all the information that they24

requested?  Thank you.25
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MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   No, the information1

that we were looking at, looking for, was information2

from the 1986 and 1996, information about the Ahiak herd3

and the Bathurst herd and some supporting documen --4

documentation and the collaring information for movement5

rates, et cetera.6

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay,7

thank you very much.  Bob Turner, David Livingstone...? 8

Bob Turner, David Livingstone...?  No response.9

Rabesca's Resources.  Joyce, do you have 10

questions?11

MS. JOYCE RABESCA:   Joyce Rabesca, no. 12

No questions, thank you.13

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay,14

thank you very much.  Anything from Board staff, Board15

counsel?16

MR. JOHN DONIHEE:   Thank you, Mr.17

Chairman.  John Donihee, Board counsel.  18

I think I'd like to start by asking about19

Part 3 of the presentation we just had, and it talks20

about the process and it -- it's a little unclear to me21

just what -- what it is that is being addressed here.  It22

says, "Review compromised."23

And we have further submissions by Ms.24

McMaster.  At the outset of the Hearing, the Board25
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offered an opportunity for any of the participants to1

raise any legal questions or issues that they might have. 2

And you were conspicuously silent at that point, Ms.3

McMaster.  And, you know, I'm working off your -- the4

PowerPoint presentation that you just made.5

The -- the comments you seem to be making,6

you know, in terms of ENR's urgency and ENR's use of7

public resources and so on, lack of independence by us,8

ENR focussed reports and so on, I mean, they all -- they9

all seemed aimed at one of the other parties.  And I just10

want to know, I guess, whether you're trying now, you11

know, in a sort of a backhanded way to bring up concerns12

that you didn't raise on the first day of the Hearing?13

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Thank you.  Karen14

McMaster here.  I have raised these issues in previous15

letters and they're on the public registry.16

I have spoken about, I believe, lack --17

use of public resources that Intervenors are not funded18

for this Hearing, and that governments, there are two (2)19

governments that have put forward a proposal and they20

have teams of consultants available to them.21

And they are using public resources for22

this joint proposal and I have indicated in the past that23

the information was not contained in the joint proposal,24

and I think it's quite evident when there was clarity put25
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forward by the proponents just this past week after our1

submissions were in and after our presentations were in.2

The proponents' positions were not clear3

until very, very recently.  There's been an ongoing,4

ongoing provision of information.  To me, it appears that5

the original proposal was not supported and that that6

support should have been provided at the outset.  7

So I have spoken about this.  I have8

spoken about the disclosure all the way along.  I have9

spoken about transparency and I have raised these issues10

in -- in correspondence that's on the registry.11

MR. JOHN DONIHEE:   Thank you, Mr.12

Chairman.  John Donihee.  13

You know, the Board doesn't provide14

Intervenor funding.  I'm wondering whether you actually15

approached ENR to seek assistance from them in any way in16

order to assist you in your analysis of the -- of the17

materials on the record?18

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   I did not.  And the19

reason is, is that I'm an individual and I just -- it was20

never offered to any of the Intervenors in this Hearing.21

It's never been put out to any of the22

larger Intervenors, including the families that are being23

destroyed by this joint proposal.24

And as an individual I -- I did not.  And25
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personally I thought if there was funding available, it1

should go to those families.2

MR. JOHN DONIHEE:   Thank you, Mr.3

Chairman, John Donihee.  4

So you're criticizing ENR for not giving5

you something that you didn't ask for, is that right?6

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   It was never7

available.  I think the issue is, sir, that these are big8

governments and they're well funded.9

MR. JOHN DONIHEE:   Thank you, sir.  John10

Donihee again.  I'd like to move on to some of the -- the11

points you've made about the Tlicho Land Claim Agreement12

in your submission.13

And in -- you made reference to the Rio14

Declaration which you never filed in this proceeding. 15

But I -- I don't think that is particularly pertinent16

because I -- I suspect you're well aware of the17

provisions of 12.1.5 of the Tlicho Agreement, and in18

particular paragraph (c) that essentially talks about19

what the Board's required to do in making a decision in20

respect of best information and -- and, you know, making21

decisions without complete information when there are22

threats of irreparable damage.23

So I guess, is it fair for me to assume24

that, given that there's at least four (4) or five (5)25
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pages of your PowerPoint presentation that address the1

Tlicho Agreement and points about it, that you actually2

read chapter 12 of the agreement?3

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   I have read it.4

MR. JOHN DONIHEE:   And then I'd like to5

ask about -- in particular about section 12.6.5 of the6

Agreement, which talks about the order of priorities for7

harvesting when -- when there actually is a surplus of8

wildlife available.  9

Are you familiar with that particular10

section?11

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   I am.12

MR. JOHN DONIHEE:   And so you're aware13

then that the Board is bound by the -- by the agreement,14

and that if, in fact, harvest restrictions have to take15

place, that they're going to be a predetermined order in16

which classes of harvesters will be eliminated from the17

opportunity to harvest.  Is that fair?18

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   No, I do not.  I do19

not believe that there's a predetermined order in that20

sense.  I believe there's priority and that the priority21

is to be given, and that priority can be created in many22

ways.23

MR. JOHN DONIHEE:   Thank you, Mr.24

Chairman.25
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I don't want to have a debate about words. 1

I think we're saying the same thing.  I'm just saying2

that there is an order, and that, you know, non-3

commercial harvesting is favoured or -- or will be4

granted the right to harvest over those who are5

commercial harvesters, and then, in respect of non-6

commercial harvesting, there -- there's a particular7

order in which the -- the right to harvest will be8

affected if the -- if the decline is -- is sufficiently9

severe.  10

Is that -- is that your understanding of11

that section?12

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   I'd ask Dr. Rick13

Page to respond to this.14

DR. RICK PAGE:   This is Rick Page15

speaking.16

Mr. Co-Chair, one of the other areas that17

I've worked in extensively is First Nations negotiations,18

and I was one of the negotiators on the Tsawwassen First19

Nation agreement that was successfully concluded a couple20

of years ago in British Columbia.21

Not surprising to anyone who understands22

the First Nations of BC, the allocation of salmon is a23

substantial issue of controversy and -- and continued24

contention, and of -- of course, there are levels of25
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priority.1

What is necessary in these kind of things2

is to ensure that the resource is shared equitably, and3

that doesn't require any particular user of the resource4

to get no allocation, except in extreme, dire5

circumstances.  So in the vast majority of cases, we have6

always made an effort to continue to share.  First7

Nations, particularly for ceremonial purposes, have8

achieved the -- you know, the -- the final allocation. 9

If there are any fish available for harvest, ceremonial10

purposes for First Nations always have the ultimate11

priority.  But all harvesters still continue to get a --12

a share of the resource.  The only question is how much.13

MR. JOHN DONIHEE:   Thank you, Mr.14

Chairman.15

Dr. Page, have you read section 12.6.5 of16

the Tlicho Agreement?17

DR. RICK PAGE:   No, I haven't.18

MR. JOHN DONIHEE:   Thanks.19

Those are my questions, Mr. Chairman.20

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you,21

Mr. Donihee.22

Any staff?23

MS. JODI SNORTLAND:   Good morning.  Jodi24

Snortland, executive director.  I just have one (1)25
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question for Ms. McMaster.1

You answered Amanda Peterson's question2

listing a certain set of documents that you had3

requested.  Were those requested through the WRRB4

process?5

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Those were requested6

as part of consultation meetings held with ENR.7

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay. 8

Thank you very much.9

Board -- Board members.  Charlie Rabesca,10

do you have any questions?11

MR. CHARLIE RABESCA:   Thank you, Co-12

Chair.  No questions.  Thank you.13

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Mr. Judas,14

do you have any questions?15

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   No16

questions.17

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you. 18

Mr. MacDonald...?19

MR. BRUCE MACDONALD:   Thank you, Mr. Co-20

Chair.  I do have a few questions.21

Perhaps, first, a point in clarification. 22

Ms. McMaster, in your presentation, one (1) of the23

comments you made was:24

"The decline was more of a25
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statistically- driven decline."1

I don't want to put words in your mouth so2

I'm seeking clarification of what exactly you meant by3

that.  So do you mean that the decline is significant4

statistically or that it was based only on statistics?5

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   No, I meant it was6

only based on statistics.  And I'll -- 7

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Your name,8

please?9

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Oh, I'm sorry, Karen10

McMaster.  That it was based on statistics and I -- I11

note, if you read the ARC report, there is a reference to12

a 5 percent decline, and ARC had recommended to ENR that13

they tell the public that this is a statistical decline14

of 5 percent per year, but caribou herds don't decline on15

a biological basis 5 percent per year.16

MR. BRUCE MACDONALD:   Thank you.  Thank17

you, Mr. Co-Chair.  It's Bruce MacDonald, Board member.18

You also mention that you were speaking19

with a Yukon biologist who had been working in the Yukon20

for a number of years and that he said if a -- a decline21

of -- if bulls were to reach the -- the 10 percent level22

he'd be concerned, or she'd be concerned or worried, I23

think, was the word you used, but that 20 percent would24

be fine.  I may be -- I may be off on my numbers but I25
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think that's what you said.1

The question of clarification was -- was: 2

Were these woodland caribou or barren-ground caribou he3

or she was referring to?  And perhaps Dr. Page can help4

me out with this.  Is -- if it's woodland caribou would5

there be a difference for barren-ground caribou?6

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Karen McMaster.  I7

asked him in the context of the Bathurst herd, the NWT8

herd, and he said 10 percent.  He is a Porcupine --9

worked on the Porcupine herd in the Yukon for years.  But10

I did ask him in the context.  I was canvassing, I was --11

at the time, it was before Dr. Page, and I was -- was12

trying to understand the situation.  So I explained the13

situation here and it was in that -- that context.14

DR. RICK PAGE:   Rick Page again. 15

Actually, it's turning out, without getting too much into16

the science, it's -- it's turning out that some of the17

genetics of -- of caribou are much more complicated than18

we thought.  And some of the woodland caribou in19

southeastern BC have a substantial proportion of barren-20

ground caribou genes in them.  21

The only reason I mention that is that the22

behaviour patterns of caribou tend to be quite similar,23

whether they're caribou in North America or reindeer in -24

- in Europe.  But what they do do is respond to the25
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environment they're in, so that barren-ground caribou,1

because of the openness of their habitat, have the2

opportunity to aggregate in very large groups of animals,3

and in a situation like that skewed sex ratios towards4

bulls have less influence than they would in smaller5

groups of woodland caribou, where it's more difficult for6

a -- you know, a single large male to breed small numbers7

of females.8

So -- so though -- so the difference9

between whether information comes from barren-ground or10

woodland caribou seems to be important, it's more11

important because of the habitat they occupy.12

MR. BRUCE MACDONALD:   Thank you, Mr. Co-13

Chair.  Bruce MacDonald, Board member.14

You also said, Ms. McMaster, that we were15

to -- the Board should look at creative and reasonable16

solutions.  And I'm just wondering if you had any17

suggestions that the Board could consider that you would18

say are creative and reasonable?19

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   I think the20

suggestion -- Karen McMaster -- I think one (1) of the21

suggestions that has come forward is a potential bull22

harvest for everyone.  And I -- I recognize that there's23

incredible difficulty for Elders to travel and to obtain24

the food that they require, and -- and that they have25
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interests in -- in perhaps some of the -- the cows, as1

well.  And, you know, I -- I do believe that, you know,2

if the numbers are at thirty-two thousand (32,000), that3

we really need to stop hunting the cows and especially4

the pregnant cows.5

I understand the situation that the Elders6

are in and I -- I feel very much for them because they7

have lived a incredible traditional life, and with8

respect to the younger generation I think it's quite9

apparent that a few people are living completely on10

subsistence hunting at this point in time in our11

generation for the younger population.  I think the12

Elders are in a bit of a different situation.13

So I would think some consideration should14

be given to them that's -- that's a little bit different15

from the younger generation of the First Nation16

community. 17

There's been a suggestion in the past, and18

I believe it was put forward to the Minister of the19

Environment, that outfitters maybe provide all the meat20

or as much of the meat as they can to community members. 21

And I think we've heard at this Hearing that that has22

taken place.  I think there's been even an offer to the -23

- the Minister that, from one (1) outfitter I believe,24

that the outfitter was willing to provide in addition to25
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the food, two hundred (200) or three hundred dollars1

($300) monetary contribution for the community member to2

buy other food.  And I thought this was very honourable3

and very -- a good solution to providing that meat.  4

I think there's from a management5

perspective, we could all sit down and -- and work out6

some strategic planning for this.  I -- I think those7

strategic plans were absent from the joint proposal.  And8

I think with time we -- we could come forward with very9

creative solutions.10

DR. RICK PAGE:   And this is Rick Page. 11

If I can speak briefly.  Anyway, time is ticking on here. 12

So I -- I also think that there's a solution and I think13

that part of the achievement of that solution comes14

through the process.15

And as I suggested, I think a consensus16

based process of initially biologists looking at -- at17

the data to try to identify some opportunities and also18

agree that there should be some level of harvest of bulls19

that is still feasible, even if the numbers from ENR are20

-- are accurate.21

However, I don't think that virtually any22

harvest is sustainable.  It should not be assumed to be23

sustainable.  Every time you harvest, you must collect24

information on that harvest, on the impacts that harvest25
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has on the population to -- to identify whether it is1

correct or not.2

And I think that adaptive management3

approach that Dr. Gunn suggested is the appropriate way4

to go so that at the time the harvest is determined it's5

also determined what information must be collected, what6

information must be shared with the community and what7

information will determine that the harvest is either too8

high or too low and that would be prudent solution.9

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Karen McMaster.  May10

I just add and one (1) further thought for you.  I think11

one (1) thing that may be constructive and I had hoped to12

see in a management proposal was that we have a -- we13

basically have a goal identified.14

We need that goal of what is a healthy15

herd, what are the numbers, what's the goal so that you16

can monitor it over time.17

I would think a management plan would have18

the goal and then management actions as to the -- and I -19

- I go back to when I was a kid where, you know, you20

learn the who, what, where, when, why.21

So you take those components in the22

context of that management plan and then you have a23

monitoring system to see if you are reaching that goal.24

And at this point, there's no goal25
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identified as to how hunting would be restored for1

everyone.  There's no mechanism to make that decision. 2

It's completely absent in this proposal.  And so I would3

suggest that if everyone could sit down and say what's4

our goal that we're getting to, then we can identify the5

management actions that are necessary to get there and6

the monitoring plans that are necessary to review if7

we've gotten there.8

Otherwise it's just all in limbo for the9

next ten (10) years and that doesn't serve anyone very10

well.11

MR. BRUCE MACDONALD:   Thank you, Mr. Co-12

Chair.  One (1) final question.  So initially your13

letter, Dr. Page, had said, the second paragraph, first14

page:15

 "Therefore, the Bathurst herd has not16

declined and the proposed management17

actions are not justified."18

You said you have since learned since19

you've been here, that -- again not trying to put words20

in your mouth, I think it was that you -- you agreed21

there's been a decline?  Is that fair to say?22

DR. RICK PAGE:   Rick Page.  Yes, I agree23

there has been a decline.24

MR. BRUCE MACDONALD:   Thank you.  Okay,25
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Mr. Co-Chair.  Then based on that and I think I've also1

heard you and Ms. McMaster now say that you're -- you2

might be suggesting a bull-only harvest, if that's the3

case, in your professional opinion then could you give4

the Board some guidance as to, if that is the case, what5

you think would be a total allowable harvest you would6

estimate as sustainable for those -- for that bull-only7

harvest?8

DR. RICK PAGE:   Rick Page speaking. 9

Thank you, Mr. Co-Chair.  I -- at this point I'd be10

hesitant to advance a specific number.  11

As I'm made aware I have seen all the12

information and I think -- and I don't think even if I13

had, I'm not sure how useful that would be.14

I think the best way to provide that is as15

I mentioned before, is through a consensus process where16

-- if possible.  And I believe that is -- and I'm new to17

this territory, but I believe it's consistent with the18

Tlicho principle of -- of speaking together, sharing19

information and making a decision in a process like that.20

I -- I'm here as a -- with some expertise21

and some scientific information but I don't think my22

number has any more validity, necessarily, than anyone23

else's.24

So I don't have a specific number without25
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looking at the -- at the information in detail but I1

could actually attempt to calculate one (1) if I had2

sufficient information provided to me.3

MR. BRUCE MACDONALD:   Thank you, Mr. Co-4

Chair.  That's the end of my questions.  Sorry, that was5

Bruce MacDonald.6

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Co-Chair7

here.  Mr. Case, do you have any questions, sir?8

MR. RAY CASE:   Thank you, Mr. Co-Chair. 9

Ray Case, Board member.  One (1) of the advantages of10

going last is everybody else gets to ask your questions11

for you, so, no, I have no questions.12

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay,13

that's great.  Thank you very much everybody for your14

participation in this,  Ms. McMaster, Dr. Page.  And15

we'll take a fifteen (15) minute break and then be back16

with our next presenter who is NWT Wildlife Federation.17

18

--- Upon recessing at 10:22 a.m.19

--- Upon resuming at 10:38 a.m.20

21

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Ladies and22

gentlemen, welcome back.  We're coming to order right23

now.  The next presentation -- it's Co-Chair Grant.  24

The next presentation will be by the NWT25
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Wildlife Federation, Martin Knutsan.  He will be sitting1

over at his table there and giving us his presentation2

from there.  We'll follow that with a fifteen (15) minute3

question period and, depending on the time we have left,4

we may ask NWT Tourism to give their presentation before5

lunch and then a question period after lunch, depending6

how the schedule goes.  7

All right, thank you.  Mr. Knutsan...? 8

9

PRESENTATION BY NWT WILDLIFE FEDERATION:10

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   Thank you, Mr.11

Chairman.  It's Martin Knutsan, NWT Wildlife Federation. 12

I'd like to thank the Board for the opportunity to13

present here today. 14

The NWT Wildlife Federation represents15

approximately six hundred and fifty (650) resident16

hunters of the NWT.  The Federation has been active in17

the NWT for the past twenty-eight (28) years and has18

provided in -- input into the Species at Risk -- Risk19

Act, as well as a proposed new Wildlife Act.20

The NWT Wildlife Federation is the21

regional arm of the Canadian Wildlife Federation, a22

national body representing provincial and territorial23

fish and game associations from across Canada.  The NWT24

Wildlife Federation supports wildlife management based on25
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sound -- sorry about that.  The NWT Wildlife Federation1

supports wildlife management based on sound proven2

scientific-backed management practices.3

As residents of the NWT, the members of4

the Federation have a vested interest in the Chamber of5

Commerce, City of Yellowknife, Chamber of Mines,6

outfitters, tourism association, private corporation and7

individuals intervening in this important decision.  8

Given the restricted time allotment, I9

feel it is not prudent to repeat what has been said by10

others.  What I would like to do is state a few of the11

facts as I see them in this situation and review some of12

the comments that have been put forward by ARC that have13

not come to light.14

In reviewing some of the comments by ARC,15

I would like to remind the -- the Board that I had asked16

their professional witness, Anne Gunn, in her proposal17

whether she had reviewed the ARC process and -- or the18

ARC proposal, and she said that she had, and that she19

also agreed with the findings.20

So the following are some of the excerpts. 21

I'm not reading the whole ARC report, as it is quite22

lengthy, but just some excerpts that have come out of it:23

"However, segregation of movement24

between herds can be only inferred in25
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some cases, and this affects the1

certainty of conclusions based on2

existing data.  Numbers of collared3

caribou should be increased in the4

Bluenose herd for demographic5

estimation.  Collars should be6

increased severalfold in the Bathurst7

and eastern herds.  A more modern,8

statistical assessment of caribou herd9

population dynamics across the NWT is10

recommended.  Irregular survey11

frequency and methodology across herds12

hampers population comparisons across13

space and time.  Much greater14

collection of data is required on adult15

male and female mortality, calf16

mortality and birth rates, and should17

be incorporated into population models18

to validate population estimates from19

surveys."20

And there's a number of things that ARC21

has recommended to ENR, so I -- I see in these recomme --22

recommendations, if they are being recommended.  It's23

obvious that these are things that are not being done: 24

increase the collaring efforts; create a standardized,25



Page 64

regularly scheduled monitoring program to improve long-1

term planning and reporting on caribou research; increase2

focus on obtaining demographic data on caribou herds;3

incorporate population modelling into caribou management4

programs; provide internal or external peer reviews for5

all survey reports; publicly report survey and research6

results immediately and transparently; develop a7

territory-wide, consistent and strategic approach to8

ENR's caribou research program with centralized co-9

ordination; formulate caribou management decisions within10

an adaptive management framework; and form partnerships11

to increase resources dedicated to caribou research.12

So it -- it seems to me that there's been13

a lot of things missing in -- in ENR's approach to the14

caribou.15

In the report, it states that:16

"Fraker concluded that mathematical17

errors in ENR reports could contribute18

to erroneous interpretation of the19

evidence for a caribou decline in the20

NWT.  Conclusions about population21

movement are based on one (1) to three22

(3) individuals in ten thousand23

(10,000).  Small sample sizes make24

estimates of any measured parameter25
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much less reliable.  Movement rates,1

fidelity, birth and survival rates for2

the entire population are being based3

on sample sizes that are far too low to4

reliably infer to the greater5

population.  Sample sizes are further6

decreased by mortality, collar failure7

and unknown herd affiliation prior to8

collaring."9

And that was, I believe, from Anne Gunn, 2008.10

"Collar sample sizes leave the results11

of studies that depend on collars open12

to scientific and statistical scrutiny13

and lessen the credibility of14

conclusions based on this data.  Some15

sampling techniques used for selecting16

individual females for collaring may17

bias evidence of calving ground18

fidelity.  Collars are typically19

deployed on winter ranges, away from20

the calving grounds.  The subsequent21

calving destination of these collared22

females serves as the basis for their23

herd affiliation.  Repeated returns to24

that same calving ground in ENR's25
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evidence for calving ground fidelity,1

we suggest that these data may be2

rendered somewhat equivocal by3

experimental design problems. 4

Classification surveys are conducted in5

the fall and winter and, in our6

experience, can be very difficult to7

undertake.  Survival rates based on8

these surveys are likewise difficult to9

reliably -- to reliably estimate.  NWT10

deals with this difficult by estimating11

survival as the change in the relative12

number of calves per cow.  This13

estimation is the best available given14

the limited data.  However, this15

estimation -- estimation assumes that16

the change in cow survival is also17

known, but it is not, it is assumed18

without empirical data.  Therefore, the19

calf survival estimates based on this20

change in cow survival are likewise21

assumed.  The lack of reliable22

demographic data makes these estimates23

scientifically debatable and ENR is24

aware of their shortcomings.  This lack25
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of mortality, fiduciary, and1

recruitment data for NWT herds hampers2

ENR's ability to conduct the rigorous3

population modelling key to a caribou4

management program.  Combined with a5

lack of birth, immigration and6

emigration data the end result is that7

ENR has had to make population and8

trend estimates based on incomplete9

information.  The lack of mortality and10

fecundity and recruitment data for the11

NWT herds hampers ENR ability to12

conduct the rigorous population model13

key to a caribou management program. 14

Combined with a lack of birth,15

immigration and emigration data the end16

result is that ENR has had to make17

population and trend estimates based on18

incomplete information.  ENR's19

description of this 5 percent decline20

tends to suggest a steady decline in21

caribou numbers through time. 22

Populations do not decline in this23

manner, but rather in step pulses.  The24

appearance of a steady decline is an25
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artifact of linear regression and has1

no biological significance.  The2

Bathurst is an extreme case where the3

population peak is quite large and the4

negative slope of the decline quite5

steep when measured from the pop --6

that population peak.  However, the7

population appears to be returning to8

early 1980 estimates, though it should9

be noted hasn't -- it should be noted10

has shown no evidence of remaining11

stable at the 1980 numbers.  Caribou12

population cycling is an important13

issue and the ENR should be transparent14

in couching the latest decline in the15

historical context of population16

cycles.  We suggest that a number of17

factors have combined to make some18

evidence ambiguous.  The ambiguity in19

NWT data stems from a lack of strategic20

territory wide management of multiple21

overlapping herds in the absence of22

robust data.  Herd delineation is23

problematic.  The identification of new24

herds based on new information makes25
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determining the relative contribution1

of these individuals to past surveys2

difficult.  The plasticity of collaring3

data makes questions of herd identity,4

herd fidelity, and inter-herd movement5

extremely difficult to answer. 6

Likewise, a paucity of demographic data7

renders assumptions inherent in survey8

estimates difficult to test." 9

So these are just a few of the comments10

that has been put forward by ARC relative to some of11

ENR's work.  And I think that the last comment I -- I12

have here from ARC is: 13

"Location data from collars are14

integral to any caribou management15

program.  The sample size of collars16

currently employed by ENR are17

inadequate to provide empirical18

evidence strong enough to support many19

assumptions key to ENR's caribou20

management policies." 21

So again, this -- this is from the22

independent peer review of ARC.  And yesterday ARC23

presented who they are, obviously a well known, large24

institution in Alberta that spec -- specializes in -- in25
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peer review in this science.  1

I'd also like to just go through some of2

the facts as I see them and that have been presented3

here.4

People have said that caribou populations5

fluctuate on an estimated thirty (30) year cycle, and6

some people have said we're at the low.  I see little7

information to support that.8

Harvesting of bull caribou has little9

effect on future herd size.  A fact:  The harvesting of10

fifty-three (53) bull caribou by resident hunters has no11

impact on future caribou herd size.12

A fact:  There is no mention of Ahiak herd13

or Queen Maud herd prior to 1996.  These caribou were14

collectively called the Bathurst caribou herd until that15

time.  ENR has changed the name of the herds and has not16

reallocated the populations accordingly.17

Previous ENR biologist Anne Gunn in my18

estimation has had a bias against hunting and development19

in the north, as can be seen in her testimony in the20

North Arrow case, participating in Mining Watch, et21

cetera.22

Fact:  The harvesting of female caribou23

has a direct impact on future herd size.  The harvesting24

of pregnant female caribou has a very serious impact on25
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future herd size.1

The NWT is the only region I know of in2

Canada that does not have a harvest management plan.3

A fact that ENR has not provided4

information that was requested by intervenors to5

substantiate the number of caribou in the Bathurst herd,6

we've heard this from a number of sources in the last few7

days.8

According to the Alberta Research Council,9

ENR has not performed good science in the monitoring and10

counting of caribou.11

And I think I'd like to state that I don't12

mean this to reflect on the individuals of ENR, but it's13

-- it's the government and the - the funds that have been14

put forward and the -- and the government, and this is15

not to reflect on -- on the individuals at all.16

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Excuse me,17

sir.  Does that mean that also Ms. -- Ms. Gunn -- you've18

indicated that Ms. Gunn was biased.  Does that same19

qualification apply to her as well?  You just mentioned20

GNWT and ENR.21

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   I -- I'm not sure if22

I quite understand the question.23

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Well,24

because you had mentioned earlier that -- in an earlier25
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statement, and I should have stopped you earlier, is we -1

- we want to deal with the issue, not dealing with2

individuals and any bias that you feel they may have as3

individuals, but deal with the issue of the -- the4

management actions 1 to 5, and if there's errors in the5

report, please indicate that, or if the reports are6

incorrect, please indicate that but --7

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   Okay.  I do8

apologize then.  I would retract that statement of Anne9

Gunn being biased.  Thank you.10

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you,11

sir.  Continue.12

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   It's a fact that the13

current decisions that are mean -- are being made on14

caribou management are based on poor science, the fact15

that many biologists and other stakeholders question the16

validity of the ENR reports and conclusions, the fact17

that the current population and reported decline of the18

Bathurst herd is -- is not substantiated by sound,19

scientific data.20

And I think, to expand on that a bit, that21

we have not come to a -- a reason or conclusion as to22

where these animals have gone or what has led to the23

purported decline.24

And lastly, the cutting out of resident25
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hunters or -- to stabilize or increase a herd population1

is not reasonable and is not necessary, given the harvest2

rate of the resident hunter.3

I'd say the above facts must be considered4

in the decision-making process.  The fact that resident5

hunters take less than a hundred (100) bull caribou and6

that this does not have any impact on the herd leads us7

to believe that restricting the resident hunter is purely8

a political move and has no basis on science or the9

future well-being of the caribou.10

And I think, in concluding, I'd like to11

suggest some of the following:  that the past data is12

reviewed by independent experts with no ties to ENR, or13

at least in conjunction with ENR; that new monitoring14

takes place immediately by ENR in conjunction with15

independent sources, and that the ENR and the government16

of the NWT, or governments, put more resources into the17

caribou science; that a five (5) year management plan is18

put in place with input from all Intervenors.19

I'd also like to add that I'm hoping the20

Board, as they review the presentations put forward, will21

come to the conclusion that I have, that there is --22

there is serious doubt in my mind about the drop in23

population of these caribou, and that there has not been24

a -- a scientific explanation as to how or why this has25
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occurred, and that, with that doubt, if that doubt does1

exist, that we should review what the action plan has2

been to date, which is the -- the total elimination of3

harvest, and that we may look at, as some have suggested,4

a limited bull harvest going forward until such time as5

good science and planning can give us a -- you know, a6

proper five (5) year harvest management plan for these7

animals.8

And with that, I'd like to thank you,9

everyone, for the opportunity to present here today.10

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you11

very much.12

Could we, as the Board, on the matter of13

copies of those speaking notes you referred to, you were14

reading from earlier -- I don't believe -- I don't15

believe we have those.16

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   No.  I did add to17

the presentation, but I'd be happy to put that forward to18

you.19

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay.  Can20

you provide -- speak with our executive director about21

providing them --22

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   Yes, I will.23

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   -- for the24

Board?25
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MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   I will.1

2

--- UNDERTAKING NO. 5: For NWT Wildlife to provide a3

copy of their revised4

speaking notes.5

6

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Do we need7

to -- do we need to set a particular time and date, or8

can you work that out before the hearing ends?  Okay. 9

Thank you very much.  My apologies again.  It was Co-10

Chair Grant speaking.11

All right.  Let's start off with a series12

of questions from the parties that were registered, and13

we'll start off with ENR.14

15

QUESTION PERIOD:16

MR. LARRY ROY:   Larry Roy from Alberta17

Research Council.  We have two (2) questions, one (1)18

from myself and one (1) from John Boulanger.19

The first question I'd like to preface20

with a  -- a comment as part of the question.  One (1) is21

that working with caribou over very, very large areas is22

very, very difficult.  It costs a lot of money, and we're23

dealing with a species that -- that moves around a lot. 24

So the expectation that the -- the science is -- is -- is25
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perfect is not there.  So as biologists, do the best they1

can with -- with the situation.2

The question I have for you is:  In the3

ARC report, is there anywhere that it says that the4

populations were not declining?5

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   No, I did not read6

that.  Excuse me.  I did not read that anywhere in the7

report.8

MR. LARRY ROY:   Thank you.9

MR. JOHN BOULANGER:   John Boulanger,10

statistician, ENR.11

I just -- a lot of your -- I'll -- I'll12

get quickly to my question, but a lot of your comments or13

your -- your conclusions were based on inadequate sample14

sizes of collars and -- and also some of the issues with15

the calf/cow ratios and -- and how that made it hard to16

determine any type of decline.17

And similar to my previous question, are18

you aware of, again, the modelling that we did, using a19

model that's been developed for ungulate populations20

throughout the world that basically deals with the fact21

rarely as managers do we have complete data to manage a22

herd, and this model tries to consider all data sources23

simultaneously, everything that we have, therefore24

circumventing both sample sizes in any particular one of25
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the data sources, as well as it explicitly models some of1

the issues you were talking about with adult survival,2

calf survival and fecundity all being interrelated in the3

calf/cow ratios?  That was put in the technical report as4

posted on the registry in December.5

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   The presentation6

that I've just put -- put forward has drawn information7

from ARC and some facts as I saw them in the -- the8

presentations that have come forward.  So I'm not sure9

how your question relates to what I have put forward10

here.11

MR. JOHN BOULANGER:   Well, the main point12

is that -- is that this -- the ARC report is one (1)13

contributing piece of information for this hearing14

process.  However, ENR did put forward, since that ARC15

report, a -- a lot of documentation that has shown that16

our methodology is evolving partially in response to that17

ARC report.18

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   I understand from19

your presentations that you have -- have changed some of20

your methodology and I -- and I commend you on that, but21

I haven't commented on the reports that you're referring22

to.23

MR. JOHN BOULANGER:   Okay.  Well, the24

main -- the main point to be made here is that -- is that25
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methodologies have evolved, they continue to evolve,1

that's how we work as scientists, and -- and that our2

methodologies, I think, circumvent many of the issues3

that were brought up in that ARC report.4

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   I'm glad to hear5

that.6

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay,7

thank you very much.  Any other questions from ENR?8

MR. JAN ADAMCZEWSKI:   Jan Adamczewski for9

ENR.  A question to Martin.  Are you familiar with Ab --10

Aboriginal concerns about radio collaring?11

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   Yes, I am.  12

MR. JAN ADAMCZEWSKI:   I guess, more of a13

-- perhaps, a comment, but -- 14

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   I think --15

MR. JAN ADAMCZEWSKI:   No?16

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   -- if you17

have a question, please ask it.18

MR. JAN ADAMCZEWSKI:   Okay.  I'll stop19

there.20

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay,21

that's it for ENR?22

MR. BRUNO CROFT:   A quick one, Mr.23

Chairman.  Just a followup to Jan here, to Mr. Knutsan. 24

I'm Bruno Croft.25
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How would you suggest we -- we deal with1

the Aboriginal concern, the Elders, on the number of2

collars to put on, out on -- on -- on caribou, if you're3

not happy with the number of collars we have right now,4

and if you consider that we should have more?5

MR. MARTIN KNUTSON:   I would suggest that6

there -- that consultation must take place and that if7

good science is to prevail, and I've heard that, from8

Tlicho speakers, that the -- the numbers are very9

important to them, as to what the numbers of caribou are,10

and that, you know, there -- there will have to be some11

discussion along these lines, and that, if they feel it12

is important to have good science and proper herd13

numbers, they may elect to see more collars.  But that is14

something that you would have to take up with them15

directly.16

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay,17

thank you very much.  Tlicho Government, your turn. 18

Thank you.  19

MS. JEAN TEILLET:   Jean Teillet for the20

Tlicho Government.  We have no questions.21

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you22

very much.  Ms. Gunn...?23

DR. ANNE GUNN:   Anne Gunn.  Mr. Co-Chair,24

I have a couple of questions.25
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Martin, much of your intervention was1

reading from the ARC -- from the ARC report, and you2

quoted extensively from the report.  My -- I guess my3

question is, is:  4

Did ARC reject the decline of the Bathurst5

herd?6

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   No, I believe I just7

answered that, Anne, for ENR, that they are saying that8

the Bathurst herd has been in decline.9

DR. ANNE GUNN:   Thank you.  My second10

question is:  Were you aware that the Yellowknife Dene11

hired me, based on my knowledge and experience, to help12

them in the Northern Arrow case?13

MR. MARTIN KNUTSON:   I was not aware of14

who hired you, Anne.15

DR. ANNE GUNN:   The reason I -- I point16

that out is that if I have a bias, it's towards using17

what I've learned from working with people and I want to18

use my knowledge and experience to help people and19

caribou.  So thank you.20

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you,21

Ms. Gunn.  John Andre for Shoshone Wilderness22

Adventures...?  John Andre...?  No response.23

Boyd Warner, Bathurst Inlet24

Developments...?  Not here.25
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Barry Taylor, Arctic Safaris...?  Not1

here.2

Yellowknives Dene First Nation...?  Mr.3

Slack...?4

MR. TODD SLACK:   Thank you, Mr. Co-Chair. 5

One (1) question:  Has the NWT Wildlife Federation ever6

met with Tlicho, Yellowknives or the Lutsel K'e Elders to7

try and understand the community perspective with regards8

to collars?9

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   We have never been10

invited to.  We have had consultation with ENR in the11

past regarding Species at Risk, the new wildlife act that12

was being proposed, but we have not been invited to meet13

with you, but we would welcome the opportunity.14

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay. 15

Thank you very much.16

City of Yellowknife, Gordon Van Tighem...? 17

City of Yellowknife...? 18

Karen McMaster...?19

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Thank you.  I do20

have a couple of questions.21

And just with respect to this -- this22

modelling, I understand, Mr. Knutsan, that your23

consultations with ENR took place in early December, and24

we've seen over the last few days that many of the25
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questions related to the model within ENR had to be1

answered by the author of the model.2

Was this author present during your3

consultations?  And was this model presented by ENR4

during those presentations in December?5

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   No.  No, he was not,6

and I have not seen the model.7

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   My second question8

is with respect to partnership development.  The ARC9

report recommended partnership development, and we've10

heard that ENR is working closely with universities.11

Do you believe that ENR has been working12

closely with the key stakeholders in the NWT?13

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   I -- I do not.  We14

had been overlooked as the NWT Wildlife Federation in15

their review process, and it wasn't till quite far into16

the process that we were consulted at -- at the last17

minute.18

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Excuse me. 19

Can you give your names before you speak again?  Thank20

you.  It's Co-Chair Grant, by the way.21

Any more questions, Ms. McMaster?22

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   No.  That's fine,23

thank you.24

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay. 25
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Thank you.1

NWT Tourism, any questions?2

MS. JENNI BRUCE:   Jenni Bruce.  No3

questions.4

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you. 5

Peterson's Point Lake Lodge...?6

MS. AMANDA PETERSON:   Amanda Peterson. 7

No questions.8

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you.9

Rabesca's Resources...?10

MS. JOYCE RABESCA:   Joyce Rabesca.  No11

questions.12

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you.13

Legal counsel, Board staff...?14

MR. JOHN DONIHEE:   Thank you, Mr.15

Chairman.  John Donihee.16

Perhaps just one (1) question.  Mr.17

Knutsan, in your written presentation to the Board, on18

page 3, you make some comments about the minister of ENR19

shutting down mines.  20

I guess I'm wondering whether you're21

familiar with, you know, the minister's roles and whether22

you really know who it is that's responsible for mining23

development approvals in the Northwest Territories.24

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   If the question was25
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do I know who's responsible for mining development1

approval, I believe it's a consultation process, or2

there's a number of people that are involved, DIAND being3

one of them, GNWT and the stakeholder -- or a number of4

the Aboriginal groups that are involved with the -- the5

region.6

MR. JOHN DONIHEE:   Thank you, Mr.7

Chairman.  John Donihee.8

Mr. Knutsan, may I simply take it then9

from your answer that you're -- you're not really10

familiar with the legislative controls that are vested in11

the Minister of ENR?12

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   I'm not familiar13

with all of the -- all of the process.  No, sir, I'm not.14

MR. JOHN DONIHEE:   Thank you, Mr.15

Chairman.  Those are my questions.16

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Any from17

Board staff at all?  Board members?  Charlie Rabesca, any18

questions, sir?19

MR. CHARLIE RABESCA:   No question, thank20

you.21

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you. 22

Mr. Judas...?23

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   No24

question.25
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CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Mr.1

MacDonald...?2

MR. BRUCE MACDONALD:   Thank you, Mr.3

Chairman.  Bruce MacDonald, Board member.  I did have a4

question.5

We've heard various presenters over the6

past few days, some accepting, some not accepting a7

decline.  But if for a moment we do accept a decline in8

this -- in this hypothetical situation, I guess what I'm9

curious -- your opinion, Mr. Knutsan, is -- what tools do10

you think wildlife managers have, when a herd is11

declining, to try and mitigate that decline?12

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   I'd say the obvious13

tool is to restrict har -- sorry, Martin Knutsan, NW --14

NWT Wildlife.  15

The obvious is to restrict the harvest16

levels.17

MR. BRUCE MACDONALD:   Thank you, Mr.18

Chair.  Perhaps one follow-up question then.  Would you19

be aware of any -- sorry, it's Bruce MacDonald, Board20

member.  21

Would you be aware of any other tools?22

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   Not off the top of23

my head.24

MR. BRUCE MACDONALD:   Thank you, Mr.25
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Chair.  I have no further questions.  That was Bruce1

MacDonald, Board member.2

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you. 3

Mr. Case, any questions from you?4

MR. RAY CASE:   Thank you, Mr. Co-chair. 5

Ray Case, Board member.  6

In your presentation, and in some previous7

questioning, you pres -- presented a view that one8

hundred (100) bull caribou harvested by residents will9

not have a -- a population impact.10

And I'm wondering if -- if your view is11

that it doesn't matter if that one hundred (100) bulls is12

on top of another harvest or prior to another harvest13

taking place?14

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   Martin Knutsan, NWT15

Wildlife.  I was simply trying to make the point that the16

resident hunter takes very few animals and that, looking17

in the bigger picture, if there is an allowable harvest,18

having the resident hunter participate in that would be a19

very small percentage of -- of whatever that harvest20

would -- well, a small percentage of the harvest that we21

-- we are quite insignificant, looking at the six (6) to22

seven thousand (7,000) animals that are annually taken,23

that the -- the fifty (50) to a hundred (100) animals24

taken by the resident hunter is -- is quite small.25
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MR. RAY CASE:   Thank you, Mr. Knutsan. 1

Ray Case, Board member.  No more questions.2

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you3

very much everyone.  Thank you, Mr. Knutsan.4

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   Thank you.  5

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   We have6

time for NWT Tourism to give their presentation now, if7

you wish to do so.  Oh, my -- my apologies.  It's Co-8

chair Grant.  9

My -- my apologies.  You were otherwise10

engaged.  We have time for your presentation now.  Are11

you -- we would like you to give it this morning.  You12

okay with that?13

MS. JENNI BRUCE:   Jenni Bruce.  Yes, we14

can.15

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay,16

great.17

MS. JENNI BRUCE:   If we could have a18

couple minutes to come up and get ready?19

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Yes, you20

can, thank you. 21

22

(BRIEF PAUSE)23

24

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Whenever25
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you're ready you may start.  Thank you.  1

2

PRESENTATION BY NWT TOURISM:3

MS. JENNI BRUCE:   All right, thank you.  4

Thank you for allowing Northwest5

Territories Tourism to present here today.  My name is6

Jenni Bruce, Chair of Northwest Territories Tourism and7

I'm accompanied today by Gerry LePrieur, our Executive8

Director.9

In our presentation I would like to10

discuss the impact on the economy, the need for the11

preservation of the industry and the future of the12

industry.  Tourism provides over $130 million into the13

NWT economy, more than any other industry, considering14

the return on investment for dollars spent.  Of that15

return on investment, over $12.4 million is the result of16

the hunting sector, and barren-ground hunting provides $417

million of that total.18

Some of our partner recipients include,19

the list you see before you, Northern and Community20

Airlines, some of who have Aboriginal partners.  And that21

would hold true for hotels and restaurants as well.  The22

arts and crafts sector has already felt the effects.  23

We are not just talking losses to24

outfitters, but to local businesses and communities. 25
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Remember, that income from the tourism sector are brand-1

new dollars that come into the economy from outside the2

Territory.  3

Taxes derived from tourism in -- and this4

sector provide support for government coffers that5

provide for education and health and social benefits.  We6

have still not taken into consideration the loss of7

employment.8

The average expenditures per non-resident9

barren-ground caribou hunter break down as below,10

basically: the sum of the hotels' activities,11

entertainment, souvenirs, arts and crafts, groceries,12

fuel, dining, vehicle rental, taxis, airfare within the13

NWT, and other expenses, creates a total spending while14

in the NWT of eight hundred and fifty-one dollars and15

eighty-nine cents ($851.89).16

This doesn't factor in the prepaid costs17

of five thousand five hundred and ninety-six dollars and18

seventy-five cents ($5,596.75), to create total spending19

by a non-resident gar -- bar -- barren-ground caribou20

hunter to be six thousand four hundred and forty-eight21

dollars and sixty-four cents ($6,448.64).22

Barren-ground outfitters have built a23

reputation in solid industry.  It is not reasonable to24

believe that harvesting by outfitters can be the major25
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contributing factor for the decline of the barren-ground1

caribou.  2

In your deliberations, we hope that you3

take into consideration the importance that this sector4

plays in our economy, including supporting the lifestyles5

of our people.  We hope that when harvest numbers are6

stable again, there will be an allowable harvest within7

sustainable limits provided to those outfitting8

businesses affected at this time.9

We hope that you do not provide false10

expectations.  There was an expectation during earlier11

discussions with ENR that a tag reduction to fifty (50)12

tags per occ -- operator was eminent.  However, that is13

now not the case.  We hope that you make your decision14

based on sound, scientific and traditional information,15

and we would appreciate recommendations that incu --16

include support for the grand fathering of current17

licences.18

The future could provide the same economic19

opportunities as in the past; to develop and grow a20

thriving outfitting industry.  Previous NWT governments21

saw that opportunity in the past and provided funding for22

the businesses facing disaster today.23

There are opportunities that can see24

Aboriginal outfitting organizations and Aboriginal25
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partnerships currently enjoyed by some businesses. 1

Tourism businesses are not grown overnight; it takes2

planning, marketing, nurturing, and some assurance that3

there is a viability for long-term opportunities.  There4

needs to be a timely decision to allow industry to notify5

clients and buyers, make plans to wind down, provide6

clients and buy -- buyers with options for the future.  7

We believe you have much to consider with8

so much at stake.  And, once again, thank you for you9

consideration.10

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you11

very much for your presentation.12

13

QUESTION PERIOD:14

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   We'll15

start with questions now, seeing as we have about half an16

hour left before lunch time.17

I'll start off in the regular order,18

again, as per usual.  Anything with -- any questions from19

ENR?20

MR. ERNIE CAMPBELL:   Ernie Campbell, ENR.21

No questions.22

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you23

very much.  Anything from Tlicho Government?24

MS. JEAN TEILLET:   Jean Teillet for the25
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Tlicho Government.  No questions.1

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:  Thank you. 2

Anne Gunn, any questions from you?3

DR. ANNE GUNN:   Anne Gunn.  Mr. Co-Chair,4

I have no questions.5

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   John6

Andre.  John Andre, Shoshone Adventures?  7

Boyd Warner.  Boyd Warner, Bathurst Inlet8

Developments?  9

Barry Taylor, Arctic Safaris.  Barry10

Taylor?11

Yellowknives Dene First Nation?12

MR. TODD SLACK:   No questions.13

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you,14

Mr. Slack.  City of Yellowknife, Gordon Van Tighem.  City15

of Yellowknife?16

Karen McMaster...?17

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   I just have one18

question.  Karen McMaster here.  Jenni, I understand the19

outfitters employ a number of people which include First20

Nations and -- and otherwise.21

Would the loss of that industry be a22

significant loss to all of those people employed?23

MS. JENNI BRUCE:   Jenni Bruce.  Yes, I do24

believe it would be a significant loss.25
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CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay,1

thank you very much.  North Slave Metis Alliance?  North2

Slave Metis Alliance.3

Martin Knutsan, NWT Wildlife Federation,4

sir?5

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   No questions, thank6

you.7

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you. 8

Peterson's Point Lake Lodge, any questions?9

MS. AMANDA PETERSON:   Amanda Peterson,10

no, thank you.11

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you. 12

Bob Turner, David Livingstone.  Bob Turner, David13

Livingstone?  14

Rabesca Resources...?15

MS. JOYCE RASBESCA:   Joyce Rasbesca.  No,16

I have no questions for you, thank you.17

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay. 18

Legal counsel, Board staff?19

MR. JOHN DONIHEE:   Thank you, Mr.20

Chairman.  John Donihee for the Board.  There are no21

questions from this table.22

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay. 23

Thank you very much.  Charlie Rabesca, any questions?24

MR. CHARLIE RABESCA:   I have no25
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questions, thank you.1

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Mr. Judas,2

any questions from you, sir?3

CO-CHAIR JOSEPH JUDAS:   I have no4

questions, thank you.5

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay.  Mr.6

MacDonald?7

MR. BRUCE MACDONALD:   Thank you, Mr.8

Chair.  It's Bruce MacDonald, Board Member.  I did have9

one question and I'm not sure if you're the -- if NWT10

Tourism is the best to direct to, but I'll -- I'll ask it11

of you.12

Has there been an estimate or have you13

been able to work with the outfitters and determine in14

their view what a minimum allocation would be that would15

maintain the industry?  Thank you.16

MR. GERALD LEPRIEUR:   Some of the17

outfitting -- oh, Gerald LePrieur, Northwest Territory18

Tourism.  There are various size -- various sizes of19

outfitters; some, you know, hunted in the numbers of over20

a hundred animals per year and some less than that.21

So there are varying differences of what22

will make one sustainable - anywhere from fifty (50) tags23

to three hundred (300) tags probably.  But I don't have24

any expertise in that area.25
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MR. BRUCE MACDONALD:   Thank you, Mr.1

Chair, that's all the questions I have.  It's Bruce2

MacDonald, Board Member.3

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Co-Chair4

Grant.  Mr. Case, any questions from you, sir?5

MR. RAY CASE:   No questions.6

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay,7

thank you.  I have no questions either.  I appreciate8

your time with our presentation and all the people in the9

question period, thank you very much.10

It is twenty-five (25) after 11:00. 11

Should we take an extended lunch break and come back at12

one o'clock?  I think that's probably in order.13

Okay, let's -- say, excuse me, excuse me,14

let's -- let's -- let's -- that's too long.  I -- I've15

been attacked from several sides here so let's -- let's16

break now and come back at 12:30.  12:30 to re-adjourn17

for the next presentation, which is Peterson's Point Lake18

Lodge.19

20

--- Upon recessing at 11:28 a.m.21

--- Upon resuming at 12:40 p.m.22

23

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Good24

afternoon, ladies and gentlemen.  Let's come to order and25
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start our first presentation.  We have two (2) for sure1

and possibly three (3) presentations for this afternoon2

and -- two (2) -- two (2) presentations for this3

afternoon, and then at that point we'll -- given time,4

we'll allow more microphone time for members of the5

public and Tlicho citizens up until 3:15 thereabouts. 6

And then we'll adjourn for the day -- for the afternoon,7

and then come back tonight at seven o'clock for another8

public session.  So that's our tentative schedule for9

this afternoon.10

And Point -- Peterson's Point Lake Lodge. 11

Ready for their presentation?  Please come up.  Thank12

you.13

And one (1) other additional thing, ladies14

and gentleman.  This is Chair -- Co-Chair Grant.  There15

will be dinner this evening around six o'clock, somewhere16

in there, and time for dinner, and then in time to be17

done for the evening session.  Thank you.18

19

PRESENTATION BY PETERSON'S POINT LAKE LODGE:20

MS. AMANDA PETERSON:   Good afternoon. 21

I'd like to start off by thanking everyone, the Board,22

the proponents, Intervenors and the Elders, for having me23

-- for listening to me and listening to my perspective24

and our family's situation.25
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My name is Amanda Peterson.  I am one (1)1

of three (3) owners of Peterson's Point Lake Lodge.  The2

two (2) other owners are my mother, Margaret Peterson,3

who's sitting to my right and helping with the slide4

show, and my brother Chad Peterson who's in the cultural5

centre today.6

Like everyone in this room, we are7

concerned about caribou populations in the Northwest8

Territories.  We rely on caribou for our livelihood and9

like everybody else in this room we want to see10

sustainable caribou herds in the Northwest Territories11

for the use and benefit of all northerners.12

Several years ago, I made a presentation13

on behalf of the Northwest Territories Barren-Ground14

Caribou Outfitters Association.  At that time, I15

discussed the positive contributions of outfitters to the16

NWT economy and the tourism industry.  I spoke about how17

we are always ready to share our knowledge of the herd18

with scientists, how -- how we are prepared to assist19

with specific research requests, and how we shared the20

meat with -- the meat we harvested with Aboriginal21

communities.  And I emphasize that all northerners,22

including caribou outfitters, want the wise management23

and use of caribou herds.24

At that time, I reported that the total25
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harvest of outfitters averaged eight hundred and ten1

(810) caribou a year for the years 1999 to 2006.2

By 2009, the annual caribou harvest of all3

outfitters was reduced to two hundred (200) and4

approximately thirty (30) or less than half the tags5

available to outfitters.6

Of all the animals harvested, it is quite7

likely that some were from herds other than the Bathurst8

herd since caribou continue to do what they do for9

thousands of years, moving to different areas with better10

food sources, fewer threats from predators, insects and11

favourable weather conditions.12

As outfitters, we've been doing our part13

to sustain NWT caribou herd populations.  We accepted a14

reduction of caribou tags and substantially reduced our15

overall annual harvest.  We ensured that our hunters16

target only mature bulls so cows can continue to populate17

the herds.  We co-operated with biologists and provided18

data and samples to use for ongoing research.19

Despite our best efforts to sustain the20

caribou, our immediate adherence to the tag reduction21

ordered, issued in 2007, all outfitters, including our22

family business, find ourselves in a position where our23

livelihood may be taken away from us.  Our business is24

closed, possibly never to be reopened, and our tourism25
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industry weakened for  -- and our future is insecure.1

Today, all of us could be impacted by the2

apparent reduction in caribou populations, and, to some3

extent, the situation is a result of the Government of4

the Northwest Territories' failure to act upon proposed5

caribou management plans.6

In December of 2006, the GNWT proposed7

management action plans for the Bathurst caribou herd,8

which included establishing compulsory reporting of all9

harvest for all hunters, eliminating the commercial sale10

of caribou meat, reducing commercial tags available for11

outfitting, and establishing a no-hunting quarter on12

winter roads.  Only one (1) of these action plans was13

implemented:  reducing the tags available to outfitters14

who are, in fact -- who -- who, in fact, harvest the15

fewest number of caribou in the Northwest Territories.16

This begs the question:  What reasonable17

impact did reducing the outfitter tags from thirteen18

hundred (1,300) tags to seven hundred and fifty (750)19

tags have on the caribou?20

During the three (3) year period from21

December 2006 to December 2009, the Government of the22

Northwest Territories implemented no other action plans. 23

Three (3) years of dithering and skirting around the24

issues have not assisted the Bathurst caribou herd to25
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recover, according to the most recent statistics.1

Only the outfitters, likely the lowest2

users of the herd, took action, reducing their harvests3

in 2007, 2008 and 2009.  This outfitter reduction was4

notable not for herd recovery, but -- obviously, but in5

our efforts to repackage our hunts from a two (2) tag6

system to a one (1) tag hunt in order to sustain our7

businesses.8

With the acceptance of the tag reduction9

to a maximum of seventy-five (75) caribou tags per10

licensed outfitter, ENR officials guaranteed us that we11

would have the same number of tags available for 2010 as12

we had in 2009,  seventy-five (75) tags for each13

outfitter.14

One of the concerns we have looming before15

us is this management proposal.  It would eliminate our16

industry, dramatically decrease our income, and will no17

doubt lead to lodge closures and in some cases18

bankruptcies.19

Today, as one of the presenters at these20

hearings, I am representing Peterson's Point Lake Lodge,21

and in the limit -- the limited time available, I would22

like to address the following:  demonstrate the respect23

and concern Peterson's Point Lake Lodge has for the24

caribou herds in the Northwest Territories; outline what25
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we see as some of the issues to be addressed before this1

Board makes a final decision on the action plan; comment2

on the proposed management actions outlined in the joint3

proposal on caribou management; and offer some additional4

actions for going forward with a plan that could meet the5

diverse needs of all various users of the Bathurst and6

other caribou herds to ensure their sustainability.  7

That's my dad.  In 1984, my father, Jim8

Peterson, began working towards building a life-long9

dream of building, owning and operating a lodge.  He10

selected Point Lake as the location for his lodge, since11

Point Lake lies in the midst of the caribou migration. 12

He noted -- my father noted that thousands of caribou13

pass through Point Lake each season, and there was also14

some pretty good fishing there, too.15

Point Lake is on the Coppermine River16

system, so Point Lake is approximately seventy (70) miles17

long, and our lodge is the only lodge on this lake.  We18

are on the far edge of the area defined in the Wek'eezhii19

co-management lands.  Apart from our guests and visiting20

biologists, the only other people we see on the lake each21

summer are a few paddlers who choose to paddle the22

Coppermine River at the south end of the lake.23

From one of the canoeists on the24

Coppermine River, we obtained these photos taken last25
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summer.  The photographer reported that it took nearly1

ten (10) hours for the thousands of caribou to cross the2

river at a location just north of Point Lake.3

The Point Lake area is outside the hunting4

range used -- used by the people in the nearest Tlicho5

community of Wekweti, and we have never seen Aboriginal6

hunters in the Point Lake area.7

We started our lodge as a collection of8

domed tents that we used for only a few weeks each year. 9

Our savings and any profits from our lodge business were10

regularly invested -- reinvested into the lodge, which11

gradually improved over the years to its comfortable12

status as a central lodge with guest cabins and a sauna.13

Today, the lodge continues to be owned by14

our family who have been -- and we have been living in15

the north for over thirty (30) years.  We have16

approximately a four (4) week caribou season which17

attracts the majority of our guests, and we can18

accommodate about approximately ten (10) guests at one19

time, and during the past twenty-five (25) years we have20

contributed millions of dollars to the economy in wages,21

purchases of goods and services, including transportation22

and the payments of fees and taxes.23

Our operation survives mainly on hunting. 24

Although we offer fishing, the entire high-end fishing25
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market has declined over the past five (5) or six (6)1

years, leaving us more dependent on hunting for an2

income.3

In the winter of 2007, when the4

government's concerns about the Bathurst herd were5

presented to us, we, like other outfitters, agreed to a6

reduced number of caribou tags.  We also advised the7

government that we needed a few years' notice for any8

additional reduction in tags, since booking caribou hunts9

takes a number of years to -- it takes at least two (2)10

years to book prior to the actual hunting.11

In a meeting of -- in a meeting with ENR12

officials on December 12th, 2008, they confirmed that13

outfitters would have seven hundred and fifty (750) tags14

for the 2009 and 2010 seasons.  Based on this15

conversation, we maintained our bookings for 2010, but16

advised anyone booking hunts after that we would take17

tentative bookings only.18

Also, at the encouragement of and with19

some support from the territorial government, we started20

a product diversification program, offering photography21

and cuisine packages at our lodge.  However, we reminded22

the government that it took nearly thirty (30) years to23

build a profitable hunting business, and it would take24

decades to build an eco-tourism or wilderness adventure25
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business.1

As you may know, my father, Jim Peterson,2

passed away two (2) years ago.3

4

(BRIEF PAUSE) 5

6

But our family is continuing to offer high7

quality fair chase hunts.  Our hunters only shoot mature8

bulls.  All are experienced hunters with expert shots and9

deeply interested in the wildlife resources of the10

Northwest Territories.11

Each year we report all kills to12

government and submit all required forms regarding the13

disposition of caribou meat.  We also assist by providing14

harvested caribou samples, such as internal organs, jaws,15

teeth, as requested.16

We make observations about the number of17

caribou sighted by our guides when they are out on the18

land.  In the fall of 2009, we did not notice a reduction19

in the number of caribou in the Point Lake area.20

The thousands of animals we saw migrate21

through our area last year were similar to the number of22

caribou we saw ten (10) to fifteen (15) years ago.  The23

caribou appeared healthy.24

Three quarters (3/4s) of the -- the cows -25
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- or three (3) -- three quarters (3/4s) of the cows had1

calves and bulls had a good layer of fat, as you can see2

from this hind quarter.  Bugs were not significant and3

predator populations, mainly wolves and griz -- grizzly4

bears appeared to be normal.  5

Since it is impossible to identify which6

herd a caribou came from without DNA testing, we assume7

that the caribou in our area might include animals from8

the Bathurst and Bluenose herds.9

We have a few issues to be considered by10

this Board.  We share a number of concerns with our11

fellow outfitters and with many making presentations to12

the Board.  Likely, one (1) of the main concerns is the13

possible declining numbers of the Bathurst caribou herd.14

More specifically, we are concerned about15

what happened to the hundred and fifty thousand (150,000)16

caribou in the past six (6) years.  At the same time --17

oh, according to government statistics, the Bathurst herd18

has declined from a hundred and eighty-six thousand19

(186,000) animals in 2003 to the thirty-two thousand20

(32,000) animals in 2009.21

This is an approximate drop of a hundred22

and fifty thousand (150,000) animals in the past six (6)23

years, although it appears that the decline has escalated24

much more in the past few years.25
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At the same time, we know that there's no1

known disease within the herd.  We also know that calving2

has been relatively successful over the same six (6) year3

period and that mining is not perceived to be a threat4

and predators have not seemed to be a major problem.5

We've actually seen many cows that have6

had twin calves over the last few years, as well.  7

Interestingly, throughout the 2006 to 20098

period, when we received feedback from -- on ENR9

composition surveys, they indicated to us that the10

composition of the herd looked favourable and the herd11

was continue -- the herd was stabilizing.12

So, no, we've heard a little bit about13

this today, but I'm wondering how the biologists account14

for the population discrepancy which moved quickly from15

stabilizing to rapid declines.16

And another question that needs to be17

answered further is what happened to the hundred fifty-18

four thousand (154,000) caribou.  During the previously19

mentioned six (6) year period, sports hunters and20

resident harvests probably used on average of a thousand21

(1,000) to twelve hundred (1,200) caribou tags per year,22

totalling six (6) to seven thousand (7,000) tags over the23

six (6) year period.24

Harvests by aboriginal hunters are not25
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known but are roughly estimated between seventy-five1

hundred (7,500) and twelve thousand (12,000) per year. 2

It sort of adds up to about forty-five thousand (45,000)3

to seventy thousand (70,000) caribou over the six (6)4

year period.5

Without considering other caribou deaths,6

which could be offset by births, the Bathurst herd should7

still be strong, so we think there might be some other8

pressures on the herd, one that may be unknown,9

unrecorded, or undisclosed, some that are uncomfortable10

to speak about, some that are never discussed openly.11

It could be excessive hunting along the12

ice roads, where animals are trucked away by the dozens. 13

Road access to this herd makes it extremely accessible to14

all hunters across the NWT.  Have there been increased15

sales of commercial -- have there been increased sales of16

caribou meat, legal or illegal?  Has caribou poaching17

become an epidemic? 18

Have weather, insects, air quality, global19

warming had a measurable impact on caribou herds?  And20

have we discussed the increase in the human population21

and the pressure it might have on this herd?22

In addressing the caribou numbers, we23

think scientists should also address in more detail the24

reasons for the popular (sic) decline in caribou25
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populations, and that includes obtaining information from1

the communities, outfitters, and traditional knowledge.2

I'd like to comment now on some of the3

issues and actions in the proposed management action4

plan.  There are many initiatives or actions that we5

support.  And I'd like to point out that it's difficult6

to speak exclusively of the Bathurst herd when discussing7

this issue.8

Since migration routes are shared with9

other herds and appear to change over the years, I10

personally see the health of all caribou as an integrated11

network, where policies -- I -- I see them as an12

integrated network with the people, and all -- and where13

policies and actions must make sense for all.14

One (1) overarching concern we have is the15

different approaches ENR has to the different users of16

the caribou herds.  As my father, Jim Peterson, requested17

for years, I would like to again encourage the GNWT to18

work together with all groups that are concerned about19

caribou.20

I would request that outfitters be21

recognized as a valuable knowledge for caribou.  Our22

family and staff have been observing the caribou for23

approximately thirty (30) years, and we feel that this24

knowledge, when combined with traditional and scientific25
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knowledge, we could be working together to build a bridge1

with a solid foundation instead of what I see that's been2

happening now.3

So the first point I'd like to make is I'd4

like to see the outfitters as active participants in the5

discussion and management of caribou, especially at this6

critical time.7

Since I don't have time to comment today8

on every action plan listed, I would like to zero in on a9

couple of points I'd like to see implemented.  One, limit10

commercial meat tags, bulls harvest only.  See more11

regulations regarding caribou hunting from ice roads, as12

well as limits to caribou that can be taken from these13

roads, for example, establishing and enforcing a 2-14

kilometre wide no hunting zone on roads and with no15

hunting allowed from the winter/ice roads.16

Continue to offer -- continue winter road17

check stations and contract -- conduct frequent patrols18

during fall and winter in the Wek'eezhii.19

Initiate mandatory reporting of all20

caribou harvests and develop and deliver hunter education21

programs.  Add more staff and enforcement and hunter22

education to -- and hunter education areas.23

Limit or eliminate the number of cows that24

can be taken by anyone each season from the Bathurst,25
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Bluenose, or Ahiak herds.  For the short-term, enforce a1

bulls only harvest.  2

Scientific data, as we've heard over this3

week, suggests that a large increase in adult survival4

and -- and productivity is needed to ensure recovery. 5

One (1) cow and her offspring can increase a herd size by6

about twenty-five (25) animals during that cow's7

lifetime.8

Eliminate the harvest of females for9

scientific research purposes.  Regulate the harvest of10

bulls through a tag allocation system to avoid over11

harvesting and use a limited draw tag system for resident12

hunters similar to those for bison.13

Expand the hunting regulations to14

different zones that enforce a mandatory twelve (12) hour15

wait after flying into an area for caribou.  Keep16

outfitter tags at the current level and support an17

industry that continues to provide a traditional way of18

life for aboriginal guides, contributes meat to19

communities, and guides, and the development of ethical20

hunting practices.21

If caribou are being impacted by22

predators, as we've heard this week, consider a bounty on23

wolves and issue grizzly bear hunting tags.24

I'd also like to provide some additional25
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suggestions for consideration to this Board.  Until more1

data is available, rather than eliminating outfitted2

caribou sports hunts, encourage outfitters to sell single3

caribou hunts until population surveys indicate the herd4

is stabilized.5

Expand the caribou management program6

immediately.  This is the wrong time for the government7

to decrease funding for caribou research, as was8

discussed in the Legislative Assembly in February.  All9

herd users need statistics for neighbouring herds in10

addition to the Bathurst herd to see if there is any11

growth or change in the herds.12

Conduct all caribou population surveys at13

one (1) time so there is a clear picture of all caribou14

in the NWT and Nunavut.  Also include active outfitters15

as active participants in the management of caribou and16

as contributors -- contributors to the caribou management17

action plans.18

I suggest implement the many monitoring19

actions outlined in the proposed actions document, but do20

it now rather than waiting till 2012.21

Since caribou are such an important22

resource, consider expanding caribou research through23

joint ventures with independent, academic research24

organizations such as universities who can access federal25
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funds for research.1

Create distinct caribou hunting seasons2

that apply to all users.  There -- just as there are3

seasons for  -- for fish, species at risk, or other4

mammals such as muskox or polar bear, why not seasons for5

caribou?  For example, the August 15th to the September6

30th season that regulates sports hunting, plus a period7

of the winter -- in the winter.8

In conclusion, we'd like to -- like the9

record to note that we are very concerned about caribou. 10

They are our livelihood, and it would take years of --11

years for us to change the focus of our business.12

The following -- following the13

recommendation to eliminate the outfitting industry will14

not solve the present situation.  In fact, we -- we think15

it could exacerbate the problem in a number of ways: 16

time consuming and costly legal challenges, illegal17

hunting that could make criminals out of honest people,18

additional pressure on the herds as people go further19

afield in search of caribou, need for extra funding for20

staff and -- and equipment to enforce the new21

regulations.22

Rather, here are some actions we'd like23

the Board to consider in making its final decision. 24

Allow us to honour our bookings for 2010, which will25
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require the caribou tags that we were promised.1

Support and consider the future of the2

outfitting industry by allowing us to continue to offer3

hunts, noting the positive benefits that our industry4

provides.5

Provide timely and better data regarding6

caribou populations.7

Involve all of us in the planning and8

decision making regarding the caribou, and use our9

knowledge to build your knowledge base of the caribou10

populations of the Northwest Territories.11

We invite you to join with the NWT caribou12

outfitters on our profile caribou conservation program,13

Caribou Forever, which raises awareness of our great14

herds of caribou and sets a higher value for the herds15

and ensures that they are sustainable.16

If, on the other hand, the recommendation17

to eliminate outfitter tags for the next year -- three18

(3) years are implemented, we would request compensation19

for the appropriate authorities for the 2010 season,20

since we were promised in 2008 that we would have tags,21

and -- and we were led to believe that there would be no22

further reduction.  Without compensation, we can't afford23

to go through the years needed to build another business.24

Caribou outfitters and most of us who are25
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residents of the north may have to leave the north.  We1

can't operate our business, we can't sell it.  We'll lose2

our livelihood, and we can't afford the cost to live in3

the north.  4

If outfitters leave, it not only adds to5

the NWT population decline and reduces the per capita6

allocation to the GNWT budget, but it also removes7

millions of dollars from the annual GDP of the territory8

and weakens the entire tourism industry.9

The North has been our home for over10

thirty (30) years, and we'd like to stay.  We trust that11

this Board will take our situation into consideration12

when developing its final position on caribou sports13

hunting in the Northwest Territories.14

So before I finish here, I'd just like to15

voice my personal observation from this hearing process. 16

I think there has been a lot of benefits for people17

voicing their perspectives and concerns here.18

And I -- I know that we may disagree over19

the herd names, some sizes, survey methodologies, but if20

you look around the room, you'll recognize that we're not21

separated by different points of view.  We are deeply22

connected by one (1) common concern, and that's our23

concern for the caribou.24

Considering the current situation,25
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including the proposed management action plans before the1

Board and the emergency measures imposed by the GNWT, I2

think we can all recognize we have a diverse needs in3

relation to caribou.4

I think the common emotion that I see in5

each one of us is fear, a fear of losing our control, a6

fear of losing our rights, our businesses, fear of losing7

our jobs, fear of losing our livelihood, our traditional8

food, our culture, and our style of life, the fear of9

losing the caribou.10

We are all facing uncertain circumstances,11

yet all of us are people that depend on the12

sustainability of Northwest Territories caribou herds. 13

The deliberations you, the Wek'eezhii Renewable Resources14

Board, have ahead of you are very serious.15

I hope you make the right decision for our16

future and the future of one (1) of our greatest17

resources.  Thank you.18

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   It's Co-19

Chair Grant.  Thank you very much for your presentation. 20

Let's start with the round of questions.  We'll go in the21

normal order, beginning with ENR, please.  Thank you.22

23

QUESTION PERIOD:24

MR. BRUNO CROFT:   Bruno Croft, ENR. 25
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Thank you, Mr. Co-Chair.  That was very good, Amanda. 1

Thank you very much.  I truly appreciated your2

presentation.  3

A couple quick questions:  You mentioned4

that the number of caribou you've seen this year passing5

through your hunting area was no different from previous6

years.  Do you keep track systematically of -- of the7

numbers passing through, or it's just sort of a general8

observation?9

MS. AMANDA PETERSON:   That would be a10

general observation from what our guides and staff has11

had made over the last few years.  Well, actually, let me12

correct that, observations since really we've been in13

business.  But we have done some tracking in the past,14

and I -- I think -- I believe we've briefly spoken,15

although it's never come to fruition, that to develop a16

form, a proper form that we'd be -- would -- that would17

be consistent for all outfitters to record data regarding18

herds.19

I think we've done something a little bit20

in the past recording the cow/calf ratio and some bulls. 21

And we are certainly open to exploring that with you a22

bit more, something in a more formal process.23

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   One (1)24

moment.  Could each of you say your names before you25



Page 117

speak?  Thank you very much.1

MR. BRUNO CROFT:   Thank you.  Bruno2

Croft, ENR.  Thank you, Mr. Co-Chair.  3

My next question, Mr. Co-Chair, for Amanda4

is that the numbers haven't changed based on the5

observation, the number of caribou passing through the6

hunting area, and yet, as she reported, the success rate7

of the -- all the outfitters this year is down to about8

30 percent.  I think the number we saw is two hundred and9

twenty (220) something --10

MS. AMANDA PETERSON:   What's your11

question?12

MR. BRUNO CROFT:   -- for seven hundred13

and fifty (750) tags, which is, to my knowledge -- and14

Fred can correct me -- probably the lowest success rate.15

And that's a question I have myself, too,16

but what would be the explanation for that?  What would17

be Ms. Peterson's explanation for that?18

MS. AMANDA PETERSON:   I'm just going to19

re -- reiterate your -- Amanda Peterson.  Mr. Co-chair,20

if I can reiterate what I think I heard.  Bruno Croft was21

asking my opinion about the outfitters, in general, about22

their harvest.23

I can comment specifically, and it -- it24

would be a great opportunity for ENR to work with the25
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outfitters regarding their thoughts in a collaborative1

process.  I can tell you here today that, as you're aware2

from our statistics, that ENR has on our business, that3

our harvest levels have been consistent probably4

throughout the last thirty (30) years, with the exception5

of 2008, the year that my father passed, as we were6

focussed on his health and -- during that time.  So, for7

example, last year, you might recall, we used seventy-one8

(71) tags out of our seventy-two (72) caribou tags9

issued.10

MR. BRUNO CROFT:   Thank you.  Bruno11

Croft, ENR.12

Perhaps my question, Mr. Co-chair, was a13

bit unfair and not really directed to Peterson's14

operation only, but as a whole the number of caribou15

harvested this -- this past fall is a lot lower than in16

the past, and I wanted to know what her -- her opinion17

was on -- on the reason for that.  18

Why -- why would that be that we now19

harvest less caribou in the summer?  And I -- I'm -- the20

reason I'm asking is:  Could it be directed to a decline21

in the Bathurst caribou herd?22

MS. AMANDA PETERSON:   Thank you.  Amanda23

Peterson.24

Mr. Co-chair, as I recognize, there was a25
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-- a significant decline amongst -- in the harvest of all1

ou -- all outfitters last year, and -- and I don't2

dispute that, the possibility or that th -- there is a3

decline.  I think there are a number of factors as it's a4

complicated issue, as your department and -- or ENR, the5

department of ENR and people have pointed out.  6

It's a complex issue, and -- and in regard7

to your question, I think it would be a good opportunity8

to speak with the outfitters and get their -- get all9

well-rounded opinions about -- about that particular10

question in general.11

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you12

very much.  Co-chair Grant.  Thank you, Bruno and Amanda.13

Tlicho government, any questions?14

MS. BERTHA RABESCA ZOE:   Bertha Rabesca. 15

Chief Charlie Football has a question.16

17

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)18

19

CHIEF CHARLIE FOOTBALL:   Thank you very20

much.  Good afternoon.  Thank you for giving me time to21

speak.22

This presenter's -- I might be questioning23

her, or it'd be good to get feedback from me.  I live in24

Wekweeti, and they are living amongst us, and the pe --25
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people that come into our land, and when they come into -1

- and when they make things and they just shoot the2

animal, and we don't go hunting with these hunters3

because they have powerful am -- ammunitions, because I4

used to work with them.  We don't work among them,5

although the Wek'eezhii Renewable Board had paddle once6

in that.  And also Moise Rabesca's camp, and once the7

Grand Chief had government hunting, because there's a lot8

of hunters in that area.  They told the Grand Chief to,9

and when he says he doesn't see -- see people in that10

area, I don't think that's correct information.  When we11

speak, we have to watch what we say.12

We rely on the caribou.  If he's -- she's13

te -- telling me that I'm lying, we have four old --14

elderly women.  Maybe she should be speaking to the15

elderly women.  So if she's going to be speaking again,16

we can -- we can answer to these questions, because I17

know I work with the outfitters.  They shoot one (1)18

caribou, and what they take, and what they leave behind,19

these are the waste.  We don't waste meat.  So they20

should watch what they're saying, and that's what I21

wanted to say.  Thank you very much.22

23

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)24

25
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CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Did you --1

excuse me, Chief Football, do you -- do you have a2

question at all for the -- for the people, the3

presenters?4

5

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)6

7

CHIEF CHARLIE FOOTBALL:   Yes, thank you. 8

When they shoot one (1) caribou, how much meat do they9

take from it?  So if -- if -- how much meat do they take?10

11

  (INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)12

13

MS. AMANDA PETERSON:   Thank you, Mr. Co-14

Chair.  I -- I think I'd like to start off with a -- I15

think I'd like to -- my name is Amanda Peterson.  I'd16

like to begin with a comment in regard to reference that17

Chief Charlie Football made in my presentation.18

I'd like to be clear that when I said I19

haven't seen Aboriginal people in the area, I didn't say20

that without respect.  It just means that we are there21

for a limited amount of time and during that time I22

haven't seen any people there.23

So it -- it's limiting -- the language is24

limiting.  The words that I chose to use have -- have25
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limitations, and -- and in that I didn't mean my words1

for -- be interpret as disrespectful.2

In regard to the use of caribou meat, we3

ensure that all caribou meat is utilized and that none is4

wasted.  Thank you.  Including everything from the organs5

and heart.  Thank you.6

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Any7

further questions from Tlicho Government?8

MR. ARTHUR PAPE:   Arthur Pape, Mr. Co-9

Chair, for Tlicho Government.  Just let me help bring10

together the comments and concerns that were expressed by11

Chief Football, and what Ms. Peterson said.12

I think that what Ms. Peterson is saying13

is that she is not saying that Tlicho do not hunt in the14

area where the family's lodge is.  She is simply saying15

that her family business has not personally observed that16

hunting, but she is not denying that there is such17

hunting in that area by Tlicho.18

I -- I wonder if she would clarify that. 19

And I've seen this kind of confusion many times in other20

circumstances, and I -- I think that's what Ms. Peterson21

is trying to clarify.22

MS. AMANDA PETERSON:   Amanda Peterson,23

Mr. Co-Chair.  Thank you very much, that was much more24

eloquently put.  That's what I was trying to say. 25
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CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Any1

further questions from Tlicho Government?  2

MS. BERTHA RABESCA ZOE:   Bertha Rabesca3

Zoe, no questions.4

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay. 5

Thank you very much.  Let's move on to Anne Gunn, please.6

DR. ANNE GUNN:   Anne Gunn, Mr. Co-Chair. 7

I have no questions.  Thank you. 8

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay. 9

John Andrew.  John Andrew.  Shoshone Wilderness10

Adventures.  None.  11

Boyd Warner, Bathurst Inlet Developments. 12

Boyd Warner.  None.  13

Arctic Safaris, Barry Taylor.  Arctic14

Safaris?  None. 15

Yellowknives Dene First Nation?16

MR. TODD SLACK:   Todd Slack.  No17

questions.18

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you,19

sir.  City of Yellowknife?  City of Yellowknife?  None.20

Karen McMaster...?21

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Karen McMaster. 22

Amanda/  Margaret, I'm wondering with all of the23

uncertainty over the last couple of years, could you24

comment on how this is affecting your ability to market25
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from that -- from that perspective.1

MS. AMANDA PETERSON:   Thank you.  Amanda2

Peterson.  Mr. Co-Chair, it's been very difficult to try3

to operate a business.  First of all, I -- I think I'd4

like to just begin by clarifying that at -- at a meeting5

in December of 2008, as in my presentation, the6

Department of Environment and Natural Resources confirmed7

that we would have tags for 2010 season.8

So, we marketed that we would have caribou9

hunts and we confidently -- confidently sold those hunts. 10

In that regard, it's been very difficult for our family11

business, as I'm sure it has been for other operators12

too.13

Can -- you continue -- continue we have,14

yeah.  I -- it's very complicated.  I -- I just want to15

be brief about saying that.  Thanks.16

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Any17

further questions, Ms. McMaster?18

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   No, thank you.19

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you. 20

North Slave Metis Alliance?  North Slave Metis Alliance? 21

None.22

NWT Wildlife Federation, Mr. Knutsan?23

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   Thank you, Mr.24

Chairman. You were talking about your marketing and I25
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gather you would -- marketing is a fairly costly process1

for a -- a lodge from Yellowknife. 2

I gather you travel to sport shows3

throughout United States and you expend a considerable4

amount of money in your marketing, is that correct?5

MR. AMANDA PETERSON:   Yes, that's correct6

and we've had -- we've incurred -- Amanda Peterson, Mr.7

Co-Chair.  We've incurred a number of expenses to market8

our product.  9

And after booking our hunts that -- pardon10

the expression -- that -- that money's pretty much gone11

up in smoke and it means I don't -- we don't have revenue12

or an income coming in.  So yes, it's been a very costly13

process and it continues to be.14

MARTIN KNUTSAN:   Also -- it's Martin15

Knutsan, NWT Wildlife.  But, along with that, you'd be16

receiving deposits from hunters I -- I gather to -- as17

you book these hunts.  I guess a two part question.  So18

you'd be receiving the -- the deposits that you now have19

to return.20

Has ENR offered any type of compensation21

since -- for you or any other lodges since they have22

promised you something, taken it away and left you23

spending money on -- on false promises?24

MS. AMANDA PETERSON:   No.  They said25
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there would be absolutely no com -- Amanda Peterson, Mr.1

Co-Chair.  ENR's indicated that there'll be no2

compensation for expenses that we've had or otherwise3

because of this process.4

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you. 5

Compensation issues are beyond the scope of our Hearing6

here today.  Okay?  Thank you.7

NWT Tourism, Jenni Bruce, any questions?8

MS. JENNIE BRUCE:   Jenni Bruce.  No9

question.10

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you. 11

Bob Turner, David Livingstone?  Bob Turner, David12

Livingstone?  None.13

Rabesca's Resources...?14

MS. JOYCE RABESCA:   Joyce Rabesca here. 15

I have no questions.16

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you17

very much.  Legal counsel, Board staff?18

MR. JOHN DONIHEE:   Thank you, Mr.19

Chairman.  John Donihee for the Board.  No -- no20

questions from counsel or staff.21

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   On to22

Board Members.  Charlie Rabesca, any questions from you,23

sir?24

MR. CHARLIE RABESCA:   Thank you, no25
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question.1

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Thank you.2

Mr. Judas...?3

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   No4

questions.5

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Mr.6

MacDonald...?7

MR. BRUCE MACDONALD:   Thank you, Mr.8

Chairman.  Bruce MacDonald, Board member.  I had asked9

the -- NWT Tourism what -- if there is an idea or10

impression overall for outfitters as to what, in their11

view, would be enough caribou to -- to let your business12

survive, and they weren't in a position to answer.13

So, on behalf of Peterson's Point Lake14

Lodge, do you have a rough number that you could provide15

to the Board just to give us some insight as -- you said16

you had seventy-two (72) tags, you -- you filled seventy-17

one (71).18

Is seventy-two (72) the minimum you need19

to survive at this point, or -- I'm just interested in20

hearing your -- your opinion on that.  Thank you.21

MS. AMANDA PETERSON:   Amanda Peterson. 22

Thank you, Mr. Co-Chair.  Yeah, I heard the response. 23

Currently, we're allocated seventy-five (75) tags, and24

that's enough for us to survive with hopes.25
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And I'm sure, as was pointed out by1

another Intervenor, that other lodges might have some2

more needs than ourselves.  Seventy-five (75) would3

sustain us in hopes that, as the caribou population -- as4

more reliable data or as the caribou population shows5

stability or continues to increase, we would hope that6

our allocation of tags would increase as well.  Thank7

you.8

MR. BRUCE MACDONALD:   Thank you.  It's9

Bruce MacDonald.  Thank you, Mr. Co-Chair, and thank you10

for the answer.  That's all the questions I have.11

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Mr. Case,12

any questions, Sir?13

MR. RAY CASE:   Ray Case, Board member.  I14

have no questions, but I'd like to thank Amanda and15

Margaret for their presentation.  Thank you.16

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay,17

that's the rounds of questioning.  Thank you very much18

for your presentation, as Ray Case indicated, and for19

your time to answer questions as well.20

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Thank you. 21

The next presentation is going to be Rabesca Resources. 22

You're next.23

MS. JOYCE RABESCA:   My partner's not here24

yet, Chair -- Sir Chair.  I'm just wondering if we could25
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wait a few minutes.  Is that possible?  Can you do1

something from the floor until Moise gets here?2

He's -- he's supposed to be here, it's3

just that we were a little earlier doing the lunch thing,4

and he's on his way from Yellowknife.5

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   I'm sorry,6

you said -- I'm sorry, I missed the first part.  What7

wasn't here, Ma'am?8

MS. JOYCE RABESCA:   Moise Rabesca.9

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Oh, Moise,10

okay.11

MS. JOYCE RABESCA:   I'm waiting for him.12

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay.13

MS. JOYCE RABESCA:   He should be here any14

minute.15

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   Okay,16

let's --17

MS. JOYCE RABESCA:   If we could wait for18

him I'd much appreciate it.19

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Okay, we'll20

have a ten (10) minutes break here.  Thank you.21

22

--- Upon recessing at 1:32 p.m.23

--- Upon resuming at 1:53 p.m.24

25
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(THROUGH INTERPRETER INTO ENGLISH)1

2

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Moise is3

not going to be here, Moise Rabesca.  Joyce cannot do her4

presentation, so we'll go back to -- we're going to have5

people speak to you -- the public, general public --6

general public to speak to you at this time.  7

When Joyce -- when Moise return, the8

people that signed to -- to speak, the public, registered9

general public, to speak, we'll have some of the public10

to speak at this time, but seven (7) -- for seven11

o'clock, anyone who wish to make a presentation general12

from the public can do so between 7:00 and 9:00.13

They can register with one of the young14

ladies out there in the -- in the entranceway.  At this15

point in time Moise is not present.  Rabesca Resource pr16

-- presenters were supposed to be here but they're not17

going to be here so we'll -- at this moment.18

We going to have the general public make a19

presentation and we want you to relate just to the20

caribou alone.  Please not to sidetrack or keep -- keep -21

- keep to the topic.  Thank you.22

Louie, are you going to be speaking? 23

That's Louie Wedawin from Whati, one of the Elders.24

We'll grant you ten (10) minutes to speak. 25
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When it's time -- your time's up I'll -- I'll let you1

know.2

3

  (INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)4

REGISTERED GENERAL PUBLIC SESSION CONTINUED:5

6

        (DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)7

8

ELDER LOUIE WEDAWIN:   Yes, you have given9

us some limited time to speak to you.  We're very pleased10

with this.  But there are so many things they were11

talking about.  We have heard what they have to say. 12

There's so much to -- to think about and understand13

because of this.14

What should I say?  Most of the words were15

taken out of our -- our mouth.  There are so many things16

that they are talking about.  That's the way it is for17

me.18

Because of this, when you have a personal19

thoughts about this, what am I supposed to be talking20

about?  It seems that it's been covered already.  So,21

because of this, who are we supposed to side with?22

We don't really know where to -- where to23

look.  Personally that's how I feel.  I don't know which24

are the vital information, which side we would take.25
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But surely, we had to -- what -- to1

announce what is on our thoughts.  And so yes, here, the2

people that had spoken we've been talked about a caribou3

how they have benefited from the caribou.4

They have just talked about the caribou5

alone.  I don't think I should be speaking on -- on just6

about the caribou.  I should be speaking about some other7

things that relates to the caribou.8

When I was in Gameti when we had a meeting9

there, a workshop there for that caribou, when we have10

arrived there at that time, I didn't say this was all11

totally my -- my, you know, my say that has changed12

thoughts.13

But, personally, when I think about it, as14

for the -- the female the cow caribou, that female15

caribou, when it is giving birth to its calf we get --16

that -- that multiplies the population.  I assume that17

increased the -- the population number.  So we say to18

that, we didn't want to shoot any one (1) of the cow. 19

This is what I said in the workshop.  I don't want no20

female caribou with birth to be shot.21

Sometime when you say things like, only22

for myself, what I'm saying is true to me.  If we shot23

all the -- the female caribou with birth, of course,24

there's going to be reduction of the herd, the number --25
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the population.1

Because that's in my mind, that's the2

reason why in Gameti when we had a meeting, when we were3

out down there, I stated that we didn't want no females4

to be shot and if they're going to be shot, we should5

less in, you know, the harvesting, less of the female6

caribou.7

It's directly on the female that we get8

more population.  We're saying that we hear many voices9

stating that th -- there's a reduction that decrease in10

the population.11

But, despite that, yes, we live -- benefit12

from the caribou.  If we do not -- we're not allowed to13

shoot that many caribou but if we were to be more, you14

know, to have consensus on how many we can shoot, it's a15

limitation how many we shoot.16

Maybe the caribou can't have a growth,17

have a increase in the number.  That's the reason why --18

one of the reasons why we -- I said that -- I have made a19

strong statement on this to not to shoot any female20

caribou with birth.21

I'm not saying this all became -- it was22

in my -- my, you know, saying that -- that things happen23

this way.24

We also say we're not going to be shooting25
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new bulls.  If that's the case, how -- how are we1

supposed to make any arrangement or any decision on major2

issues when things are not going to be the way we want it3

to -- to happen?4

Fortunate, when I view this, you see we5

still have many adults who are living with us -- Elders6

who are living with us.  When I think about it, if we --7

if we had done our certain limit number of the bulls to8

be shot or harvest, I think that -- that should be9

possible.  That should be very possible.10

As for the female caribou, if it's -- has11

-- if it's -- if it's -- the caribou is pregnant, then as12

soon that it gives birth, then that multiplies the13

population.14

We should have a limit of how many bulls15

are killed.  That's what I want, much like here.16

As for myself, I am seventy-two (72) years17

of age as -- as of now.  When I think about the caribou,18

as for the female caribou, it gives birth and it -- you19

know, it gives birth to calves and multiply our number of20

caribou, much like here.  After sixty-five (65) years of21

age, it becomes difficult to -- to do any heavy labour22

work.  It's difficult to hunt and -- et -- et cetera. 23

It's much like this.  When we see the bull is in that24

age, I assume that's the same -- similar feeling as we25
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have, the same status we have, health.1

With the bull, when it comes to -- even2

the bull -- the bull, when it gets too old, I don't3

think, you know, it could -- it could, you know, rut with4

the female, and also I assume that female is more5

important because it gives birth to its calf.  I think we6

should have a strong consideration on this.7

Of all the -- the important people who8

have come here, you have taken -- you have rotate on9

speaking to the -- to the -- to the public here.  We have10

heard what you had to say.  We do not speak English and11

we do not speak the language.  It seems like it's12

something that's so -- a major issue that you're talking13

about.14

If one (1) is a single person -- if15

there's a one (1) person that is thinking about all of16

this, all the issue that we're talking about, it'll be a17

major, major -- it will be most difficult to do.  Like18

Joe Rabesca, my -- my nephew, he's my nephew.  We hear19

Joe, and also he had grandfather, Wahti Joe, Wahti Joe. 20

We both have the same grandfather.  The grandfather had21

raised my mother.  When that Grand Chief speak, I believe22

that to be truth.23

You see ENR and the Board that we have in24

place, Joe had expressed very strongly about have --25
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being united and working together.  That's the only way1

we can get things done.  I believe what the Joe had to --2

had to say. With all that number of people here, if we3

were to form a strength together, our words -- our words4

would be very strong.5

What else could we do?  What are we6

supposed  -- what we stated and wh -- what we're going to7

do, it's going to happen if we are -- are united.  So my8

nephew, when he speak, he's a Grand Chief for the Tlicho. 9

He is speaking with true.  He said, We need to work10

together.  I strongly favour that because of this.11

For many years, beginning the -- the --12

the talk about -- even when the -- the -- the land claim13

and self-government was being talked about, I've been14

involved with all negotiating and all meetings.  For15

thirty (30) years, I have never drank.  And I -- if I was16

selected a committee member, I always participated in17

every part of the session when there was a meeting.  I18

never left my chair empty.19

When I'd speak at -- at a certain time,20

personally, I speak what comes from my mind, personal21

mind.  And when I think, you know, it touches me deeply. 22

The reason why I'm saying this is, from the beginning of23

this meeting, I have seen so many of my Elders and my --24

sitting there at those tables.25
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They were rotating being the leaders and1

they have, you know, sat there at those tables.  None of2

them are alive today.  None of them are here today with3

us.  There are more -- new generation coming.  There's4

less -- lesser Elders.5

When I look upon a meeting like this, who6

will be the one to speak for me?  Who is going to speak7

on my behalf?  When I think about this, all this, of all8

the late Elders and leaders who were out there sitting at9

those tables, they're not here with us today.10

We all have sim -- we're all in the same11

boat.  We are not -- in this age, I'm going to say my --12

my father and my mother.  I'm unable to say this.  You13

are left with your own mind, your own thoughts and your14

own ideas.15

That's are we are, sitting home as an16

orphan.  When I see people thinking about thi -- I have17

sat behind you way in the back listening to what you have18

to say.  It touched me so deeply because this -- we --19

only way we can get things done is by working together20

with the ma -- major issues like this.21

Do you see the ENR?  Do you see all the22

Boards and the Intervenors, all these important people? 23

And some are experts in different fields; biologists,24

scientists.  All you are sitting here and talking one25
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another, and we have to listen to what you have to say.1

Yes, the only way to resolve that we can2

find is through working together.  We can have one (1) or3

two (2) number of people doing this for us and now have a4

good result - that's not going to happen.5

Ever since meeting begin, we're existed6

and -- and began to arise in our -- in our people.  I7

have always take part with the meetings.  We have to do8

things for our future generations.  That's how I feel and9

that's always on my thought.10

I always -- I always been supportive of11

anything that's -- issues that -- that relates to young12

people.  Yes, I want to say this briefly -- briefly, and13

the time is limit, so we have to say our piece.14

You have granted me a time to speak.  It's15

something that -- major that you've given me, even after16

to speak to you.  Thank you. 17

18

   (INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)19

20

          (DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)21

22

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Thank you,23

Louie.  24

Eddie Erasmus will have the floor at this25
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time.1

2

   (INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)3

4

           (DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)5

6

MR. EDDIE ERASMUS:   My name is Eddie7

Erasmus.  I do live in the community of Behchoko.  I am -8

- I am -- I work with the Elders every -- in 1983.  I've9

been working with the Elders since the year of 1983, but10

I usually listen to the Elders of how they speak, and11

there were a lot of Elders that were here yesterday.12

They have spoke of a lot of good words and13

a lot of -- the things that they have talked about, they14

were right for -- while -- while I talk to you -- while15

I'm talking to you.16

I want to talk -- according to the agenda,17

I want to talk about the kind of things.  The first thing18

that's on the agenda, the agenda, the -- the -- the19

Elders were given -- the Tlicho -- Tlicho Government were20

given three hours to -- and -- and, also -- and we will21

also have a big table.22

There are -- there -- there are over ten23

(10) people on the Tlicho Government side of the -- every24

one of the them, so approximately over three (3) hours. 25
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And, also, one (1) of the other things why we're here is1

because of the Tlicho Agreement.2

The Tlicho Government had -- had talked3

about -- talked about -- worked on this land claim.  Mr.4

Chair -- Mr. Co-Chair, we have talked about this.  There5

-- you know, because of the Tlicho Agreement, that's the6

purpose of your people -- the Board being here, so we7

have to respect each other.8

And, also -- and, also, that we supposed9

to work together.  That's one (1) of the purposes of10

having this agreement.  And after that -- and -- and also11

we did had a workshop in the community of Gameti.  We12

referred to this -- and also that referring to this --13

referring to this co-management -- the -- this -- the co-14

management that we're talking about.15

And there's one -- one of -- there's16

another -- there were three (3) of these things and also17

there were three (3) items that we're supposed to talk18

about this co-management issue.19

And -- and also that -- and also one --20

one of the others those who right now that they did21

another additional thing.  And also we're supposed to22

look at the Tlicho Agreement of how suppose to work23

together, consultation it.24

And -- and also with the GNWT and also the25
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Tlicho Government, why we work and also they had put the1

hunting ban within their area.  And they put no hunting2

zone.  That's not being -- that's not being respectful. 3

They should not -- not have put in the -- the no hunting4

zone.5

And, also, we're supposed to talk about6

four (4) or five (5) items and this is what the kind of7

thing that they had done.  If you look at -- and -- and8

also -- and also we do have -- we do have 39,000 square9

kilometres of land and yet they -- they put -- they put a10

no hunting zone.  That's -- that's not being respected to11

other people.12

And there are a lot of Elders that has --13

that -- that has spoke and also the -- and also -- so14

there's -- when we went to Gameti, the one of the purpose15

of being here was for on -- one of the main issues here. 16

But -- but then it just seems like that the Intervenors17

and other parties or other people are seem to be having18

the floor and making -- try to make a decision.19

So I think that we should really look at20

this issue, really look at this issue.  And also one of21

the purpose of making the Tlicho Agreement is to work22

together of how we're going to protect the caribou of how23

it's going to be monitored.24

And know what the purpose of the right and25
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-- and also we're supposed to work the things together. 1

But what the Territorial Government, they have made their2

own decisions.  The kind of things that the -- this is3

not what the agreement was about, them making their own4

decisions of trying.5

But while the people are here, I really6

want everybody to aware of this issue and aware of this7

Hearing's all about.  So -- and also the -- and also I8

want to explain this in English as well.9

10

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)11

12

MR. EDDIE ERASMUS:   What I'm trying to13

say here is there should be no more unilateral decision14

of this kind being made during the process of the joint15

management.16

We were still working on that process and17

all of a sudden this issue came up of no hunting zone. 18

For three (3) months that was the only issue that the19

Tlicho four (4) communities were talking about. 20

Everybody forgot about the main purpose of this Hearing. 21

The main purpose of this Hearing is to go through that22

process.  So give us a chance to finish that process and23

not -- not start talking about something else.24

The Tlicho Agreement has to be respected. 25
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It was signed by three (3) governments - the Tlicho, the1

Territory Government and the Federal Government.  That2

has to be respected and honoured.  And the people that3

did sign on to that agreement made a unilateral decision4

for no hunting zone and a lot of our Elders don't like5

that.6

And people lost their purpose of this7

Hearing because that was the only issue everybody in8

Tlicho community start talking about.  Mahsi.9

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Thank you,10

Eddie.  Mahsi.11

12

           (DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)13

14

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:  That's from15

Whati, Charlie, former Chief from Whati.16

 17

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)18

19

         (DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)20

21

MR. CHARLIE NITSIZA:   Thank you.  We are22

given -- we're given a limited time to speak.  I didn't23

expect to speak here, but -- but according to what Eddie24

has stated, I had some thoughts about this.25
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Here, on the Wek'eezhii Water Renewable1

Board are here to listen to what you have -- have to say. 2

Eventually, they will come away with a decision.  We had3

heard many people speak here.4

As for the caribou, people have benefit5

and had a livelihood with the caribou.  The -- the6

decision that was made by the Government for the no7

hunting zone is difficult for us.  We do not accept that.8

We had to talk about this and find a9

solution for it, how it affect the -- the Tlicho members. 10

You, as -- as leaders, you have the ENR, Board, and11

Intervenors, I've said this in Yellowknife before.  Yes,12

the people who are making the decision should be present13

to speak to them directly, like the ministers.  If the14

minister were present, they will explain to us why they15

made this decision.16

Because of this, it seems like there's17

nobody to speak to because there are none -- there are18

none decision-maker here.  When we say a 'joint19

proposal', it's only one (1) piece of paper with two (2)20

-- two (2) parties, two (2) government -- governments.21

It -- the GNWT Government did not do this22

alone.  Also, the Tlicho Government did this.  We had to23

find a -- a good decision.  When we had prepared the24

Agreement for the Tlicho members, there was -- was a25
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purpose for that.1

But 1921, when the Treaty was gained by2

Monfwi -- our Chief Monfwi, it was firmly stated that3

none -- there will be no restriction on hunting and4

fishing, and -- and we had drawn -- he had drawn the land5

for us, and that's a part of the land that he had drawn6

which will never be changed -- or any rules will never be7

changed.8

But when people start -- other governments9

start doing things for us and making rules for us, that's10

not right.  What Monfwi has said, as long -- as long as11

the sun rises on the -- on the west and set at east and12

the river -- Mackenzie River flows one way, nothing will13

be changed for us, but the person who had made decision14

on this to make -- make this decision in the no hunting15

zone, he had done something against our -- our agreement,16

also, the Constitution. 17

The Constitution was established for the18

Tlicho members.  Other members do not have a19

constitution, but we, as the Tlicho, have a constitution. 20

Within the content of the constitution, all -- that --21

that statement that was made by Monfwi, our late Chief22

Monfwi, was in part of the Constitution.23

All of his words was in -- set in the24

Constitution.  Our great leaders and Elders had endured25
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all the work in establishing that constitution and1

agreement.  To this day, we had utili -- used -- utilized2

their -- their words to -- to -- to make things better3

for our people, and we can't accept what has been done4

for us by other people.  It's not -- it's not something5

we see -- see is good.  6

When we deal with these kind of issues,7

the people who had signed this document on having the --8

the decision making for no hunting zone, we should find9

out who did that, who signed that paper.10

And, also, we will have no consultation in11

decision made by the -- the Government.  No -- no Tlicho12

was consulted.  Personally, I've been an Elder today.  We13

did not want to do away with the words from our Elders14

and our traditional way of life.15

And the young people who are doing hun --16

the hunting, yes, the people who had made decision for us17

for the no hunting zone would like to sit with them. 18

And, also, we do have the treaty rights which we still19

retain, and we're making use of that rights.20

And I want -- what I want is to sit with21

the people, the minister, especially, who have made a22

decision on this no hunting zone.  That's what I want. 23

That's really why I'm speaking to you at this time.24

25
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(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)1

2

         (DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)3

4

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Okay, who5

is going to speak after Charlie?  Jonus Sangris from6

Dettah.7

8

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)9

10

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)11

 12

MR. JONUS SANGRIS:   I don't exactly know13

which language to use here at this time.  I became a Cree14

-- I became a Cree Indian, so let me put this in the --15

the Tlicho language for the -- especially the benefit of16

the interpreters.17

Thank you.  Sitting here with you is very18

pleasing, and what we hear is very pleasing.  It's a19

really good thing, the way you spoke.  We're supposed to20

speak to each other and listen to each other like this,21

but -- but people are just come in -- people who have22

just come into our live from south, it seems that they23

are always making a decision -- decision for us, and they24

don't recognize the Aboriginal people who have been here25
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many years.1

And also, they are speaking on behalf of2

our children, who are they going to -- supposed to listen3

to?  It seems like the government has always know --4

persuade us to do things that -- that -- that -- you5

know, that's -- always making a decision.6

I have a camp somewhere out in the barren7

land.  Gordon Lake.  I have a house there.  My father has8

always wanted to build a cabin there -- a camp there. 9

Because I did not want to not listen to my father, so10

while I was unemployed I build -- made -- built a camp11

there.12

In that area there's a lot of caribou13

there today.  Teegatee (phonetic) they called it. 14

There's a lot of -- Round Lake, there's a lot of caribou15

there.  I shot eight (8) caribou there.  16

I butchered.  I wanted to separate the17

meat so they won't freeze together.  And the Game18

Department came to me and they said eight (8) caribou19

that -- that he shot, that Game Department said that he20

shot eight (8) caribou within the no-hunting zone, so he21

had seized that caribou meat.22

If it was just a regular person -- a23

regular people coming to me to do that to me, I would24

never refuse them.  So out of respect I allowed the --25
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the Game Department to take that -- the -- that meat --1

seize the meat from me.  I know we don't like this.  We2

go to a camp, what are we suppose -- supposed to do.3

We were all raised in the -- in the -- in4

the wilderness, in the woods, in the outer land.  We do5

not like being, you know, living in Yellowknife alone. 6

All our life -- practically all our life we have spent7

out on the land, and that's the way we are healthy.8

And it was only a wit recently, Teegatee9

calls it -- Round Lake.  When I was camping out there I10

was -- I was cooking weiners over the campfire.  Is that11

-- that's not going to give me vital need for nutrition. 12

I see the caribou out on -- out on the lake.  I can't do13

nothing.  I'm just eating weiner from store bought food.14

Even -- even when I was -- when the Game15

Department came to me I was just roasting weiners, and16

the tracks that I had made on the snow, the -- the Game17

Department came in and took a look where I had track --18

made tracks.  19

You -- we are speaking to the Board.  As a20

Board member, are you going to be making a decision21

according to what we're saying?22

And you know that today if we was -- was23

dependent, the decision was made according to what you24

had said, they might say that to us prior to this25
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happening, and blame -- the onus will be on -- on us.  As1

for all the communities, we -- we meet together, and also2

we supposed to consult the Elders.  They're supposed to3

consult the people in each community and the Elders.4

It seems that they have taken upon5

themselves to -- to -- to make decisions based on6

information from biologists, doctors.  What about the7

Elders?  When you -- when you say doctors, you know,8

people who have taken education and science and all that,9

if we take them out to the bush with the Elder, who's10

going to be the best scientist or biologist?  The Elders. 11

The Aboriginal Elders would be the scientists under the12

biologists. 13

People had made use of all part land, the14

-- the -- the Sathu and all -- all over the barren --15

Great Bear Lake to the southern part of the -- the -- the16

land.  17

I'm sure that people say that this is the18

number of caribou.  Maybe they're not doing a complete19

census here.  Are they completely firm with their20

information?  As we -- we are the independent nation, as21

a Tlicho Nation.  We call that the Dene Nation.  We are a22

recognized party of people, being the Dene Nation.  Based23

on this, we had to come away with a firm decision for24

ourselves, too, much like what I heard yesterday.25
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Even with the traps, they are taking the1

leg-hold trap away from us.  You do know Alex -- Alex. 2

Alex was from here and he went trapping.  He -- he had a3

new trap so he didn't -- which he didn't really know how4

to use, and got the trap on his hands, and he was able to5

come back because it was shut, close to the community.6

Even with a gun, there's regulation on the7

gun.  Even my father said when we come upon a animal, he8

said, I'm nothing to you.  When we come upon a -- when it9

comes to looking at a caribou, I'm not doing very much10

for you, but if I teach you how to hunt and fish and do11

all the things and butchering and all that, you -- that12

will be a -- a future reference that you will -- you will13

make use of what I teach you.14

And also for the gun.  They make15

regulation that gun -- you had to have a gun licence16

before you have any gun at all.  And now today they talk17

about caribou.18

Last week in the newspaper, our Minister19

of Health Sandy Lee stated that if you make seventy20

thousand dollars ($70,000), he said that you're going to21

have no health benefit, us Aboriginal people, if you make22

more than seventy thousand (70,000).  Today they're still23

talking about that.24

According to our treaty -- treaty rights,25
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it was stated firm that nothing would be -- no -- no laws1

would be against you for hunting, fishing, hunting, and2

also you will always have a -- a health benefit.  It3

seems that all what was prepared for us from the past has4

been taken away from us.  That's not good.  We have to5

have serious talks about this, not only me, but all the6

Aboriginal people.7

We hear them saying about -- and also for8

the past three (3) days I've heard so -- heard so many --9

I've gained so many.  Who's going to make the decision10

for us?  The Elders should make decision for us, because11

it seems that the money is more stronger than a good,12

firm decision here.13

Since 1985, the -- the -- 1985 when my --14

when one of -- is it Dorset, there was the Chief there? 15

-- he made a trip to Great Bear Lake where I heard one of16

the Elders speaking to us.  He -- I was wondering what he17

was talking about.  Today it's apparent.  All the things18

that he had predicted is happening today in the brother19

nation.  Even the brother nation, the name change has20

been changed to Dene Nation.21

The Elder told me that these are the22

things that's going to happen in future.  Today, the23

predicament is right, according to what he had stated. 24

In the future -- one (1) day a lot of paper will be in25
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front of you.  That's what's going to happen.  It's going1

to pile up more and more, the paper, the tax.  There are2

so many papers that's in front of them.  If all that3

paper falls down, you'll be nothing, he said.  And also,4

you will have much numbers.  Like today we all have5

numbers.  Who had granted us those numbers?6

And so you see, big -- Great Bear Lake,7

it's a very big lake.  You see that eventually because we8

-- we need water.  Half the water will -- will be the9

only portion of water they're going to have.  So we need10

to talk.  We need to refine.  We need to discuss matters11

more.  It's almost like a struggle.  We're not getting12

nowhere, even though despite our strong voice.  There's13

two (2) or ten (10) Dene Nation.  We keep working14

together.15

At one time, the Dene Nation had -- the16

Dene Nation had a falling apart.  If we were still strong17

and working -- working together, our voice would have18

been stronger.  Our voice would have been more stronger19

than the Northwest Territory government, but that didn't20

happen.  It's like we are individuals working for oneself21

and making a decision for oneself.22

Today we're asking that we could come23

united as a Dene Nation.  Who are we speaking to?  A24

thought -- a thought we had -- we are talking about the25
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thoughts we have.  I myself have children and the1

grandchildren.  These are the people we're -- we're --2

we're talking for.  Because of this, what we want, what's3

going to happen in our lives, who can you depend on?  We4

don't have many Elders living with us.  If the Elders --5

and for the Minister, we should have the Minister in --6

in our midst so we can address our concern to him.  This7

is all we have -- announce what we had to say.8

I have been taken part this meeting.  I9

have taken the work -- my work with you at -- work with10

you.  We are given a limited time to speak, so I know11

Judas was going to attempt to shut down.  So I'll do that12

at this time.  Thank you. 13

14

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)15

16

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)17

18

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Mahsi,19

Jonus. I think that we can go to one (1) -- one (1)20

individual prior to giving the floor to Joyce.  Phillip21

Drynic.  Phillip, the one (1) Elder by the name -- from22

here -- from Behchoko.  His name is Phillip Drynic, here23

from Behchoko. 24

25
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(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)1

2

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)3

4

ELDER PHILLIP DRYNIC:   Yes, we're only5

here to talk for a -- for a short time only, but anyways,6

thank you.  7

There are a number of people that I -- the8

number of people that I have gathered here, we are here9

to talk about a fairly big issue here, but still to me, I10

don't think that we will not accomplish the kind of11

things that we want.  And we seem to be -- and -- and12

also that I think that some of those young people that13

have spoke there are right -- they're think a little off14

the -- in the past. 15

It's about approximately seventy (70)16

years ago when the Chiefs used to -- used to -- the17

Chiefs used to speak.  The Elders used to speak and they18

always -- have always -- they always talk about what it19

will be like tomorrow, the kind of thing, the hope for us20

in the fu -- things that we can do.  Am I right, am I21

making the right decisions?  This is the kind of thing22

that they used to talk to -- among themselves.  23

Like yesterday, we talk about the -- the24

boundary of the Monfwi and also -- and also you talk25
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about the -- the sun, the sun, of how the sun rises and1

how the river flows.  As sun -- as long as the river does2

not flow -- divert or flow backwards we will not be3

restricted of anything, that's what Chief Monfwi had4

said.  As long as the sun shines, rises in the east, sets5

in the west, we will not be restricted.  6

People that are -- that are in the corner7

here now that they -- today that we are not too -- are8

not too happy with -- with the decision.  In -- in 1921,9

when he first got the treaty he built -- he did a good10

foundation for our people.  As long as the future of the11

Tlicho people were there would not be restricted of12

anything, that's what he have said.  The Monfwi had did a13

good things.  Just like the -- it seems like we're not --14

we're not respected, we're not -- as we are nothing.  15

And also, that we are talking about most16

of the camp that are there and -- and also the people --17

people that are benefiting from water, timber, woods --18

now that we are not -- would not -- the only that we have19

-- will not benefit from anything.  The only thing we20

have on ourselves are the fingernails. 21

But -- but -- and also from Chief Monfwi22

had talked about the -- the boundary that he had drew. 23

And also that now that there is -- that -- when I look at24

the no-hunting zone within -- within our -- our boundary,25
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within the -- the -- and also you were talking about the1

-- the caribou, as well.  You're also talking about --2

about the young bulls, the female cows, but that -- that3

is our food.  This is how we were raised by our ancestors4

and our -- our forefathers.  For thousands of years5

people --  6

And also of how we were raised by our7

ancestors and our forefathers it was by the hard work of8

their hands.  They have never talked about the decline of9

any -- any wildlife.  But for today, now the only thing -10

- the only thing that's on -- it's just like you seem to11

be scaring people because of the money -- money making12

issue here.  13

And also the -- and also, I really want --14

to me what you did is -- wasn't right.  What Eddie15

Erasmus had said he -- he was right.  Even though he is a16

young man, he is absolutely right.  17

And also, the -- and also, that the --18

and, also, are -- are there any other nations or any19

other group had ever drew in a boundary?  There was no20

other claimant group that ever drew a boundary.  Well, to21

me, that is -- what they're doing -- what we're doing22

here is not right, but our -- our forefathers and our23

grandfathers had to walk the land and work very -- had --24

had to work very hard.  They did not use a dog team.25
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And also, paddle what -- paddling out in1

the land, walking on the land with their -- with their2

foot.  People did not use anything with fast working3

materials, but I know that.4

And, also, that -- and -- and also,5

there's one (1) young lady here that's talking about the6

Point Lake, and, to me, she like -- she -- she's like a7

one (1) year old.  Even that area, we were born and8

raised in that area.9

And also, we talk about the Contwoyto Lake10

area.  The Contwoyto Lake area, our ancestors have named11

that lake.  They named that lake.  Now that there is a12

full control of other -- other people on that lake, on13

that area.14

When you -- when you look at the Chief15

Monfwi border, you're not respecting the Chief Monfwi16

border.  You're not consulting the people.  And also,17

what the people who were here before you guys should --18

you should respect them.19

To me, you seem -- don't seem to be20

listening.  From now -- it shouldn't be like that from21

now on.  Look at the Chief Monf -- Monfwi boundary. 22

Respect the Chief Monfwi boundary, but work together. 23

Let's work together.24

What the young people are saying is -- is25
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right.  And also, we also have to talk about the -- the1

young -- the young people.  I will support what they're2

saying.3

And -- and also, so we should have a4

really good discussions of how we can really work5

together, but this is how our grandfathers had worked6

together, have all the Elders -- and all the Elders had -7

- have -- have always got together and make a discussion8

-- have made discussions among themselves and the work.9

Now that we -- we are here to work, due to10

the time that -- we have a time limit to speak, so that's11

all I may have for now, at this time.  Thank you. 12

13

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)14

15

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   (DOGRIB16

SPOKEN).  17

18

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)19

20

GRAND CHIEF JOE RABESCA:   Thank you. 21

Yes, I'd like to make a few comments.  I'm hoping that22

everybody would understand what all discussions is all23

about because we're discussing a very important issue.24

Yes, the -- there's a lot of talk about25
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the Great Chief Monfwi.  I guess I -- I am sitting here1

not in a capacity of Monfwi's position and as a Grand2

Chief.3

And if you're looking at the caribou4

population I guess has decreased from four hundred and5

seventy thousand (470,000) to thirty-one thousand6

($31,000) -- thirty-one thousand (31,000) car -- caribou.7

Yes, to date, the -- most of the people8

that have brought up a concern about the -- the no-9

hunting zone within the -- our claim area, I guess, you10

know, that -- that we are -- we haven't agreed toward nor11

sign off the -- that -- what the territorial government12

to make it happen.  So I hope you people will be13

understand that because I just want to correct some of14

the people's comments.15

Yes, the -- we, as leaders, I guess, you16

know, that from time to time, I guess, you know, we've17

been approached as to what kind of decision has been18

transpired, and then the times, you know.  We, as19

leaders, seem to be getting the blame for what's20

happening, although there are some misunderstanding21

before a clarification has been done.22

Yes, we do have a lot of leaders within23

our communities, I guess, you know.  We -- we rely on our24

advisors and some committee work has been done in the25
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communities that, you know, that spearheads.1

So there's a lot of players in there, not2

only the leaders that make up decision.  That's including3

the other form of government which happen to be4

territorial government.5

And if we still believe that the caribou6

herd had declined down to thirty-one thousand dollars7

($31,000) -- thirty-one thousand (31,000) animals, I8

guess, you know, we pretty well have to do something and9

this is something that we have to consider and take that10

into consideration seriously.11

Yes, that we -- most of the Elders have12

brought to our attention as to traditional knowledge13

regarding the -- the activity surrounding the caribou14

migration and the -- how the -- how the caribou15

population decrease and increase because of the cycles16

that they have to go through from time to time.17

So we know that as climate changes have18

some affect that with the global warming.  Yes, we as19

individuals and not only individual but everybody has to20

listen to one another from time to time.21

Yes, we have some legends and we have some22

of our ancestors that had told us stories about -- told23

us about -- told a story about the -- about animals used24

to speak to one another in -- fluently like human beings25
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in the past with the medicine power, I guess, that the1

people knew about the -- the animal.2

Back them days I guess, you know, used to3

tell us how -- how they used to communicate and how to4

relate to that animal.  And we used to remember our5

ancestors that had to go -- went through that and that's6

how they used to know the animals.7

Even the raven I guess, you know, when it8

is out there on the land, I guess, knows.  There are some9

people that had communicated with that type of species to10

tell us, you know, on how to relate to those type of11

animals.12

So one (1) job left for us to do now is to13

come to conclusion as to how best we could come out of14

the problems that we're in.  And if we were to bring up15

all the history about the -- if we can bring about the16

history of why our -- our treaty was signed back in them17

days and then you're just going to go back for -- you18

know, this is out of topic for sure.19

But if you're talking about -- talking20

about the -- the population of the caribou herd today,21

there's still thirty-one thousand (31,000) as it is. 22

What are we going to do about that?23

Yes, the -- what Eddie Erasmus had24

mentioned regarding the -- the joint proposal, I guess,25
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that that was our agenda for a while and then apparently1

it didn't materialize because of the -- some government2

that went on their own and did their own thing without3

consulting us.4

But knowing that with the public boards5

like Wek'eezhii, I guess they have a lot of work to do6

for them and there's a lot to be -- there's a lot of7

information has been brought to their attention.8

Yes, the -- we do have -- we do have a lot9

of -- a lot of information has gone to the Member of10

Parliament, I guess, to the Government of Canada, to our11

MPs, and then there are -- there are a lot of times that12

we were powerless because there's no -- we didn't have13

any proper power to do that.14

Now that we have our -- after our land15

claim is settled now we've got a tool to be able to -- to16

work at them and how to -- how to work along side with17

Government of Canada and including territorial18

governments.19

You -- you just can't invite the Minister20

here with us and then talk directly to him.  I don't21

think you will resolve any problem like that because the22

Minister himself has to contact his -- his cabinet23

ministers, as well, too in order to make decision.24

So there's more than one person had to25
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make decisions so our way -- yes, the -- we -- we1

understand what the Treaty was mentioned and how -- how2

it's been dealt with in the past.3

And yet a lot of times the government, I4

guess, didn't live up to our Treaty application but now5

we have our regional claim settled, I guess we have an6

avenue to work something out with the -- for the people7

that -- within our regions.8

We heard -- we heard a lot from the9

Elders, from the communities that expressed their10

concern, elder ladies.  And today, if you were out11

hunting, right now, I guess, you know, things have12

changed from -- from the past, I guess, you know, like13

back in the days when we used to travel by dog team. 14

Today now we have Ski-doos.  If you went out hunting,15

you'd be -- you'd be gone in a day and be back the same16

day.17

There's a lot of changes to be seen in the18

future, and then how we have to live with or something19

like that, we have to discuss amongst ourself.20

Regarding the predations of the caribou, I21

guess, you know, like predators like such as wolves, so22

the wolf population seems to be increasing somewhat --23

the treeline wolf, that is.  So this -- the -- if you24

look at the caribou about, mean that there's about two25
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hundred (200) wolves, I guess, yonder.  They consume1

something like four thousand (4,000) caribou a year.  2

So I've seen -- I've seen on a trip down3

to Wekweeti one time, and there we ran into a wolf pack4

about -- in amount of a hundred and fifty (150).  But5

according to the ENR report, I guess, out in the --6

through the dens, you know, they identified there were --7

it sounds like it's a low number.  But if you were out on8

the land, you find more wolves.  Yes, to date, the --9

they carry -- the wolves, I guess, you know, they -- they10

come into, I don't know, hundreds in a pack.  We just11

came out from the hunt from -- out on the Granite Lake12

area.  There's a lot of wolves out there.  I guess13

they're feeding on some caribou out there as we speak.14

But we, as individuals, I guess, as15

hunters, I guess, sometimes we're -- we're blamed for16

over-harvesting, and then there are wastage and all that17

stuff, and then here I think there's other predators like18

wolves and other species that take a lot of toll from --19

from what they kill out on the land.20

But we're here to find a solution as to21

how to overcome all the problem what I just identified. 22

Just by complaining and now identifying these things, I23

don't think you'll be able to go anywhere unless you have24

to set up some kind of action plan that's something that25
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will be able to work for us.  And we have to do it1

ourself, and nobody else got to do it for us.2

Yes, I know the history at the -- how,3

like I said, a lot of talks about how the treaty was4

signed back and for what purpose, and as long as the5

river and the sun shines, I guess there's nothing -- no -6

- no restriction for hunting.  But -- but like -- like I7

said earlier on, I guess, you know, that the -- that the8

agreement within our treaty was broken from time to time9

in the past, as we remember, right?  So -- but however10

the -- our ancestors, I guess, they tried their best, and11

I think we've lived with it up to now.  And now that we12

came in on -- in the changes and we have a new agreement13

with both governments and now they have to make it work14

for us.15

So to date, I guess, Mr. Chair, I guess,16

you know, like, we know that you people have a lot of17

work to for -- on behalf of the -- the citizens and the -18

- and I sat -- I sat -- I sat as a Board member at one19

time or another, but today I'm not in opposition, but I'm20

just trying to advise on behalf of the people that I21

represent, the -- knowing that you got to listen to all22

sorts of various sectors of -- the various levels of23

government and agencies and companies.  So that's always24

good because everybody else that wants to be heard, and I25
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think that's what's taking place.  That's what the1

hearing's all about.2

And the -- but I got -- I've got great3

respect for the people that -- that your people are4

working on our behalf, because I know that once the5

hearing's concluded and once the report comes out, I6

guess, in all honest, that's going to be another hurdle7

that the people has to face again, whether they would be8

able to agree with them, or would they be able to agree9

with you instead of talking to the general public, figure10

something out for themselves.  11

Yes, we have various -- a lot of different12

agreements that we have that has it's own board, own13

water boards.  But now that -- now that I think I got14

carried away, but Mr. Chair and you Sub Chief don't seem15

to identify on how many more minutes I got left to speak. 16

But all in all I'd like to have all people try to work17

things out together because it's the only way we're going18

to work something out. 19

And then the -- so the only subject to20

this -- this whole week we're here was something to do21

with the -- the caribou.  And if you look at the -- the22

caribou, even the picture itself, I guess, it's -- it's23

very interesting.  And then, you know, that you -- you24

feel -- I don't know how healthy you could get just by25
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looking at the pictures because the -- even me, I guess,1

you know, ever since I got elected to this position I2

didn't get a chance to go out on the land and hunt.  3

I've been -- some people used to go and4

feed  -- you know, bring me some caribou meat, that's how5

I'm living today.  But today I'm not in the best of6

health, but again, I appear this afternoon because I know7

the discussion that we're under is very important.  8

And knowing that the -- what's at stake9

right now is the caribou, I guess, you know, and not so10

much about individual as we are who do represent because,11

you know, that maybe in a few years from now most of us12

might not be around, but I think the caribou itself will13

for sure would outlive us, so we got to have respect14

that, you know.  And so thank you for listening to me.  15

16

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)17

18

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)19

20

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Mahsi,21

Grand Chief.  Elder Alfonz Apple.22

23

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)24

25



Page 169

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)1

2

ELDER ALFONZ APPLE:   Thank you.  You gave3

us five (5) minutes.  So although we may be scared when4

they're speaking to you.  5

So how can we help save the herd?  We have6

to look for -- have to keep that in our discussion.  And7

just as the Grand Chief talked about the wolf, we should8

take a look at the population of the -- because the --9

they not -- not only the humans kill the caribou.  We,10

the citizens of Gameti, we know what took place in the11

past. 12

When they go on the migration in the13

spring we see some of the natural death of the caribou14

from the weather conditions and also how the caribou is -15

- I just want to mention a few things today.  16

The ENR is among us, sitting among us. 17

The ENR prior to the -- there's a three (3) month18

restriction ban on it.  So we want to consult our19

citizens and it would be good to have them consult the20

Tlicho and also in Sumak'e (phonetic) and also in Lutsel21

K'e how there's no-hunting zone and then we'll get the22

full restriction ban and that never took place.  So -- so23

the three (3) months mec -- restriction ban, whoever made24

the decision should be sitting among us and talk to and25
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listen to what he had to say.  And today, why -- why is1

he scared, that he doesn't come and visit us?  Although2

we are leaders, we have to sit amongst the people; for3

that reason we are leaders.  And so the Minister who4

signed the pap -- document should be sitting among us and5

listen to what he had to say.  For this reason I'm saying6

this.  7

And the amount of people that spoke to the8

Board, the Board will make a decision.  And whoever spoke9

to the Board -- and if you -- if you record what's being10

said, then the decision that the Minister had made should11

-- the Minister should come and speak to us and that12

never took place.  So maybe you want to speak -- listen13

to most of the concerned citizens.  14

So we are following the time, so I'm just15

going to say, thank you for now.16

17

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)18

19

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)20

21

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   We'll take22

five (5) minutes break.  Joyce will do the presentation. 23

We get a five (5) minutes break.24

25
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(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)1

2

--- Upon recessing at 2:55 p.m.3

--- Upon resuming at 3:10 p.m.4

5

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Rabesca's6

Resource presentation.  Hearing -- I mean, public will be7

talk.  After Joyce, there's going to be only two (2)8

people.  And then we'll be done for today until seven9

o'clock tonight.  So after Joyce, there's going to be10

Madelaine Chocolate and then, following that, is going to11

be John Mantla.  Then we'll be done.12

I guess, Joyce, you got the floor.  You13

got half an hour.14

15

PRESENTATION BY RABESCA'S RESOURCES:16

MS. JOYCE RABESCA:   Okay, thank you.  I17

want to thank everybody for their patience and giving18

consideration to wait for Moise.  That was very kind of19

everybody.  And I wish he was here, but he's not, so I'm20

going to go ahead.21

You know, over the years I've heard Elders22

always say when they're speaking, I'm telling you the23

truth, I'm telling you the truth, and if my relatives24

were here, they'd -- they'd know I was telling you the25
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truth.  They'd say I was.1

This is my truth.  The presentation that2

you're going to see is -- is from my experience, and it's3

my truth.  It's the way I've experienced my relationship4

with my Tlicho family, and others, and -- and my5

relationship with caribou.  6

We want to protect what we love.  Before7

we started outfitting we had lots of talk at home with8

Moise's father.  We talked about it a lot.  And his words9

at that time told us that it would be okay, as long as we10

showed respect to caribou and other animals on the barren11

lands, such as grizzly bear and wolves, and as long as12

there were many caribou it would be okay to -- to do this13

because we always harvested -- Tlicho always harvested14

caribou in the -- in the fall time.  And they never took15

the antlers.  They left the antlers behind.  16

And so if people wanted to come, we could17

share this resource.  And they wanted to come and take18

the -- take the antlers and share the meat.  They took19

some.  They left some.  That would be okay.20

And it will be a way that Moise could use21

some of his traditional skills, and earn a living too,22

have some income.  And so, with his blessing, we started23

Camp Ekwo. 24

We began at -- we started at Winter Lake. 25
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We operated there a year with some help from Wekweeti,1

and it wasn't the right place.  Moise's father said, No,2

you can't do this here, this is not the right place.3

So there's -- there's grave sites here and4

there's things here that we have to be respectful of.  So5

we looked around and we decided on Humpy Lake, with his6

approval and the approval of Wekweeti.7

He was there with us every year until he8

died in 19 -- 2002.  He came out there that fall.  He was9

ninety-six (96) years old.  He was in poor health, but he10

was there with us every single year, keeping an eye on us11

and making sure we were behaving all right.  We were12

really grateful to him.  He spoke to us every year along13

the way.  He was truly our advisor.  So we lost a father14

too.  And -- but he continues to guide us now.15

We were always told by the Elders that --16

that, and biologists, that caribou go into cycles of17

abundance and decline.  The last cycle was in the 1960s,18

a major decline, I guess.  I don't have that fact but19

that's the way I understand it.  And things have changed20

a great deal since then.  21

Moise learned most of what he knows about22

hunting from his family as they hunted for survival and23

traditionally meat was made into dry meat making it24

lighter for travel in the fall time.25
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Many things are made from caribou.  Look1

at the picture.  I took many of these pictures from my2

own library, photo library, as well as off the Internet. 3

There was hundreds of picture on the Internet, thousands4

of pictures on the Internet, and some of those -- some of5

these pictures come from there.  6

I'm just looking at that photo for a7

minute.  Camp -- Camp Ekwo reflected our connection with8

Tlicho culture, providing hunters with more than a9

caribou hunt.  We gave them a taste of life on the land.  10

These are our two (2) camps.  Little11

Forehead Lake is at the top right and Humpy Lake is 12

This was -- when we took hunters out they13

were really experiencing life on the barren ground as --14

as we saw it, Tlicho culture saw it, to some degree.  It15

was integrated, both ways.16

But we always had Elders on the land out17

there with us every year.  This is -- this is a picture18

of Joe Migweean (phonetic) and Joe Suzay (phonetic)19

Rabesca up at the top there.20

And it was just a beautiful place and they21

shared with hunters, you know, their traditional -- after22

they took their tags, after they took their caribou, we'd23

usually take them on a traditional hunt.24

And I -- some of you are in the room who25
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guided with us and shared in that experience.  Showed1

people how you took the meat apart, how you skinned the2

hide for reusing the hide, how you use the organ meats3

and how you cooked it over the fire and -- and told4

stories at the same time.5

In 1990s, Humpy Lake esker, this picture6

at the top was -- is -- caribou always came around. 7

There were hundreds of caribou on those eskers.  And8

sometimes they surrounded the camp.  Humpy Lake camp is -9

- is surrounding with eskers and we used to see caribou10

running on those eskers and what a thrill it was.  It was11

so exciting.  We used to see so many caribou.  The12

blessings of abundance here, it really was.  13

Then changes came to the barren ground,14

diamond mines and exploration on the caribou migration15

routes, ice roads, big trucks, trails, trails on the --16

on the lakes, through portages, through the land.17

We also have noticed over the years a18

changing climate.  It's -- we feel that that's really19

impacting the caribou range and migration routes.  20

We've heard lots of different stories from21

Elders about, you know, I -- I hear people always asking,22

Well, where did the caribou go?  And I go -- well, we've23

heard stories, things like from different Elders through24

the -- in the other communities or in -- I think it was25
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Whati and Gameti, somewhere.  Don't remember.  Never1

wrote it down, I guess.  We should have.2

But the caribou were -- you know, the --3

the changing conditions on the ice and the streams and4

the rivers and, you know, there are caribou lost and5

going through the ice and several caribou at times went6

through the ice.7

They -- they -- their usual migration8

trails and seeing all different kinds of conditions other9

than things that have been mentioned here already about10

the ice coverings of different ice and freezing and not11

being able to get at their foods.12

And, of course, predators and the -- and13

the natural cycle of life also have contributed to --14

they're all living together out there on the barren15

ground.16

I don't know what to think about wolves. 17

I -- I have my own feeling.  I -- we were all -- you18

know, the Elders talk to us out there all the time too19

when they were out there.  They tell us these stories and20

those stories and I'm not sure what I think about21

harvesting all the wolves. 22

Somebody here in the last few days talked23

about -- oh, I know, I think it was Fred Sangris24

mentioned another relationship with wolves and how we,25
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you know, they walk by the caribou and they don't take1

any either.  Just like us, and that caribou are -- are2

part of the cycle.  And my brother-in-law Joe Migley3

(phonetic) always said that too.  I -- I remember that. 4

He talked to us a lot about wolves.5

And, of course, the greatest predators of6

all are humans.  You know, I wanted to say here we -- and7

it's been said already here these last few days about how8

we can move around now.  We move by planes, we move by9

pickup trucks and haul trailers and we hunt by boats, we10

hunt, you know, with flatbed trucks.11

That's just in the last how many years,12

ten (10), fifteen (15).  We hunt by snowmobiles, trucks,13

fall snowmobiles on the ice, and we go faster and faster14

and faster.15

I got this picture, somebody sent it to me16

from the States, some hunter.  I -- I had to show it to17

you because it speaks to what I'm trying to tell you18

about, from my perspective, from my truth, from my story.19

It's a pretty amazing picture.  There's20

caribou running for their lives.  It was just -- I -- I21

think it's probably a picture from the States somewhere. 22

I'm not sure where, Oregon or Idaho or somewhere.  But it23

spoke to me.  I hope it speaks to you.  24

Also today we hunt with really powerful25
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rifles and scopes and there are a lot of hunters,1

including Aboriginal hunters, resident hunters and2

outfitters hunters.3

During the 1990s, I -- I was -- I was4

working with Dogrib Rae Band then too.  And I remember5

people coming back.  They were going off with -- in these6

helicopters and things and helping stakers.  They were7

taking -- hiring local people.8

And the barren ground was very busy and9

was -- with mining and exploration and a lot of activity. 10

And I remember people coming back and saying, Gosh, you11

know, these -- these claim staker crews, they put it on12

their -- landed helicopters in groups of caribou because13

if that's where a stake went, that's where they landed14

whether there were caribou there or not.15

And caribou would scramble and run and,16

you know, and some would break their legs and -- I17

remember in those years too we used to see a lot of18

caribou with -- with broken legs.  Probably not long to19

survive with -- with wolves around but...20

That was -- I -- I think really made an21

impact on -- on everything, life on the barren ground. 22

An exploration boom.  Oops, got to go back.  And I guess23

it was in the early 2000s, 2001, 2006, there was a lot of24

diseased caribou around because ENR was giving us these25
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little packs, and we were doing -- helping them out by1

picking up -- we saw diseased caribou and they gave us2

little plastic gloves and cameras and everything you3

needed to sort of take pictures of -- of samples of4

diseased meat.5

We had to, you know, leave some of that6

meat because -- and a lot of our guys really didn't want7

to touch it, you know, but they did.  They cut samples8

and, you know, took a picture and we brought them back to9

ENR.10

So I -- I know there were diseased11

caribou.  We -- we took -- we took some.  We -- we12

brought samples and we helped ENR collect those samples.13

And, you know, I -- I don't really know14

what this means but this is my truth, my observation and15

something that I thought was unusual.  And I -- I don't16

know, this PowerPoint thing got a little bit messed up17

here -- but caribou, in our experience in the first ten18

(10) years of outfitting and what we heard from others,19

that caribou shed their velvet the first part of20

September and then hard horn for the rest of the season;21

that's what a lot of hunters wanted.  They wanted the22

hard horn because they were more developed and it's what23

they were after. 24

By the year 2000/2001, somewhere in there,25
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velvet started to remain on the horns until late1

September.  I don't know what it means, but it wasn't the2

norm.  They started shed -- normally shedded -- like, I -3

- I don't think this is one (1) of our caribou, but it4

was a picture that spoke to me, so I -- I put it there,5

and these were some of our hunters here, all of them. 6

But this was -- he headed the last week in7

September, this -- this guy right here.  And it was still8

full -- you know, completely in velvet.  So, I don't9

know, it was part of my research, or saying something to10

me, I'm not sure what, but things were changing, that's11

what it said. 12

And by 2001 until now, we started to see13

less and less caribou at Humpy Lake and Little Forehead14

Lake.  By two (2) -- 2008 we saw hardly any caribou at15

all and we came back kind of empty handed.  And, of16

course, that gets out to the hunting world and to all of17

our agents, and they go, Oh, don't go over there, there's18

no caribou at Humpy Lake.  19

And that was okay, I guess.  Like, we had20

to live with that.  That's -- we never depended on nature21

to be consistent every single year, we never intended to22

build an empire and an economic security for ourselves on23

caribou.  Never, ever did we think that and we said that24

many, a many, a meetings at the -- at our association,25
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but it wasn't always a very popular statement. 1

For the past few years as caribou numbers2

tumbled downward fear and desperation began to set in. 3

Some outfitters could not accept ENR results.  A media4

blit -- blitz began when outfitters took legal action and5

it really started getting things going.  Paid6

advertisements appeared.  Scientific management,7

political agenda, you know, all this stuff.  Everything8

started being questioned. 9

Everyone had to get something to say.  It10

was all this -- you know, it was just -- I saved all the11

newspaper articles, every time there was something I -- I12

had to cut it out and I didn't know I was going to use it13

like this, but it ended up, you know, giving the message14

I wanted to give.  Things got really confusing.  15

There's another one.  Even I had something16

to say.  I'm down there at the bottom.  It's like -- I'll17

leave that there with you for a second.  18

It felt like we were in a shaman's or a19

medicine man's dust storm.  We couldn't see anymore and20

we were sort of going, what the heck is going on, you21

know.  It's confusing.  What are we -- it used to be very22

clear, you know, there just weren't caribou, so we were23

gonna make changes, but then the politics set in and the24

arguments set in, and this numbers, and those numbers. 25
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And really, I -- I -- we didn't know what to think.  1

So we just stood still for a moment and2

took a deep breath, tried to let -- let some of the3

tension go.  And all of sudden the picture became really4

clear to us.  We looked beyond our local situation and5

tried to get a global picture and we began to see caribou6

have been impacted over time, how they've been impacted.  7

And that I -- I know ENR showed you this8

slide, but somebody sent it to me over the Internet one9

day and I was looking at it and it was pretty clear that10

something's happening out there, if the caribou are in11

that drastic of decline in the cir -- circumpolar north. 12

I got that from -- from -- it came out of BBC from13

England, the BBC News. 14

And then I started to -- to do some15

research.  Well, first I want to say that I guess it was16

about 1994, '95, somewhere in there, Moise and I made a17

trip to Ohio.  That's where my family was living, or are18

living.19

And we visited the Columbus, Ohio museum,20

and we were looking at these displays, and it was a big21

table like this, you know, two (2) of them put together,22

and there was a display of -- of an Aboriginal community23

there, you know, making ji-ing (phonetic), carrying24

water, and making everything, making hides and doing all25



Page 183

these things.1

And on that display the table was covered2

with caribou.  And I thought, wow.  I went over and3

looked at the paper, and we went, Wow, is caribou here in4

Columbus, Ohio, you know.  5

And it was -- it was a display explaining6

that, you know, caribou had, you know, covered half of7

North America in -- at one (1) time, the 1400s, or 1200s,8

or whatever.  9

And I -- I looked for -- for it on the10

Internet.  I could find it, but I did find a little bit. 11

Here it says, you know, caribou once ranged most of the12

northern hemisphere.  Today their numbers are13

considerably reduced and they are extinct on many of the14

-- the large islands that once inhabited -- they once15

inhabited.  That's Britain and Ireland, for example.16

And vast herds that used to roam Canada17

and the US south of the -- the St. Lawrence River. 18

That's in Ontario.  And, anyway -- and they've almost19

completely disappeared, and the reasons are not20

mysterious, as they say.  This came from the American21

National History website.22

As human populations have grown, our23

activities have had a profound effect on the caribou. 24

And they talk about pipelines in Alaska, and Canada, and25
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Russia interfering with migration routes, and hunting,1

legal and illegal, takes a tremendous toll.2

And, anyway, I -- I have some data right3

there that talks about, you know, where the caribou herds4

were, in what cultures, in eleven hundred (1,100) years5

ago, five hundred (500) years ago, you know, back as far6

as fifteen thousand (15,000) years ago, just showing that7

there were caribou -- there were lots of other people8

that depended on caribou in history.9

At that point, you know, the signs were10

all there.  We didn't -- we didn't really need any11

science to tell us what was going on with the Bathurst12

herd, and why they were in decline.  It was obvious.  The13

concentration of activity in their migration range is14

enormous, and that's, you know, according to history, why15

they do not live in other parts of the US and Canada16

anymore.  It's developed, its ground, populations,17

industry, manufacturing.  You name it. 18

This is the concentration of activities on19

the -- the caribou migration range in 2010, and, you20

know, all these things are impacting it, politics,21

diamonds, transport trucks, ice roads, exploration camps,22

hunters, mines.23

I've always -- always wondered about the24

explosives that are going on there all the time because,25



Page 185

as a mother, I know I'm sensitive to certain earth1

changes, and I think cows are probably sensitive to those2

blasting happening all the time, high powered rifles,3

snowmobiles, climate change.4

This is another picture with the different5

stuff, forest fires, outfitters, Yellowknife, City of6

Yellowknife, because I know in -- in Danny Bouleau's7

(phonetic) presentation he talks about caribou being, you8

know, south of the lake, all over, and it's prophesied9

that they wouldn't be there after a while.  I thought of10

him when I was doing this.  11

And, anyway, I'm coming to the close of12

this, but, you know, it was a difficult decision for13

Moise and I, but because we had had our hearts in it and14

we -- we started, you know, building onto our -- our15

lodge out here in -- at Behchoko and Senajekway16

(phonetic), and, you know, we took out lots of debt, and17

we had financial issues too, believe me.18

And people questioned him, you know, Why19

aren't you supporting the outfitters?  Well, what do you20

think?  Why -- how can I support the outfitters and not21

support my own people, and my own families, and my own --22

you know, there's -- there's two (2) sides to this, and I23

-- I wish Moise was here to speak for himself, but, you24

know, I've watched him go through this struggle.25
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You know, I'm -- yeah, I'm an outfitter,1

but I'm also Tlicho, and I'm also -- this is my2

community, this is my family, this is my life, you know. 3

I've watched my mothers, my aunties, sitting on the4

floor, cutting, drying meat.  You know, it -- it's not5

just a matter of us going out and handing some Tlicho6

some meat after the hunt.  It goes much deeper than that.7

You know, our -- our mothers and aunties8

are -- I mean I'll never forget those pictures in my mind9

of -- of -- of how the cycle goes, you know.  And my --10

my father-in-law used to talk about that.  You know, we11

hunt the caribou then we bring it back, we make -- do the12

hides, then we make the clothing, and then we do -- it --13

it's a cycle of life in Tlicho land, and other Aboriginal14

communities, as well, whether it's Sahtu, Dehcho, you15

know, Akaitcho.16

It's not simple.  It's not a simple issue17

of handing people meat.  Anyway, based on our experience18

and -- and what we saw in the history, we decided to19

suspend -- suspend our -- our -- our hunts, not going to20

hunt anymore, until we were certain that times had21

changed, and there was sufficient caribou to -- to22

harvest for outfitters.  But right now, you know, our23

families comes first here.  I -- I'm -- you know, like24

outfitters, most of us have other alternatives.25
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Those of us who are not Tlicho, we have --1

we have other -- other skills, and other -- we have -- we2

have an opportunity to do other things, and our language3

is mainstream language, and -- and there's lawyers and4

everything else that's in this mix here, and you know,5

you all know you can do other things.6

But for some Tlicho, it's not like that. 7

Some of the older folks that we've listened to --8

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Joyce,9

you've got five (5) minutes.10

MS. JOYCE RABESCA:   Okay.  I'm just at my11

end.  Thank you.  For them it's not like that.  They12

can't walk into Yellowknife and get a job or go to school13

and take an alternative.  They're -- they're in the14

latter part of their lives and -- and those families15

depend on caribou.16

That white caribou down there, I saw that17

caribou in, I think, 2006.  I saw it with my own eyes. 18

Another one (1) of the hunters took the photograph of it,19

but I went, I don't know what that means, but it must be20

something -- something -- a sign of changes to come,21

because I'd never seen one (1) before.22

So these are my final comments.  These are23

some recommendations.  And -- I -- I was, you know, I --24

I've done this over a period of time, this, you know,25
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certain nights staying up all night for two (2) or three1

(3) days at a time, and then you know, putting it away2

for a while, but these are some of the things that have3

first come to my mind to recommend to -- to the4

Wek'eezhii Board -- Renewable Board -- Renewable Resource5

Board.6

Rabesca's Resources intends to comply with7

the WRRB if it is the Board's decision to eliminate all8

tags for outfitting for hunting seasons in 2012.  Our9

company is actively seeking alternative business10

activities.  RRL supports the elimination of all11

commercial meat tags in two (2) -- until 2012.  12

RR supports the elimination of all13

resident hunters harvest until 2012.  RR suggests that14

Aboriginal subsistence hunting be considered for outlying15

communities based on quotas, and that a model be16

developed while -- whereby community members are17

selected, based on their trustworthiness, and their18

wisdom, to create community -- community committees to19

advise on quotas for those families dependent on -- did I20

miss something here -- dependent on caribou as their21

primary food source on individual family needs, meaning,22

these councils would -- would be the people given the --23

the authority to, based on quotas that were determined24

through traditional knowledge and science combined to25
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provide a basis for the rules of the quota system.1

And that -- I mean, 'cause every community2

has those people that they trust and they respect and3

that these committees would be, you know, created by --4

with those people.5

And they would -- they would say -- I6

mean, if we have to shut down -- if we have to save this7

Bathurst herd by any means and we still can let a little8

bit of hunting happen, I'm -- I'm asking the Wek'eezhii9

Board to consider those families who need, need, need10

that lifestyle and that -- and that caribou.11

Caribou move hundreds of miles across the12

landscape.  It seems their main purpose has been to13

support our survival.  We need to show them the respect14

they deserve and thank them with all our hearts for the15

gifts they offer us.16

I -- I -- I close this with a prayer and I17

-- I hope you will all say it in your hearts with me but18

it's:  Bless the calves, bless the cows, bless the bulls. 19

May the Creator protect you, our caribou relations, and20

keep your spirit and body strong.  Caribou forever.21

The credits go to our own library, the22

Ohio Historical Society, friends and relatives, numerous23

websites and web photos, any just too numerous to name.24

And most important credit goes to caribou25
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for your inspiration and all those years of sustaining us1

and the numerous others who have benefited from your2

bounty.3

I thank you all for listening.  This is a4

heart given presentation and I wanted to do something to5

lighten things up a little bit.  I don't know if I have6

but it's been four (4) days of intense facts and figures7

and I thought it was time to speak from the heart.  8

So thank you for listening to me and this9

opportunity to give a presentation.10

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Thank you,11

Joyce.  We're on time, half an hour.  The question that12

fifteen (15) minutes questions starting with the ENR.13

14

QUESTION PERIOD:15

MR. JAN ADAMCZEWSKI:   Jan Adamczewski for16

ENR.  I don't have a question for you, Joyce, just a very17

short comment.18

When someone speaks from the heart, people19

know it and thank you for speaking in your -- your own20

personal manner and thank you for your presentation.21

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Okay. 22

We'll go next to the Tlicho Government.23

MS. JEAN TEILLET:   Jean Teillet for the24

Tlicho Government.  We have no questions.25
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CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Anne1

Gunn...?2

DR. ANNE GUNN:   Anne Gunn.  Thank you,3

Mr. Chair.  And I have no questions except thank you,4

Joyce, for the way you spoke.5

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Thank you,6

Anne.  I guess, Joyce, you didn't turn your light on.7

MS. JOYCE RABESCA:   Oh, it's on.8

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   I thought9

you were going to speak.  And next one after Anne was10

John Andre.  Not here.11

Boyd Warner's not here.  Barry Taylor...?12

MR. BARRY TAYLOR:   No questions.  Very13

well done, Joyce.14

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Yellowknife15

First Nations...?16

MR. TODD SLACK:    Todd Slack, no17

questions.18

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Gordon Van,19

City of Yellowknife...?  Gordon Van, City of20

Yellowknife...?  He's not here.21

Karen McMaster...?22

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Yes, Karen McMaster. 23

Thank you.  I -- I do have a question.  I'm wondering if24

you could provide me with a contact name for the person25
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who forwarded that slide on the decreases across the1

world?2

I've been trying to get a little bit more3

information about that and to understand that situation. 4

There's been very little information produced.5

And I'm wondering if you could tell me who6

forwarded that -- that slide to you.7

MS. JOYCE RABESCA:   I -- I think somebody8

on Facebook.  And if you go to the BBC website and do a9

search on caribou it will come up there.  It's on the BBC10

website. 11

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   But I -- I'd like to12

speak to the person so that I could speak and -- and13

gather some more information.  If you could let me know. 14

MS. JOYCE RABESCA:  Oh, he was a -- a15

reporter from -- he used to work for CBC and he's now in16

another part of the country.  17

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Okay. 18

MS. JOYCE RABESCA:   And he -- he just19

emailed -- he had it on Facebook actually.  It was a --20

it was a Facebook page, Clive Desare (phonetic). 21

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Okay.  My second22

question is:  I'm just wondering in terms of what made23

you make the decision this year as opposed to last year,24

if the herds were declining in the last three (3) years,25
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what was the trigger point for you this year? 1

MS. JOYCE RABESCA:   2008 was the trigger2

point.  There were no caribou that year.  All -- very3

few, maybe three (3) or four (4) came through Humpy Lake. 4

And so we pretty much were shutting down, is basically5

what had happened.  And we took a few more hunters6

because we had them booked for a couple years, but we7

only had seven (7) hunters our last year.  And we moved8

from Humpy Lake and shared the Destephanie (phonetic)9

Lake camp with Greg Robertson (phonetic) . 10

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Just one third11

question.  In terms of sort of moving on, what sorts of12

things could you recommend?   Are they -- are you working13

with the government,  are you working in a business14

capacity or to help others make that decision?15

MS. JOYCE RABESCA:   I'm doing what I'm16

doing right here.  And that's about all I have to offer17

is this presentation and my heartfelt thoughts about it;18

nothing more, really. 19

MS. KAREN MCMASTER:   Thank you.  Those20

are my questions. 21

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Thank you. 22

North -- North Slave Metis Alliance...?  Nobody's here. 23

Okay.  24

Martin Knutsan...?25
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MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   Martin Knutsan, NWT1

Wildlife Federation.  I'm just wondering, we've had other2

operators that -- that have spoken over the last few3

days, some that have several different hunting4

operations, or different locations, and they have5

reported that although one (1) of their operations may6

not have any caribou at it, the other camps are quite7

plentiful. 8

Could it simply be that the -- the9

caribou, as we -- as we do know they migrate on different10

routes, that they have just chosen to take a -- a11

different route and -- and not go by your location?12

MS. JOYCE RABESCA:   Joyce Rabesca.  I'm13

sorry I haven't given my name.  But, well, certainly.  I14

mean, I -- anything is possible.  I -- I'm -- I'm no15

expert on this subject, but I know we were in that16

location for seventeen (17) years with -- plentiful with17

caribou, and so was Little Martin Lake.  18

And you got to remember that Humpy Lake19

and Little Forehead Lake and Little Martin Lake are --20

they're pretty much right central in the -- the path of21

the -- the bare -- the Bathurst herd's migration route. 22

And there's been a lot of activity around that -- those23

areas with -- with exploration and it's a busy spot.  And24

if the caribou are in decline likely they wouldn't25
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bottleneck through that area anymore.  1

I'm not -- I don't know what's going on2

with everybody else; I hear it from them, but I haven't3

seen it with my own eyes.  So I can only speak from my4

own experience and that's what I'm trying to do here.  I5

-- I'm -- I'm not trying to make assumptions, I'm not6

trying to make judgments on anybody else, just I'm7

speaking from my own experience. 8

MR. MARTIN KNUTSAN:   No further9

questions.  Thank you. 10

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Thank you11

Martin.  Jenn Bruce -- Jenni Bruce...?  Not here. 12

Peterson Point Lake...?13

MS. AMANDA PETERSON:   Hi, Amanda14

Peterson, Peterson's Point Lake Lodge.  No comments. 15

Thank you, Joyce. 16

MS. JOYCE RABESCA:   You're welcome. 17

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Bob Turner18

-- Bob Turner and Dave Livingstone...?  I guess they're19

not here.  20

Legal counsel...?21

MR. JOHN DONIHEE:    Thank you, Mr.22

Chairman.  John Donihee.  We have no questions.  23

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Board staff24

Board...?  Charlie...?25
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ELDER CHARLIE RABESCA:   Thank you, Chair. 1

I have no question.2

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Bruce...?3

MR. BRUCE MACDONALD:   Thank you, Mr.4

Chairman.  Bruce MacDonald.  No questions.5

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   And Ray6

Case...?7

MR. RAY CASE:   Thank you, Mr. Chair.  No8

questions.  Thank you, Joyce.9

MS. JOYCE RABESCA:   Okay.  Thank you.10

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Thank you.11

What we will be doing today, I guess after12

this, Joyce, we're going to be just two (2) -- two (2)13

people have to be -- speak tonight and we'll be done.14

I was asked Madelaine Chocolate to be15

forward, and I guess you wanted to speak.16

17

REGISTERED GENERAL PUBLIC CONTINUED:18

MS. MADELAINE CHOCOLATE PASQUAYAK:   Thank19

you, Mr. Chair, for allowing me to speak -- speak a few20

words to -- before the hearing today.21

My name is Madelaine Chocolate Pasquayak,22

and I'm constituent assistant to Jackson Lafferty, MLA23

for Monfwi.24

I want -- I want to be able to talk in my25
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language now, if you don't mind.  (DOGRIB SPOKEN)1

2

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)3

4

MS. MADELAINE CHOCOLATE PASQUAYAK:   So5

whenever any -- whenever any people come in to Jackson --6

Minister Jackson Lafferty's office to request for7

information, I'm just a half-time worker at Minister8

Jackson Lafferty's office in Yellowknife, but I am9

available to people.  I'm the constituent assistant, and10

that's my position, to work for Mr. Jackson Lafferty's11

office.12

I've heard people speak here today, and13

I've also heard ENR's questions and all the Intervenors. 14

There's been many talk about different -- all people have15

spoken, and I've been writing all your information down16

on a book.17

I have experience firsthand as to how my18

mother and my father have lived their traditional19

lifestyle.  I remember everything and how they have20

raised me.  I am very happy they raised me, even though21

we grew up poor.  But when we lived in Black Dog Camp22

(phonetic), my father came back from Behchoko and he told23

us some stories.  He said that the government is not24

working right, the -- he meant the federal government.25
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He had stated to my mom that the federal1

government is doing wrong to the people.  But regarding2

the duck, it was the -- it was the Canada -- it was the3

duck case in the back, in the -- in the past when the4

people were being questioned whether or not they should5

hunt ducks.  And so, at that time, we were very6

surprised, because they -- they were restricting us from7

hunting ducks back, way back a few years ago.  And so8

when we hear stories like that and we're being restricted9

from eating our own foods, we try to question ourselves10

whether or not -- how can we survive without our own11

food?12

And so -- and so it's -- it's been very,13

very wrong as to how the government has treated our14

people, but now, today -- at the time, I wasn't -- we15

weren't allowed to hunt for Canada goose, so at the time,16

I've never even had a chance to taste Canada goose.  Up17

till now, I've never had opportunity to know what it18

tastes like because I was restricted back in those days.19

And when we grew up we grew up also in a20

residential school and we were raised by resi -- by21

residential school so we had to think in a western style22

of thought.23

But later on as I grew up I had a24

difficult time to fit in with our own community and how25
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our people, lifestyle was.  But even though I didn't fit1

in with our family's lifestyle I began to continue to2

question myself whether or not I -- I live here.3

When my parents refused me to go back to4

high school the following year, they suggested that I5

stay home that year and learn my tradition.6

In those days we weren't receiving family7

allowance or old age pension or any kind of help from8

Federal Government.  Even though we weren't receiving any9

benefits from the Government, we maintained -- we10

maintained our lifestyle.11

My mother -- and we would sew clothing for12

our brothers and our dad and our sisters and this is the13

kind of experience that we've had.14

My mother and father thought that I15

shouldn't continue to live in the western lifestyle so16

they had told me to stay home.  There's a lot of many17

tasks for us to learn and so -- and so in the past even18

though -- even -- even in the past I want to be able to19

remember how good my family, my mother and father taught20

me.21

So when I grew up later on, I became a22

translator.  As a translator I find it so difficult. 23

Even within your agreement there's three (3) sections in24

the agreement that consisted of four hundred (400) words25
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that's so difficult, the four hundred (400) words that1

need work on it.  How can we make any solution or make2

any kind of solution to fix for our wildlife and all our3

plants growing on the land?4

And in our agreement it says that we have5

to protect the land, we have to protect all the plants6

growing on it as well as the wildlife.  And this is all7

stated in our agreement.  We have, in the past, have8

collected a lot of data.  We've collected a lot of data9

in regard to timber, to ducks, to wildlife and so when10

you look in your agreement, this is what's written in11

there.12

And so the three (3) governments are13

stating all together that they are going to protect14

wildlife wherever the wildlife habitat is also.15

And so here we are on Tlicho land and the16

Tlicho Government is responsible also for the protection17

of wildlife and its habitat.  So what kind of resources18

do you have to do that type of work?19

As well, look at Section 22 and that20

Section -- Monfwi Gogha De Niitlee in -- within it is21

Wek'eezhii and within Wek'eezhii is a restriction band22

that was taken by ENR.23

That is the area that you need to work on,24

the ban, the restricted areas and that's what you're25
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supposed to be working on.  And so you have a lot of1

responsibility within -- within our Wek'eezhii, within2

and -- so I really like to -- like -- you have given me3

the opportunity to speak my mind.  Thank you.4

5

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)6

7

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER) 8

9

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:  John Mantla,10

Behchoko...?11

12

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)13

14

MR. JOHN MANTLA:   What Madelaine had said15

regarding the wildlife management within the -- within16

the third and nine-thousand (9,000) square kilometres,17

Tlicho   (DOGRIB SPOKEN) to have consultation with the18

Tlicho citizens to abide the constitution and Tlicho19

Government.20

Tlicho Government violates their agreement21

in the constitution to Tlicho citizens.   They -- Elders22

to come to the meeting because they get paid like six23

hundred (600) -- seven hundred (700) bucks, but us24

ordinary Tlicho citizens don't get one (1) cent.25
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The Caribou Management Board is1

responsible for managing the decline and -- of the2

caribou.  The Government is changing and (TECHNICAL3

DIFFICULTIES) that falls from the sky.4

The man who picks the caribou herd, even5

the climate change when the caribou migrate to our own6

and -- the -- there's weird thickness of ice, they fall7

through the ice and a lot of caribou die.  But I just8

want to -- I just want to verify that the Tlicho9

Government has no responsibility over their own land10

claim, that thirty-nine thousand (39,000) square11

kilometre.12

And Tlicho Government has the full13

authority for jurisdiction in Tlicho land claim, thirty14

dol -- thirty-nine thousand (39,000) square kilometre. 15

They signed a joint proposal without consultation with16

the Tlicho citizens.  And every Tlicho citizens has a17

shareholder in our own land claim.  We own the land. 18

We'll go hunt there.  We're going to hunt.  But I just --19

money, money.  All you don't -- you guys do is money.  We20

don't benefit from Tlicho land claim, or the minerals or21

anything.22

The agreement says that within that23

thirty-nine thousand (39,000) square kilometre Tlicho24

Government has the full authority.  I don't see that25
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today, just joint --  joint because you need funding from1

different source of government.2

This has to stop.  Quit playing around3

with our money and our future generation, our children. 4

When they grow up, they won't have no home because they5

pay too much tax to the communi -- community, government6

and everything.7

You're using our money for meetings.  You8

waste.  There's no -- nothing for kids in Behchoko. 9

That's all I have to say.  Mahsi cho.10

11

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)12

13

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Thank you. 14

Mahsi.  15

16

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)17

18

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:  Evening,19

seven o'clock until nine o'clock, but there's -- whoever20

sign up.  There's lots of people sign up, so we're going21

to give them a chance to speak this evening, so as for22

now, we'll adjourn until this evening.  So the Co-Chair23

will speak to you.24

25
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(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)1

2

CO-CHAIRPERSON GRANT PRYZNYK:   I'd like -3

- for those of you who won't be here later tonight for4

the public session, I'd like to announce that dinner will5

be on around -- between 5:30 and 6:00, somewhere in6

there, so you're welcome to just come back for dinner,7

have a dinner, and then be ready to participate in the8

public session, or just listen to the public session.9

Tomorrow morning we'll reconvene at nine10

o'clock, starting -- call to order at nine o'clock, have11

an opening prayer and the North Slave Metis Alliance will12

be presenting its intervention.  And Robert Turner and13

David Livingstone will be presenting their intervention. 14

And from that point on we'll be following15

the rest of the agenda for Friday.  We will be serving16

lunch tomorrow, so there's food again tomorrow.17

So that's just to provide some advance18

warning of what'll be happening over the next little19

while.  So we'll be going -- we'll be coming back for20

7:00 tonight 'til 9:00 for a public session.  Okay? 21

Mahsi.  See you then.22

23

--- Upon recessing at 4:03 p.m.24

--- Upon commencing at 7:05 p.m.25
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        (DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)1

2

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   We'll3

start.  And we'll have to go make the comments.  So if --4

there's about sixteen (16) people that are present, we5

will get them to talk.  Since people are travelling back6

and forth from Yellowknife, we'll resume at seven o'clock7

and then we'll adjourn at nine o'clock.  8

The first person that will make their9

comment will be Joe Champagne.  Joe Champagne...?10

Joe Champagne from Wahti.  Eight (8) --11

eight (8) minutes to make your comment regarding the12

caribou.  We're talking about joint proposal, the13

renewable...  They -- they presented their -- the14

document.  That would be good if you can just talk on15

that caribou.16

17

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)18

19

GENERAL PUBLIC SESSION:20

21

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)22

23

ELDER JOE CHAMPAGNE:   We've been24

listening to what everybody has been saying all day, and25
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they have been talking about everything that we have been1

talking about.  There's nothing more that we can add.  2

But we have relied on caribou meat, and we3

still use it today.  Since they've been discussing the --4

the issues, and I don't like that at all.  If I think5

about it, it makes me wonder why they're -- they start6

discussing the caribou issues.  Everybody relies on7

caribou, and out on the barren land, there's hardly any8

cabins, and we don't rely on the store-bought food.  We9

cannot kill the caribou, and that's what I've been10

hearing from -- regarding the renewable resource.  And I11

think -- when I think about it, I -- I don't like that12

idea at all.13

And we're happy when we eat really good. 14

If we don't eat, and if we don't eat really good, what's15

going to happen if we get really sick?  If I think about16

all that, I have concern with that.17

And we've been discussing about the animal18

and we've been discussing the issues and that's what19

they're discussing right now.  And even to have collars20

on the caribou, we have concern with that, and I don't21

like that at all.  How many collars has been -- has been22

put on the caribou?  Sometime they might not survive.  I23

won -- it makes me wonder if they survive with a collar,24

even within a year.  And some of them starve to death,25
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and all the collars that have been put on the caribou1

they -- they die due to the collars.2

So when I think about all this I don't3

like that at all.  Why do they have to put collars on4

that?  If they're going to put collars on the caribou,5

maybe they can put it -- they can put it for two (2) or6

three (3) months, and then take the collars off, because7

if they have the collars on, they do die.8

And regarding the caribou, it tends to be9

very scared.  And it's always scared, and it's scared to10

die, and they die of hunger.  And when I think about11

that, I don't like the -- I don't like that at all.  When12

a person is sick, they suffer.  And when we suffer, we13

don't like that at all. 14

And we all will die, and even white people15

would -- will die.  And people will die when they suffer. 16

And when the animal, they can't defend themself.  They17

can't -- they cannot talk and defend themself.  That's18

what I think about.  That's what I wanted to talk about.19

They -- you guys had been discussing what20

we had talked before.  That is all I will say, just those21

things about that I had concern about.  And we're going22

by the time, so this is all I will say.  Thank you.23

24

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)25
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(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)1

2

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Thank you,3

Joe.4

Next person, Peter Sangris...?  Not here. 5

Eddie Sikyea...?  Not here.  6

And Cecilia Wetrade-Boyd...?  Cecilia7

Wetrade-Boyd...?  Not here. 8

Celine Mackenzie...?  Celine Mackenzie...? 9

Not here.  10

Dora Migwi...?11

12

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)13

14

ELDER DORA MIGWI:   Yes, I am very15

grateful that you have given me the opportunity to speak. 16

I have been listening to you for many days, and I have17

heard what you said all these days.  All the concerns18

that we have, you guys have discussed that.  And as for19

me, my name is, Dora Migwi.  My -- my late husband's name20

was Joe Migwi.  21

And right now I will talk to you regarding22

the things that I have concern about.  When my husband23

used to talk about things that he never had missed24

anything.  He used to talk to me.  When you talk about25
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the no-hunting zone, I have concern about it.  And all1

the -- the -- my grandfather had drew that map, and that2

no-hunting zone I have concern.3

Who's going to resolve that?  And that no-4

hunting zone that you're talking about, that's what I5

see.  Who's going to fix that for us?  And we can forgive6

one another.  And people that are meeting here, it's7

always been crowded in here for that many days, and I see8

that.9

You guys can forgive one another.  And how10

people used to shoot caribou in -- in the past, if you11

guys do it the same way, a lot of people would be happy. 12

And our people grew up on the animal, because we've been13

following the caribou in the past.  And we hardly eat any14

store bought meat, we just live on the country food.15

And you guys are not familiar with the16

people.  And as for biologists, sometime they bother17

people.  Sometime diabetic people, we lost a lot of our18

young people.  And my late husband had died of that --19

that disease, too.20

And the doctor had told us that we have to21

live on the country food, and not too much people depend22

on the store bought food -- food.  What will they survive23

on?  You should -- it would be good if you could think24

about all that.  25
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And regarding the caribou -- and you put1

collar on that, they are terrified.  The caribou tends to2

be terrified.  And one (1) time my late husband had3

killed, and the caribou had collar on it.  And all that4

collar, it looked -- it looked all bare, and it looked5

really different, bald.  And he just discard -- got rid6

of it.  That's how the animal suffered.7

What's going to happen in the future?  I8

look at people, I look at the Elders, and there's not too9

much of the Elders.  What's going to happen if just the10

young people take over, and how would their situation be? 11

Even myself, I've got a lot of grandchildren, and I'm the12

only one (1) that talk to them.13

When my children go hunting, I talk to14

them.  I give them the advice.  I told them not to kill -15

- kill too much.  And if you guys going to fix the16

caribou, don't get rid of anything.  And maybe some17

people tend to talk to their children like that.  And in18

the bushes, when the animal roam around, you guys are19

saying that it's declining.20

Ever since we've been living on this21

earth, it's not there to -- the food will always be22

there.  And -- and they had used the hide for clothing. 23

They use it for a tent.  24

But to -- to this day they keep saying25



Page 211

that the caribou are declining.  That's what you are1

saying.  It can't be -- sometime there's -- there tend to2

be lots.  Sometime it declined, and then sometime there's3

-- it gets lots.  Therefore, how my sister-in-law,4

Moise's wife had talked, I -- we used to travel.  They5

made a camp over there.  I used to travel with them, and6

I seen it, I witness all their -- all that, and I'm aware7

of it.8

So who -- who will resolve the issue for9

us?  A lot of people are pitiful.  The Chief, they're10

self -- the -- they are self government.  They have to11

support one another, and come to a good decision.  That12

would be good.  The past Chiefs are good spoken people. 13

They have to support one another.  Come to good decision14

that would be good.  That's what I have concern with.15

So all the people that had spoken, I have16

heard -- heard them, and they are compassion people.  And17

I live by myself and the freezer in my house is just18

empty.  I tell my children to go out hunting, but then19

they're terrified.  And they -- they keep saying, like,20

just wait.  All the map that was drawn up for us can you21

undo all that regarding the hun -- no-hunting zone.22

Think about it because it's our land.  We23

rely on our animals as renewable resources.  The white24

people, you're supposed to watch -- watch the -- watch25
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the people hunt.  They were from Fort Smith.  They --1

they loaded a whole bunch of caribou in -- in the back of2

their truck, and then they went back home.3

As the Aboriginal people, we don't tend to4

kill lots, we just take just enough for ourself.  That is5

-- this is your job.  As the Aboriginal people, you --6

you cannot treat us like this.  We rely on the caribou7

meat.8

Thank you for coming here to visit us. 9

You have heard a lot from other people.  You probably --10

you guys have a hard decision to make.  And everybody11

that has spoken, they are accurate.12

Thank you for giving me the opportunity to13

speak.  Maybe the minute that they gi -- they had given14

me maybe it's -- but my time was up.  15

16

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)17

18

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)19

20

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Thank you,21

Dora.  Two (2) people are supposed to speak.  Cecilia22

Wetrade-Boyd.  Eight (8) minutes.  23

24

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)25
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(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)1

2

MS. CECILIA WETRADE-BOYD:   Thank you. 3

Thank you, my people.  Thank you, my people.  This4

evening you have honoured me to speak.  We're talking5

about caribou.  How is it -- how is it that the caribou6

population has decreased?7

The people, private people are talking8

about it.  Governments are talking about.  ENR is talking9

about it.  All of us are all -- we all live by caribou. 10

We -- we grew up eating caribou meat, and this is our11

food.12

My father, my brothers, all my uncles, my13

aunties, and many, many other people have always worked14

and lived by caribou meat.  They used it only for15

clothing, as well. 16

They use the medicine from the caribou. 17

They used to talk to the caribou and pray to him.  In the18

past, an Elder told me that there was a keeper for19

caribou.  When you say -- when you say things about20

caribou, the animal, it's up to him to roam wherever it21

wants.  It's up to him where the caribou wants to roam,22

and that's how the population herds continue to roam. 23

At this time, today, our -- our -- in our24

lands, the caribou has decreased, and this is the kind of25
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message we're hearing.  Many Elders sitting behind me do1

not understand, neither can they see well.  They can --2

they cannot see all the numbers.  It's just blurry for3

them, all that.  But because caribou is so important,4

even though they are old -- elderly, they are hoping that5

there be a resolution to this problem.6

If we don't know anything, we try to find7

out, we try to investigate, see what the problem is.  Why8

is it all of a sudden we hear this decrease of caribou? 9

This information came out.  Who is it that released that10

information so that we can ask that person questions?11

As well, our leadership, our -- our Tlicho12

leadership have information.  They also have a -- a big13

constitution with our Tlicho Government.  As well, within14

the constitution, we have to also abide by the15

constitution.  I just read it recently, and I'm trying to16

become familiar with our Tlicho constitution.17

People -- the western language is18

difficult to understand.  Sometime they play with the19

words and the language and concepts.20

It seems like every day we have to try to21

educate our people, educate our public.  Just a little22

while ago, an elder asked and said that, if we're not23

sure about something, we should try to find out what's24

going on.  Only then we can speak about any issue, if we25
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know what's going on.1

Just recently, the new Board members, it2

is their first time.  It's a new Board.  We have a new3

Board in place.  As well, when we become into a position4

of any sort, we're not always -- always learn everything5

about it, so we have to investigate what the position is.6

We have to investigate with our Elders. 7

They're the ones that are advisors, and even though I8

went to school, I still ask them for advice.  And so, up9

until now, this is how we've come to be, by the Elders'10

advice.  We didn't come here up to this day with leaders,11

with GNWT or any government leading us, just our people12

and our Elders.13

And so wildlife is something that our14

Elders have always maintained.  They have always kept15

wildlife always well, and they've always conserved16

wildlife.  And so when they say that there's a decrease17

in numbers and they've shown numbers, we're still not18

sure what -- what the numbers are.19

How many of the wildlife or caribou have20

been -- have had health problems?  The -- the wildlife21

caribou, they're on their own, they take care of their22

own health.  In the spring, in the fall, they know what23

they have to do.  They have their own schedule, they have24

their own cycle as to how they live, and so when we talk25
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about caribou, we've never had anybody in our community1

thinking that they're going to make money out of selling2

caribou meat.3

And so when -- when our Elders observe4

that cow -- buffalos are coming this way, coming closer5

to our communities, maybe it's the response -- maybe it's6

because buffalos are closing in on the communities so7

close that the caribou are diverting rather than going8

into this direction.9

As well, there's a lot of more hunting,10

faster hunting machines -- not only Ski-doos, but they11

also go hunting with vehicles, and I'm sure, like12

anything else, the caribou would be stressed from all13

this noise and hunting activity.14

I know all these things happening because15

I grew up here in the community.  Because we are Dene, my16

grandmother told me I had to be Dene, and my father was a17

bush man.  He has -- he has a name, and we call him the18

Bush Man.  And -- and he raised us with very good meat,19

very good food.20

And when we watched my father as to how he21

supported us, fishing, bringing in good spruce boughs,22

and fishing and hunting, all this good food that he23

provided for us does -- does not -- is -- is so different24

from what they sell at the stores for meat today.25
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So we -- we use up all the fish -- fish1

guts so that it gives us a lot of protein and nourishment2

from the good food from the land.  And so that is why3

when the Elders talk about food, it's very important to4

them.  And so this is why we need -- so we need to5

continue to communicate.6

So with -- with caribou, you don't bother7

the caribou.  We don't -- we don't harass the caribou. 8

The caribou has its own life, the caribou has its own9

creator, so as human beings, we can't wipe out all the10

caribou.11

Let's work together.  Let's -- let's put12

our minds together.  Let's understand what's going on and13

have answers so that we can try to solve some problem. 14

If we know that there is some kind of solution, we should15

quickly talk about it and work on it.16

If something wrong is said also, that also17

has to be resolved.  We as -- as Aboriginal people want18

to have a good life.  We're all related in some way or19

another.  We're all kind of like family.  And so our --20

the people of ENR Department, some people they grew up21

here.  Their ancestors are also from here.  They are also22

-- should be compassion, show compassion when they try to23

work with their -- in their jobs to -- to work for24

community people.25
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And so we as Tlicho people have a1

constitution.  We have a constitution.  Do we understand2

our constitution?  The boundary that Monfwi had selected3

for our people, we assume that within that area we were4

to be controlling our own resources, controlling our own5

life, and that we would be self government.6

As well, there are land resources.  We7

know that there's many changes going on today, and I'm8

sure that will continue on, but at the same time, we --9

we -- we need to work together so that we can continue to10

preserve and conserve for the future.11

I lived in Alberta for over ten (10)12

years, in northern Alberta.  Suncor, Syncrude, companies13

are making development so bad that it's ruining the14

waters, it's ruining the trees, all the things that the15

people should be using for their livelihood, and the16

water, as well, and the fish.  Then also there's a lot of17

concern over forest fires.  18

And so as people of the NWT, we want to19

live well, but we need to concentrate and focus.  What20

kind of responsibility do we have?   If we're not quite21

sure, then we need to talk to our leadership.  And so it22

would be nice if we had this person here who had released23

this information as to why -- as to how -- as to the24

decline of caribou.25
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There are many biologists, many scientists1

in -- in the room.  I mean, our Elders, because they've -2

- they've had first-hand experience on the land.  They've3

experienced all their lifetime.  They've maintained their4

language.  Everything that they've done and what they say5

today is -- is very true.  If we ask them to help us they6

can help us.7

And so I think also I want things to go8

right.  I want things to be done right, because we're9

working together.  And even though people from the other10

-- people other than Aboriginal people are in the11

Northwest Territories within our communities, we -- we12

try to respect one another and show each other13

appreciation, because there's not a lot of people who14

have clothing, who have food, adequate food and clothing,15

as well as adequate housing.  And so there's a lot of16

concern from the Elders, as well.17

If the constitution is not right, we need18

to look at where the areas in the constitution need to be19

corrected.  It's not written in stone.  Thank you.20

21

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)22

23

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   You are at24

eight (8) minutes now.25
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(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)1

2

MS. CECILIA WETRADE-BOYD:   Thank you, my3

people.  Thank you.  I want to share this with you. 4

Thank you.5

6

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)7

8

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Next we9

have Celine MacKenzie.  Celine MacKenzie...?10

11

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)12

13

MS. CELINE MACKENZIE-VUKSON:   Thank you. 14

Thank you.  I -- I'm -- I'm far away from my home.  I had15

to travel far to get here.  When I was at home, I heard16

the news here.  When I was at home, I heard that -- I17

live in Ontario, in -- in Ontario, and -- and now it's18

been some -- something like over thirty (30) years that19

I've been living in Ontario.  My husband works there in20

Ontario, and so -- and so he's still continuing to work,21

so we live in Ontario.22

And maybe you may not know who I am, so I23

will tell you what my name is.  My name is Celine24

Mackenzie-Vukson.  I am from here, from Behchoko.  When I25
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was a young girl, I grew up in Behchoko.  My mom and dad1

are Joe and Julie Mackenzie.2

And so the reason why I want to speak3

tonight is because, within the Tlicho Agreement, I want4

to speak to you about it.5

I'm not a very -- I'm not a very educated6

person.  I'm still a student, but we've been studying,7

and sometime we continue to monitor what's going on as8

we're going to make any statement.  And so when we look9

at papers, we see western science, western knowledge, and10

traditional knowledge is not the same.  And so our -- our11

people, our Elders, have told us that for many years.  My12

dad told me that also, that western knowledge and13

traditional knowledge are not the same.14

Our stories from our grandmothers, we've15

heard many stories, and so -- and so what -- how we lived16

in the past and how we survived by our wildlife is what17

our great Chief have also talked about.  And we've heard18

their voices talking about -- and if there was not to be19

any restrictions on our people.  This is the kind of20

message we heard from our past leadership.21

And so this Tlicho Agreement, we need to22

have our traditional knowledge in there, as well, and in23

-- and when the people arrived in Ottawa, I was so happy24

about the agreement that was put in place for our people25
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that -- I was so happy when I met up with our Tlicho1

Nation in Ottawa.2

And I come to Behchoko every year.  And so3

when we look at the agreement, it is written -- it --4

it's written -- what -- what is written is there were to5

be no restrictions.  There were to be no restrictions6

imposed on us, and it's written within the Monfwi area. 7

And also there was an -- an area where there is self-8

determination, right?  And so, because of that, words in9

there, in the -- in the agreement, I was so happy that --10

so maybe -- maybe within the agreement, there are things11

that are written in there that we thought that -- and so12

when anything -- and when anything happens, it happened13

fast.14

But -- but now we're talking about the15

land claim, the agreement that we have in place.  Why is16

it that there have been restrictions imposed on us when17

there should not be with -- as it states in the18

agreement?19

And, as well, it also states that there's20

protected areas, as well, and -- and they are talking21

about within Wek'eezhii and they're talking emergency22

actions, Emergency Measures Act.23

This is what it seemed like that they will24

resolve the problem.  Which government will resolve the25
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problem for us?  And so when we look at it -- when we1

look at territorial government, it's a small "G"2

government.  3

And so -- so who is the small "G"4

Government?  So -- so we need to look at the appendix and5

look into further the book.  Then if you look under6

definitions, which government does it mean when they're7

referring to the book under small "G" government?8

And so when I looked further into the9

book, and so if that -- they had -- they had meant the10

Federal Government of Canada.  They were referring to, a)11

Federal Government of Canada; b) would be territorial12

government.  And then underneath territorial government13

would be the successor.14

And so -- and so under (c) -- and so the15

Government of Canada and the territorial government were16

the ones that they were referring to to resolve the17

problem.  And so when I heard this news at home, I -- I18

wondered how can we fix this problem.19

We have our leadership here.  We have our20

lawyers here.  They're the ones that have to tell us how21

we can fix it.  We want to learn more on the issue. 22

We're talking about working together.  23

If there's any problem, we need to fix24

those problems, so as in regard to the land claims -- in25
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-- in regard to the agreement, we're talking about a huge1

land, and so we need to be included in all this2

management.3

In the past, our ancestors have always4

travelled on the land.  And I've heard -- also, I've5

collected stories, and they always referred to the land,6

how much they loved and respect the land.7

And so when I talk to the Elders here, I8

talk to the women Elders, you're just like our mothers. 9

You are our boss.  Now that we are orphans, you become10

our parents.  You become our spokespeople.11

As well, they pray.  They want to pray for12

us.  And so the land that we're talking about is all on13

this paper.  It's all there on paper.  When are we going14

to be further educated on the agreement so that we can15

understand the agreement?16

You understand, there are many Intervenors17

who spoke, and they were talking so fast that you wonder,18

in the end, what are they talking about.  And that's just19

the way it is.  And so I wonder how -- what's going to20

happen?21

They -- they had always maintained and22

said there were to be no restrictions placed upon our23

people, and so -- and so our Elders have lived in the24

past and have come here.25
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We're talking about controlling our land1

and our resources.  We are going to be land -- boss of2

the land.  This is -- this is the kind of information and3

agreement that we fixed.  4

And so now there's a big concern about5

caribou.  We eat caribou.  When our parents sent us to6

school, even at residential school, when they sent us a7

little package -- when we got a package of caribou meat8

from -- at the -- at the residential school, sometimes9

they'd send us dry meat with fat, we were so happy that10

we almost cried.  And this is the kind of experience that11

we've had.12

And so we need to revisit the agreement. 13

The agreement -- the lawyers who have put these -- put14

this agreement and put these proposal together, we need15

to look at that.  And so, as people, if we have a16

determination to do anything, we could it. 17

But it seems like, at the same time, when18

you read the paper, we're kind of being controlled also19

by territorial and Federal Government.  Thank you.20

21

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)22

23

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)24

25
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CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Mary1

Christine Chinkon, Elder from Behchoko...?  Mary2

Christine Chinkon...?  3

Melanie Lafferty...?  4

5

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)6

7

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)8

9

ELDER MELANIE LAFFERTY:   Thank you. 10

Thank you.  Many people have spoken up and there are11

many, many people.  Maybe some of them are telling the12

truth, just like, for example, the young ladies that13

spoke just recently.  I'm so happy they spoke up.14

It's good when you're able to read and15

write, when you're able to speak English.  When you're16

able to understand, you can think clear and understand17

more, and so I'm very proud to hear them speak because18

they've been educated.19

As for me, I don't speak a word of20

English.  I don't know how to write my name.  But at the21

same time, we know how our -- our grandfathers and our22

parents have raised us, our mother and our father.  We23

have to speak about it.24

And I'm only here to speak about only one25
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(1) wildlife.  When I heard on radio that they had1

mentioned for three (3) months that there'll be a ban on2

hunting caribou, when I heard that news on radio, it --3

it brought me down so hard that it made me weak.4

Since the beginning of time, since God5

created this world, for many thousand of years, they're6

saying that the wildlife that he's created for -- for7

people, they use it every day and they're grateful for8

all the wildlife. 9

And that's how people raise each other. 10

And so people -- people in the past struggled.  We all11

understand and know that.  But now we're at our -- at our12

mature age.  Up until now, we've only been eating13

caribou.14

Caribou, small wildlife, fish is all the15

diet that we've been able -- that we've had to eat.  This16

has -- this has been our main diet.  But that is why17

we're -- we're healthy.  That is why. 18

But, today, as you speak about this, it's19

not right for us.  We're elderly -- elderly women now. 20

The elderly women behind me, what if the five (5) women21

speak out?  Do you think that you'd be able to show22

compassion and help us so that we can continue hunting,23

as we've had in the past?  Ask us for forgiveness.  Maybe24

if you look back to -- and talk and speak to us, it would25
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be good.1

Right now, you look at the land where --2

many people have spoke about that map.  I can hear all3

this information on radio.  Who made that -- who had4

chosen that area on map?  That is my grandfather.  He was5

my grandfather who had sketched out a parcel of land. 6

When he chose to be -- become and make -- so that they7

had treaty money at that time.8

So at the time when they accepted to that,9

they had made many agreements and we wanted to keep those10

agreement in place.  So if you want to help our people,11

these are the things that you have to remember and -- and12

to consider.  But that's all I want to say for now. 13

Thank you.14

15

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)16

17

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Next18

speaker, Phillip Whane.19

20

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)21

22

ELDER PHILLIP WHANE:   Yes, thank you.  We23

are having a discussion.  My name is Phillip Whane.  I've24

been listening to all the people that have been talking. 25
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My grandfather raised me.  He -- he witnessed the signing1

of the treaty, and -- and I want to talk to you about the2

treaty.3

Right now there's a lot of concern about4

the caribou issues.  When we had meeting in Gameti the --5

we had spoken about the collars on the caribou.  Right6

now there's a lot of commotion over caribou issues, and -7

- and I have concern.  I'm worrying about my people.8

There is about four (4) people right9

behind me, and Louise (phonetic) Whane was there, Joseph10

Pee (phonetic), his wife, and Elizabeth Airmaker11

(phonetic).  And when there was no meat in Wekweeti,12

there is -- they went through a lot of hardship and I got13

a lot of family in Wekweeti.14

When I heard over the radio about no-15

hunting zone, I had a lot of concern.  There's a lot of16

commotion over the caribou issues.  What -- what is going17

on?  Monf -- when Monfwi was alive, when he was alive, my18

grandfather had spoken about it, and -- and that priest19

came to visit, and one (1) of the constable, RCMP, and20

they went to visit the -- those people at Hudson Bay,21

when there was no renewable resources at that -- officer22

then, and there was no outfitters back then.23

There was no hassle over caribou issues. 24

There was nothing like that at that time.  And when Chief25
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Beeno (phonetic) took over, that's when the renewable1

resources officer came.  If -- if we were the only2

people, there wouldn't be so much commotion over caribou3

issues.4

I'm not talking about -- I'm not upsetting5

those people that are outfitters.  I don't want you to be6

angry.  We're just giving you guys the straight facts7

about what we've been told by our grand -- grandfathers.8

And there's a lot of white people around9

us.  And, at that time, there was hardly any.  We grew up10

in the bushes.  We travelled in the bushes.  There was11

only two (2) of us, and he would tell me stories.  He was12

hungry, and when that old man raised me, that's how my13

grandfather had raced me.  That old man that raised me,14

he raised me through meat.  Maybe we would carry only a15

lard and the bread, that's about it.  And when we killed16

rabbit, we would eat that.  There's fishes and sometime17

we would have dry fish.  That's how we used to go18

hunting.  That's how my grandfather used to travel with19

me.20

Right now there's outfitters, there's21

renewable resources officers, and they're talking about22

the caribou collars.  And I don't like the idea about the23

collars being on the caribou.  It makes me feel like24

crying, and I think about myself.25
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When I have a small pebble under my feet,1

in my socks, I would end up with sore feet, and I2

wouldn't feel comfortable walking with that.  When the3

caribou has collar on them, it -- it has never had collar4

before.  They wouldn't feel comfortable.  They cannot5

eat, they cannot sleep, just like maybe the -- the animal6

is suffering a lot, and -- and we would -- we would7

suffer if we had -- were in a same situation.  And if we8

walk around, we would end up with sores.  Everybody is9

aware of it.10

And it -- it would be okay if the collars11

wouldn't have to be on caribou.  It doesn't has to be12

like that.  When I think about that, I have concern about13

it.14

When Monfwi -- we never had a caribou15

issues.  Even the Chief Beeno (phonetic), every year16

people used to work really well together.  Right now17

there's renewable resources, there's outfitters, but you18

guys are having discussion about that.  A lot of people19

are compassionate, and they are pitiful, too.20

And -- and if we can give them a chance to21

have their own freedom of -- of them to hunt as they22

please, it would be really appreciated.23

That is all I will say about that.24

25
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(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)1

2

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)3

4

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   The next5

person to speak is Johnny Simpson.6

7

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)8

9

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)10

11

MR. JOHNNY SIMPSON:   Thank you.  My name12

is  Johnny Simpson.  I'm from Whati.13

These men, these -- that many people that14

spoke, their words is very powerful, and the presenters15

that presented did a good job.  But regarding the caribou16

issue, why is it that the caribou is declining?  And this17

is what we heard in these past few days that we've been18

meeting.19

So we're concerned about these things, and20

there's no-hunting zone, and we have to live with this,21

and also, since 1921 until today, we -- we are still22

Treaty 11.23

In Northwest Territories, we are24

considered Treaty 11, the western ter -- Northwest25



Page 233

Territories.  And, also, we -- in 1921, Monfwi had1

outlined the map and received the treaty, and this is not2

like any others, so -- but this Aboriginal rights -- when3

we say "Aboriginal rights," it's the Canadian4

Constitution -- it's within the Constitution.  It's a5

powerful tool.  6

So with the land claims -- settlement of7

the land claims, we're supposed to be working on the8

implementations, but first we have to be consulted if9

there's -- and just recently on our land, on Tlicho10

lands, there are many industries that are up and coming.11

And in the past twenty (20) years there's12

many changes that we witnessed.  And today we know what's13

happening outside with the climate change, so these14

things have been taking place recently, so -- but these15

are the ENR.  They share their experience of what's been16

done and what had took -- taken place, and also, some of17

the outfitters that have business, and -- and also, the18

environment too.19

The environmentalist that work among us,20

so they are like the doctors.  And some of the scientists21

are the doctors, and they follow, and they're -- they22

speak with their studies and research that they did.23

There's lots of changes that took place on24

our land since 1995.  All -- in the Northwest Territories25
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there's mines that developed and in operation today.  And1

also, on our land, around -- since 1970, there's been a2

couple of dams that have been -- that have been built, so3

some of the things that we don't talk to each other4

about, so we don't know about what's happening on --5

within our neighbouring.6

Since 1976 -- in Fort Smith, I attended7

ABTC College the first time in 1976.  And when I don't8

attend classes in the evening, I tend to study different9

issues.  So I came upon the Northern Quebec project.  10

In Northern Quebec they want to build a11

dam in 1970.  That's when they started consulting with12

the people.  Those Cree people, just as we live in our13

community, that's how they used to live in -- in Northern14

Quebec.  15

They used to go trapping, hunting, and go16

beaver hunting, and they go fishing, and that's how they17

used to live, just as we live today here, and that's how18

they used to live in...19

And since the government is starting to20

negotiate with the Cree people, so you're not using the21

river and you're not developing anything on the river, so22

we're going to build a dam.  And so we will develop the23

communities for you.  And this was said to them.24

So -- so the people that -- who are living25
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there were convinced, and so they ended up building a1

dam, so all the people that used to go hunting on the2

caribou lands, and all -- the level of the water had3

rise, and it's within the caribou hunting area and the4

use is for clothing and these places were flooded out so5

the water's not going to flow down, so because of the6

dam.7

So on the other side of the dam on the8

water that -- that's on the other side of the dam, the9

water level went low so it just became a stream.10

So the dam was built so everything that11

was alive that used the river down from the dam they used12

to live along the river.  But many years have passed and13

all the communities had moved to the big cities and they14

lost their communities and the water had rise on the --15

once they built the dam so all the people were moved to16

the city.  So today, they're still living in a city.  17

On this side of the dam the water that18

flows into Ontario -- the river that flow to Ontario19

there's a different pooling of the river on the outside20

so the people who had -- the people who lived along the21

river, some of the people got sick and since 1976/'7722

they had lost lots of people.23

And in the water, I don't know what kind24

of sediments is in the water but even the fish who live25
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in the water -- so the people that fish in the water that1

live along the river that depend on the wildlife, some of2

the people had contact with a disease and they got sick. 3

And because of the chemicals that were -- so they got4

sick from this sickness but within -- within our lands we5

have many of the mines that were built and also in the6

migration of the caribou, migration route.7

And so they -- it's like they build a dam8

on our land and after this past few days, the Elders talk9

about the caribou.  The elderly women talk about caribou. 10

They say that the caribou is terrified and it's true. 11

And some of the things that caribou -- the hunt, I think12

two (2) years ago we were taught about these things.13

And so just developing the Wek'eezhii14

Renewable Resource Board these members they have to -- to15

make a decision.  We're aware of this.  And it's a very16

big issue.  Since 1921, since the signing of the Treaty17

what -- how the government was supposed to be working18

with us, it's not working in that manner and this is a19

very big issue that we are talking about.20

So when we're talking about this kind of21

issue do we -- there's lots of people that are involved. 22

There's Renewable Resource, there's Wildlife officers and23

there's people that work in the forest industry and24

everybody's involved.25



Page 237

So this kind of issue -- so the Tlicho1

have many cabins out on the land and -- and be good to2

have one of the Tlicho citizens to be sitting on -- this3

kind of -- the environment is a very difficult issue.4

And -- and so these kind of issues is very5

difficult.  It's not only that.  Along the river in -- on6

Tlicho lands are we monitoring our waters, how is the7

conditions of the water, and there's a lot people that8

work that use the airplane to travel and also they use9

helicopter to track the caribou, and also, beyond the10

dams, how's -- how's the condition beyond the dam?  We --11

we should do some research on this kind of topic.  It12

would be good.13

So if there's any industries coming up, we14

don't know about these things, so if there's anything15

harm happening to the land, it would be good to identify16

these things for -- because these are very important17

issues.18

So thank you very much.19

20

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)21

22

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)23

24

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Thank you,25
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Johnny.1

Next speaker is Charlie Simpson.  So how2

can we improve the proposal?  It'd be good to speak to3

this.  So there's a lot of people that are listening. 4

Charlie Simpson.  Is he here?  Eight (8) minutes.5

6

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)7

8

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)9

10

MR. CHARLIE SIMPSON:   My name is Charlie11

Simpson from Whati.  Thank you for giving me the12

opportunity to speak.  I never spoken in front of a crowd13

like this.  I just want to -- I came here Tuesday, but I14

-- I -- John McCarey (phonetic) was speaking, so I came15

back today.  I drove back this way at 2:00 in the16

afternoon just to speak to the Renewable Resource Board.17

So regarding the reduction of the -- I18

don't want to blame anybody.  So I've been thinking about19

it for ten (10) years, the reduction of the caribou.  For20

me, it seems like it's the truth.  Some people I work21

with that -- one (1) Elder -- I was sitting beside one of22

the Elder that pass on in the past ten (10) years, and23

maybe some of the Chiefs notice.24

So -- so at -- at that time there was a25
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hundred and thirty-nine thousand (139,000) caribou at1

that time, I think.  When I was sitting beside that guy,2

they said the population of the caribou was a hundred3

thirty-nine (139).4

So when the ENR monitors the caribou, do5

they know the monitoring during -- during the springtime6

it migrates to the barren lands.  Sometimes the caribou7

fall through the ice, and also, when the caribou migrate8

down to the treeline, remember how many caribou fall9

through the ice.  I always think about this.10

And also there's lots of, like, wolf. 11

Probably the wolf takes many of the caribou, even in12

Wekweti, because a -- a wolf eats all the time, and also13

the bear.  It'd be good to have that in our monitoring to14

see maybe we should be harvesting more wolf.15

I just wanted to tell you this.  I'm not16

saying that I will be speaking long, and this is all I17

have to say.  Thank you very much.18

19

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)20

21

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)22

23

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Thank you,24

Charlie.25
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North Douglas...?  North Douglas...? 1

North Douglas....?  Is he here?  No?2

That's all the people had signed up, and -3

- and we have forty-five (45) minutes.4

Okay, William.  William Weyellon.  Eight5

(8) minutes.6

7

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)8

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)9

10

MR. WILLIAM WEYELLON:   They said no11

hunting, so all that area that was selected for us as12

young people, we hunt for the Elders, and in springtime13

we provide meat to them.  Nowadays, some of the Elders14

are say -- they keep telling me, why don't you hunt for15

us, but there is no-hunting zone that is in place.16

When they put that no-hunting zone in17

place, I was thinking, since we negotiated that land18

claim, and the -- any government official's supposed to19

get permission from us.  That's what I was thinking.20

Just like they don't have any respect for21

us, that's how I look at it.  What was he thinking?  What22

were they thinking when they put that no-hunting zone in23

place?  It would have been good if he asked us or consult24

with us.  Maybe he had consulted our leaders, but if25
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we're going to go hunting right now, we have to go to far1

distant to hunting.  It -- it is far.2

And there is caribou around Wekweeti. 3

What I was thinking, the renewable resources, they're4

supposed to be monitoring the white people, not the5

treaty people.  Since -- I was thinking that they're not6

supposed to disrespect us.7

Does -- I was thinking, if we tell him to8

put the treaty beside us and sit down, I thought he would9

sit down, but it didn't happen.  Right now we have big10

concern.  Today the no-hunting zone, I thought -- I11

thought that we weren't going to plead with them and12

hide.  Now it's a different story.13

I thought they would consult us since we14

finalized our land claim.  Why should we plead with them? 15

They're supposed to consult with us.  And that government16

-- that -- that government person had grew up in this17

area.  We've got family.  We've got parents.  We've got18

our grandparents.  Even different Elder, we -- we still19

call that person grandpa.  20

Our parents had given us advice.  We21

listened to them, and we still respect each other, even22

any animal meat we share -- we share among each other. 23

But nowadays it's not like that.  Even the renewable24

resources office, what Johnny had -- Simpson had said,25
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one (1) community -- he said that each community should1

have renewable resources.2

White people can held that position.  When3

-- when white people are hired, we have to teach them. 4

Just because they have their diploma, they think they're5

-- they're well educated.  Us, we have good teachers. 6

That's why Tlicho people are fluent and they speak well7

in their language.  8

When some of them are speaking, if they9

undo some of the things -- since the land claim had been10

negotiated, I used to hunt for the Elders.11

Right now I'm in the position where I can12

no longer hunt for them.  They said they can help me out13

with gas but I'm still -- I can't do that.  Just like I14

don't want things to be taken away from me.15

And I don't want to be in the newspaper. 16

And they -- they probably sometime -- I don't want to be17

on the front page and being described as things been18

confiscated -- confiscated from -- from me.19

That is all I will say for now.  Thank20

you.21

22

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)23

24

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Chief25
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Charlie Football.1

2

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)3

4

CHIEF CHARLIE FOOTBALL:   Thank you for5

giving me the chance to speak.  We're talking about the6

caribou.  It seems like we have a lot of disagreement. 7

That's why it's very difficult.8

I live in Wekweeti.  A lot of caribou goes9

through there when we kill caribou.  When we kill caribou10

and all the meat gets blue and sometime we get rid of a11

lot of caribou meat.12

Since I became the Chief I haven't killed13

a -- killed any caribou.  My son go hunting and they tell14

me stories and Joseph, you know the stories about that15

too.16

What happen with us now -- what we're17

saying is let's revisit the issue.  Gameti, Wekweeti, you18

guys must have went hunting even for a fall hunt.19

Has the caribou been sick?  Have you guys20

seen it?  I would like to hear that from you if there's21

none.  And in the barren land whatever there is and we22

want to find out the cause of what kind of a disease is23

there.24

If I'm sick I can see the doctor.  There's25
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medication provided.  But when the caribou is sick, how1

is the caribou going get back into healthy -- get2

healthy?3

They lick each -- each other and they get4

back into good health if there's nothing.  Think about5

this.  And -- and my people there's a Lockhart Lake. 6

There's a satellite that had fallen and they must have --7

a lot of contaminated area over there.8

Right now there's a lot of mines and9

that's where the caribou are eating.  That's how the10

caribou is looking.  That's why there's lot of commotion. 11

There's a lot of fuss.12

Let's revisit the issues.  What is the13

cost of all this?  Let's resolve the issues if the14

caribou is back.  If we're going to reopen -- open this,15

this is what we're saying and this is what I'm hearing16

right now.17

So I just want to tell a short story. 18

Just like we're living in Wekweeti right now and not too19

far from us there's a place called Sunti (phonetic). 20

That's where the developing activities is happening.21

There's about -- they're just doing this22

just on my doorstep but they haven't hired any of my23

people.  Why are they hiring people from elsewhere? 24

When I ask him the question he said, I'm25
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not the one that's hiring.  It's somebody else from1

Behchoko is hiring.  But I contacted that person.  They2

said that's all a lie.  And Renewable Resources had3

contract.  They stopped the contract.  And right now my4

people are without jobs.  When they -- they go on EI --5

EI.  Right now they're not employed.6

Now they -- they used to live on -- rely7

on caribou.  And we used to help them -- assist them with8

gas and ammunition, but everything had stop.  Therefore,9

what are they planning to do with us?  That's what I'm10

thinking.11

Right now that elected Monfwi is among us. 12

One point four million has been transferred.  We heard13

that he -- he will work with a lot of students.  Right14

now there's a lot of unemployed young people in my -- in15

my community, and I want him to help us in -- in that16

situation.  That's why I want to speak on this.17

18

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)19

20

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)21

22

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   George --23

George Mackenzie.  And after George is Isador Charlie and24

then Joe Nedin and then Joe Black. 25
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(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)1

2

MR. GEORGE MACKENZIE:   Mahsi.  Thank you. 3

Wek'eezhii Land and Water Board, I'm a member.  I know4

I've got to be neutral.  I know this, but it's because5

regarding the caribou Wek'eezhii Renewable Resource,6

because I ask that lawyer. 7

And there's -- we have only eight (8)8

minutes, everybody.  It's good that people know the full9

story.  Without the caribou, the animal we're talking10

about, why is it that north -- Northwest Territories, the11

government is in control of the -- and that's how it's12

written on the agreement.13

Whoever is the one that agreed to the14

Tlicho Agreement, that's the reason why it's -- so the15

territorial government can do what they can do.  So for16

this reason -- this -- they took the steps.  Whatever --17

if there's a reduction of caribou -- regarding the18

protected areas, they can with -- they -- they can19

develop a particular are and -- and it would be good that20

the population, the people know about this.  We should21

give them a chance.22

And -- and give them an opportunity to23

tell that they can do what they want, and this is how24

it's been, so -- and on two (2) instances we had a -- in25
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Inuvik, at the meeting in Inuvik, we refused the interim1

measures that was proposed so that the GNWT, we don't2

want to give the GNWT the opportunity, that's why we put3

a delay on it.  And also, they came in here -- and Leon4

had said this -- this caribou, how do you do the full5

count when you don't know the total account, and we can't6

give you the okay.7

The reason why I said this is that when we8

come to a point where -- and because they're going to do9

with words, I didn't want to agree with them.  So for do10

the research -- do the full research and give us the11

information and we'll do -- the reason why I was saying12

this, because I don't want to give them an opportunity. 13

That's the reason why I had said this.14

And today, what is going to happen?  We15

know what they did -- why -- what was the reason behind16

it?  So this -- the reason they did this is because they17

can do it under the Wildlife Act.  They don't have to18

consult because we can create a protected area, and this19

is how.  20

And there can be illegal actions.  How can21

we help ourselves?  What will we do next?  So how will we22

help ourselves?  And Charlie Jen (phonetic),  let's23

revisit this, and this is what Charlie Jen.  It's good24

that it'd be better to let the people understand our25
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caribou, our knowledge, and our stories.  It's all1

contained in it.2

For this reason, we are saying this.  So3

what's going to happen?  What will the Wek'eezhii4

Renewable Resource Board do?  There's only one (1) way,5

and it'd be good for the Northwest Territories.  Let's6

work together and -- and create a co-management plan and7

just make a decision for the Wek'eezhii, and we'll8

probably say yes to each other.9

So once we do our work and after different10

disasters, but there's going to be more powerful, so11

we're going to end up saying yes, and they will be happy. 12

In the end -- in the end, it'll be up to them, and we'll13

be facing an emergency situation, so -- and, in the end,14

it'll be up to them to make the decision.15

And today this is what they are doing. 16

Probably people are not worse.  In Chapter 16 there's17

emergencies measure including into Chapter 16.  We can18

take a look at the agreement.  If we're going to be a19

government, we're supposed to be a hundred percent20

government.21

When we're be taking control of the22

emergency measures, we're supposed to be -- today, the23

territorial government is in control of the emergency24

measures.  25
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So what will we do?  We have to meet1

together, discu -- have a co-management plan that2

included into this.  If we agree, it will be a good3

thing.  This emergency we're talking about, emergency4

measures, we agree with each other, it will be up to --5

it will -- will not be up to the GNWT.6

The white people know what is written in7

emergency measures, so it's up -- we, the Tlicho people,8

do we really understand the emergency measures?  The9

emergency, nobody mentioned this.  The lawyers never even10

mentioned this because it's half of my problem.  I signed11

this, and it's up to the GNWT.  We all did this.  12

If we resolve this issue, people will be13

hel -- happy.  If we never fix -- resolve this issue, it14

will be in the hands of the Government of Northwest15

Territories.  We're not supposed to be talking in this16

manner.17

If the emergency measures was not taken --18

put in place, they -- the territorial government knows19

about this, and they put up a no-hunting zone and they20

give subsidized gas, and we're thankful that we got the21

fuel for our hunting trips.22

Yesterday people spoke.  There's four (4)23

elderly women that spoke.  I'm very thankful the way they24

spoke from their heart, and it's good to listen to these25
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kind of people.  If people are talking one after another,1

they're not talking from their hearts.  We know about2

this.  3

And we're going to be finishing up, and4

tomorrow's the last day, and so it's going to be up to5

the Wek'eezhii Renewable Resource Board.  And if they6

make a decision -- and if there's an agreement, and then7

we will be in control, and nobody -- but if it's up to8

the GNWT and we're not -- we don't full -- we don't know9

the full -- we don't know the full information about the10

population, then if we say that -- agree with them about11

emergency measures enclosed but we can't -- can't say12

that.13

But everybody's hearing all the people in14

-- in English not to manage the caribou.  But nobody can15

say this but it's -- who have told him to say this?  We,16

the Aboriginal people, that hunt the caribou, the way we17

care for the caribou, we know how to manage the caribou,18

even on top of that we want somebody else to manage and19

these things can't be said but it's being said.  So if20

the ENR is happy they going to be in control, they going21

to manage it.22

But us Aboriginal, we're not suppose to be23

speaking like this but one of our Chief has spoke like --24

in this manner and we have to think about this on a -- I25
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was suppose to be neutral because I'm on the Wek'eezhii1

Land and Water.2

If our leaders can remove me, they will do3

that and they have the responsibility so think about what4

I have said.  We're in emergency situation.5

So we have to face and we should resolve6

this issue and -- and they can use this to attack us.  So7

I just want to say this, thank you very much.8

9

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)10

11

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)12

13

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:  Thank you,14

George.  Isador Charlie...?15

16

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)17

18

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)19

20

ELDER ISADOR CHARLIE:   I will talk to you21

for a short while.  We're talking about caribou.  Beeno22

(phonetic) was the Chief in 1960 when they were talking23

about caribou. 24

And we were given a Bombardier.  We had25
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dog teams.  When the manager drove Brian Wakeen1

(phonetic) from Fort Smith they used to had a headquarter2

over there.  From here we had the RCMP and Abney Black3

(phonetic).4

We -- we travelled to -- we went -- we5

travelled by Bombardier.  When -- there was a lot of tent6

when we got there.  And there was a young fellow walking7

around.  I asked him where the Chief's tent was and we8

went to visit him.  And he -- the old man and his wife,9

they were sitting on -- on the spruce bough.  They were10

talking about caribou and -- and the head of the11

Renewable Resources said -- he said -- he said they will12

shoot the caribou.13

We're saying this because the caribou are14

declining but the old man keeps saying that I was the15

interpreter.  And I was saying interpreter for RCMP.  And16

the old man told me go out and then we walked out.  We17

went back -- we went back with the Bombardier.  He asked18

me why I left.  I told him that the old man told me to19

leave.20

And we used to travel a lot.  And right21

now there's a lot of declining.  That's what happen. 22

When Edward Zoe was shooting some caribou and we went23

there with dog team, we had three (3) dogs but we went24

over there and Vatel Thomas (phonetic) was working for25
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RCMP.  And there is lot of caribou there.  And I dragged1

one (1) to the caribou.  I said the RCMP told Edward Zoe,2

You're not suppose to shoot a caribou.3

And Edward Zoe said, I never ate for a4

long time that's why I killed the caribou.  That's what -5

- that's what happened in the past.  And right now, the -6

- at that time, RCMP used to travel with a dog team. 7

They didn't have dog team at that time.  And whoever had8

a dog team, we travelled by dog team, and a lot of people9

were living apart from each other.10

And that's -- that's how it used to work11

in the past.  And we'd spend the night over there. 12

13

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)14

15

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)16

 17

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   I'll just18

try and explain that it's -- that you're speaking rapidly19

so that the interpreters can't keep up.  20

21

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)22

23

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)24

25
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ELDER ISADOR CHARLIE:   Yes, at that time,1

we were feeding fish to the dog team, at that time.  I'm2

not going to -- I'm -- I -- I wasn't expecting to speak3

all -- you know, the entire night, so what I wanted to4

say, I'm not going to say it.5

But when I was talking about police, the6

journey with me and by dog team, we travel from here to7

where people were living on -- on the land -- on the8

land.  There were many people that were living in -- I'm9

sure some of friends were there, that they were shooting10

caribou and feeding the meat to the car -- dog team.11

We didn't have that many -- that many fish12

with us on the -- the journey.  We ran -- ran out of13

fish, but we didn't say nothing.  I shot two (2) caribou14

at the time, the police, and the meat we had, we took one15

(1) caribou each on -- on the sled.16

After arriving at --  we went to Jimmy's17

house in Whati.  There were many people there.  In the18

evening we had nothing to feed the dog.  We had nothing19

to say.  It was silent.  And the old man, he said -- he20

had a caribou head there.  He said, There's some meat21

here.  Go feed your dog, to -- to the meat, he told me.22

And he also asked that I feed the -- the23

police dog team.  After I had -- after I had fed the --24

the dogs, they were -- the people were fighting to give25
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caribou meat to the dog team, all the -- the villagers,1

the people that were living there.  As soon as we fed the2

dog team, everybody follow suit and started feeding the3

dog too -- the dogs.  4

So today there was restriction on the5

caribou.  When you talk about caribou here, I would6

suggest that we start, you know, having limit killed of7

the animal.  This is what I've seen and viewed.  Bruno8

has done some work where he's telling these are not good. 9

We told him that things should have been done certain10

ways. 11

We do know that -- what it's like, and we12

are taking things that -- like we told them that the --13

you know, collar the caribou should not be done with, you14

know, made large object.  We should find other means of15

having smaller object on the -- on the caribou --16

collaring the caribou.17

I was hoping that he will break that, that18

caribou -- I mean break that -- the collar. 19

20

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)21

22

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)23

24

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   He's very25
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fast.  He's a rapid speaker, so...  Joe Nedin will be the1

next -- the next speaker.  2

3

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)4

5

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)6

7

MR. JOE NEDIN:   I'm just asking that --8

Bruno to break the collar off, find other means of9

collaring the caribou.  When I was just a young man10

travelling to Wekweeti, we have seen -- during that time,11

there were many Elders that had lived with us.  12

It was in poor time, but we were -- you13

know, it was difficult travelling, journey.  I have14

travelled there be can -- canoe, boat, and we had to15

paddle all the way there.  That is how the -- the Elders16

had to work very well.17

They carried nets and find a good fishing18

area, and they would set their nets, and we would spend19

the night there.  And every night they would do the same. 20

That is how we had travelled.  We'd been -- accompanied21

these trips.  I remember all this.22

And, also, when they're -- when they're23

going out, they're trapping, they would travel great24

distances to trap.  We see caribou occasionally.  That is25
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how I had travelled with my Elders.  They were in a poor1

way, but, you know, they were -- had bir -- had a2

hardship of life, and they put up with it.3

It's not only me as a young man who4

travelled with them.  There were others, too.  At times,5

we cannot find ourself walking on -- in -- trampling6

through snows.  It's difficult.  I couldn't do that.  But7

what I seen this Elder doing that, it's based on our8

stories from -- and words from our Elders who we -- that9

-- that has brought to this day.10

Those are the words that I want to share11

with you at this time.  That's all I want to say.  Just12

sharing some of the experience with the Elders.13

14

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)15

16

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)17

18

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Joe19

Black...?  Joe Black are you there?  Joe Black once,20

twice.21

Joe Black from Gameti will have the floor. 22

The next person that will be coming up is an Elder from23

Gameti.24

25
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(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)1

2

ELDER JOE BLACK:   Yes, since the Hearing3

-- the Hearing had started I've been here since the here. 4

Now that we've been talking about one (1) animal, a lot5

of people are talking about it -- been talking about.6

The main issue is the caribou.  All the7

people rely on the caribou.  Even our ancestors and our8

forefathers had lived by it and survived by it.9

And they're absolutely right.  When we --10

we were told that we -- we will survive by the caribou. 11

We do not want to make any changes within with our12

livelihood.13

And we should -- we should continue -- we14

should continue to harvest the -- the caribou that we15

always been harvesting all along.16

This is how we love -- this is how we love17

this one (1) animal that we're talking about -- we're18

talking about.  We love -- we love our wives, our family,19

our kids.  This is how we love the -- the caribou.  It's20

like loving -- loving family.21

And also we should come to some sort of a22

resolution and a solution of one (1) word, to do23

something that is right.  Now we are pleading -- pleading24

to you.  We're not getting a little -- we're getting to25



Page 259

be a smart aleck but then we're also talking about the1

future of our youth, and also that our -- our -- our kids2

will definitely -- we will be replaced by our kids.  And3

also that we are pleading for the -- for the future of4

the kids that are -- that are coming now.5

And I know that a lot of our ancestors and6

our forefathers had lived with us and also of how we7

harvest and go hunting.  We continue.  This is how we --8

we rely on each other of -- of -- of how to survive out9

in the land.10

That -- and also that what we're doing11

here is it is something that we want to do the future of12

our kids.  The caribou that we're talking about we13

shouldn't make any changes.  We'll be very thankful that14

we're about to continue what we're doing with the15

caribou.  16

A lot of our people are saying that we17

were -- had survived by the caribou and rely on -- even18

myself I am -- I'm at the age of seventy-six (76) years19

old, seventy-six (76) years old.  I -- I have worked out20

in the land for a number of times and even my late21

brother Nick have I spend a lot of time.22

There are times there isn't -- there are23

sometime there was no food out in the land.  Sometimes --24

sometime he would shoot at least one (1) caribou while we25



Page 260

were out in the land.  At that time there were hardly any1

wildlife, sometimes out -- out around Horn Plateau2

(phonetic) area when we were trapping.3

And even this is how my late brother -- my4

late brother having worked with him.  I'm the only one. 5

I can't say my older brother, I can't say my younger6

brother, this is how I'm sitting now.7

I am just one (1) by myself now.  I have a8

lot of -- I had a lot of older brothers.  I have a lot of9

-- I had a lot of older sisters and my in-laws.  None of10

them are alive with me today.  As of today I am the only11

one that's a survivor.  But my friends that are here, my12

friends that are here that are talking to you, we do not13

want to make any changes.  We want to continue the kind14

of things that we have done in the past.  We definitely15

want to continue what we have done in the past.  We don't16

want to make any change.  We are pleading.  17

So -- so this one (1) animal that we're18

referring to is so -- with your help, help us to help us19

continue what we were doing.  Caribou is our livelihood. 20

Thank you very much.  21

22

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED) 23

24

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)25
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CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Mahsi, Joe. 1

2

Charlie Jim...?3

 4

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)5

6

MR. CHARLIE JIM NITSIZA:   Thank you. 7

Briefly I would like to say this:  Since we were talking8

about the caribou I would do note it's important for our9

people but to everyone.10

But as for the Grand Chief, the former11

Grand Chief had spoken and his sister had spoken, I give12

me -- it give me some thoughts on when they -- when they13

make presentation.14

I don't think it's only the caribou that15

we had -- things that done like restricted on.  I don't16

think nobody knows about the agreement, what's in the17

content  agreement.  There are many times I have spoken18

about this agreement and the constitution.  I have spoken19

many time about this.  I have always had deep thoughts20

about the agreement.  Even to this day I still -- I'm21

still worried about it.22

That's the reason why I have stated very23

clear that -- that agreement does not belong to us.  You24

have heard me say this several times.  Why I'm saying25
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this?1

I have been the Chief, former Chief.  I2

was involved with all negotiating and et cetera about the3

land claim settlement.  Of all the content of the4

agreement we don't know exactly what's in the content of5

the agreement.6

I wanted to talk about the agreement.  I7

want all the people to listen to what I have to say. 8

When the Elders were with us negotiating, how they -- our9

Great Elder Alexis, I remember every word he had to say.10

In this winter like this, much like now11

when we're going to the summer and fall when the -- on12

the effective date, council stated that let's not forget13

something that might be important to us.  This is how he14

spoke to the negotiators.  We assumed that we had15

complete everything that we need to put into the16

agreement.  We were very pleased because we were -- you17

know, we were successful in gathering information and put18

it here in the agreement.19

After two (2) years the effective date, we20

were cautious of how we, you know, were dealt with and21

how we had run -- operate our government.22

Much like George said, we have to start23

thinking about it.  This is something that is important24

for the future.  If things are wrong we have to take a25
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look at it again and make changes if necessary.1

It's not only the -- the -- the things2

that are done for the caribou that -- you know, for that3

no-hunting zone.  You -- even you -- you -- you were4

given back that land.  Is it done by our -- our words? 5

Is it we are the consultation?  I don't think so.6

That's the reason why we -- I said that we7

should take a -- take a look -- look, really look at that8

agreement and the constitution.9

We say the constitution belongs to the10

Tlicho.  But when you take a look at the -- look -- take11

a look at the content, everyone should have been12

consulted before this constitution was established.13

There are many things on my thoughts but14

according to what Celine had said and his brother spoke,15

that's what's written in the agreement with the no16

restriction zone, no-hunting zone.17

You as our family member, you should take18

time to listen to us.  You have children, their children. 19

If you want a good future for your children, you have to20

understand us.  We need to take a look at the21

constitution and the agreement book.  If we don't do that22

we will continue have the confrontation and disagreement. 23

That's going to continue on.24

Eventually that will come to a point where25
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we won't be able to work with each other, nothing will be1

right.  People tell us to work together.  The Elders keep2

telling us that will never happen if we do not revise3

this constitution and revise the agreement.4

Of all that the content of the5

constitution and the agreement, nobody actually knows6

about it.  I want -- we should put -- put a quick pace in7

reviewing this and also we should work -- work closely8

with the Elders on this when we're dealing with the --9

reviewing the constitution -- recommend.10

As for the caribou, you the Board are11

listening to what we have to say.  Of course, it is12

directly stated in the agreement that the responsibility13

of the Government to make -- to -- to -- to decide on14

things that says that could happen like a no-hunting15

zone.16

That is very -- within their jurisdiction17

and responsibility.  Sometimes when we come between the18

rules and laws and agreement then it's difficult.19

As for Monfwi, when he had made that --20

when he had created words and built foundations stating21

that there will be no restrictions on hunting, trapping,22

fishing, what he meant was he was referring to the23

Aboriginal and Tlicho members only.24

This is one thing I will never do away25



Page 265

with.  I want that to remain with us forever.  So the1

reason why I say that we should -- the Elders -- we want2

the Elders to be with us when we meet with the3

government.  This is what I want to do.  4

That's all.  Thank you.  That is all I5

want to say at this time.  6

7

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)8

9

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)10

11

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Georgina12

Simpson...?  13

MS. GEORGINA SIMPSON:   This lady has --14

this is Georgina Simpson of Whati, he's got a hearing15

problem.  All the people know me.  My grandfather used to16

be a Chief.  This son, the great Chief Zeezay (phonetic)17

was my father's brother -- my -- my father.18

The way he had raised me when my19

grandfather spoke to me, he said, My grandchild, if you20

want to -- you want to live, you know exactly what I have21

stated.  My grandfather was right. 22

My grandfather taught many, many good23

things living in the -- in the land -- living off the24

land.  They have taught me all this.  From here to25
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towards the -- in the Russell Lake, I used to travel1

there with them.  2

They made snowshoes for me.  They gave me3

a gun.  Living there, there were many Aboriginal members4

with him.  He was a leader of that.  We would live there. 5

My grandpa said -- said my nephew -- my niece, remember6

this, he -- he told me.  I didn't exactly know what he7

was talking about.8

The only reason that I started to realize9

what he was saying, my grandfather stated this:  Why --10

why do the white people always have their meetings when11

they speak about things?  My grandfather, I seen he had a12

very harsh words to share.  13

When the people -- white people come in14

with all the papers piled up in front of them he will ask15

them to leave with the paper.  Why are these people with16

the paper in front of them?  They all think information17

is within the minds, with the mind that I speak from. 18

This is what my grandfather said to me.  I remember what19

my grandfather had said.  20

I had lived a while with my -- my21

grandfather.  I have -- we still have our house.  That22

used to be at a point here nearby.  I remember when I had23

to walk and I pulled a sled all the way across the lake24

to get car -- firewoods.  25
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I was hoping we would gather as firewoods,1

and I would chop the woods and split it for the morning,2

and also, gathered the -- get some pail of waters.  In3

those days, I didn't actually know how to do any kind of4

work, so I just did what that formal chores that I need5

to do at home.6

My grandfather -- I would be the one to do7

all the -- the -- you know, the -- the -- paying his bill8

for him from The Bay to the -- to the store here, general9

store here.  When the general stores be -- was opened, me10

and my sutridge (phonetic) were the first on staff.11

At that time, I saw -- I talked to my12

father.  I said that our general store -- he told me go13

out to -- out to elsewhere to learn how to train.  I14

wanted to train for cooking.  He said -- but my15

grandfather refused me -- refused me from going to school16

elsewhere.17

I remember he said, All the things that18

you need is all in your brain, the things that you learn. 19

He was only right.  My grandfather also stated, first of20

all -- first the -- or the wise word that he give me.21

And also, he talk about the land that was22

drawn by Monfwi.  He said, I'm the brother, the younger23

brother, Monfwi.  Monfwi lasted very long dur -- during24

his leadership.  25
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After Monfwi was gone, my great great1

grandfather took over being a chief.  There must have2

been something after that.  The time lasted.  After he3

had died, I moved to Whati.  I lived there.  I live with4

my husband.5

If my husband travels on the land to hunt,6

I will travel with him.  At that time I didn't exactly7

know -- I didn't even know how to butcher the animal. 8

When he carried meat at -- we would -- he gave me a knife9

and he told me to prepare the meat, and he took -- went10

out to -- for the caribou.11

In our land, we shot the caribou.  He12

asked me to butcher the caribou while he was out hunting13

again.  I asked him, Is that the same way as we, you14

know, skin the rabbits?  He was just -- my husband was15

testing me, but I was able to, you know, do -- to butcher16

the caribou, take the hide off and all that.17

And he was surprised.  I was only testing18

me -- testing -- he said today I didn't -- in those days19

I didn't even know exactly how to prepare, you know, dry20

fish and all that by -- by looking at other people.  By21

people -- watching other women.  They had taught me many,22

many things. 23

And I see my grand -- granddaughter coming24

in.  They would see the dry fish hanging in my25
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smokehouse.  And also my grandmother had spoken to me1

when the meat came into our home.  I asked my2

grandmother, I don't call her grandma, I ask -- I call3

her mom, mommy.  She told me how do you, you know cut the4

ribs to make the dry meat and also how you prepare dry5

meat.6

We would -- I had cut up all the meat to7

dry.  It was filled with -- on a rafter.  She told me how8

to, you know, make dry meat out of hind quarter.   All9

those was taught to me.  10

I am very pleased but I just want to11

remind you what was said to me by my grandfather, words12

that he had left me.  There's one particular thing that13

he told me, My niece, I want you to eat the things that I14

eat today, the food that I died what I want you to15

continue with that.16

My grandma would prepare fish for us.  She17

asked me to, you know, too cook the fish, even eye, and I18

also had, you know, the -- the lungs of the fish was19

cooked.20

She ate -- she ate -- the'd call me the --21

the -- he always call me (DOGRIB SPOKEN), means, you22

know, the -- the intestine of the -- the fish.  He would23

call me that.  He used to call me that making me that24

fish pie we call it.25
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(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)1

2

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)3

4

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   The next5

speaker that we have is Robyn Mantla.  Robyn Mantla you6

have eight (8) minutes.  I think you'll be the last7

speaker because we're supposed to be here for only8

approximately two (2) hours.  9

So at this time, Robyn, you have the floor10

at this time.11

12

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)13

14

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)15

16

MS. ROBYN MANTLA:   I've been to a few17

meetings and I've been listening to the Elders talking. 18

Today all the Elders are so heartbroken because all their19

life they live off the caribou.20

We all need to come together, the Tlicho21

Government, the Elders and most of all the young22

generation because one (1) day where you guys are sitting23

we are going to be sitting there.24

But we need to act fast because we are25
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losing Elders and the caribou.  If we lose both, the1

younger generation are going to lose their way of life,2

Tlicho way of life.  There's going to be no more drum3

dances.  If you go hunting the caribou, even the drum4

dancing, hand game a -- what else is there?5

And the younger generations are going to6

learn how to hunt for their family, they're going to lose7

that too.  Today the main subject is caribou.  How do8

we save the caribou?  I've been to the meeting today and9

a few days and nobody mentioned how we're going to save10

this caribou.  How are we going to make this caribou into11

a large number?  No one has ever mentioned that.  12

Today my main concern is for the younger13

generations because they say that the caribou is going to14

be extinct.  And when they say extinct that means it's15

going to be gone.  It's not going to come back.  They're16

not going to go or go to barren lands.  No one's going to17

hunt them.  This is a serious, serious issue for18

everyone, not only me, for Elders but for everybody in19

the Tlicho region.  20

Right now they say they want to hunt21

caribou and they do hunt caribou.  The numbers is going22

to go down.  Right now it's thirty-one thousand (31,000).23

If they start shooting caribous a single24

(TECHNICAL DIFFICULTIES) in order to make the point is25
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going to be extinct but the cow -- I mean, the others are1

the main thing.  They live off caribou.  They don't like2

store bought meat.  They don't eat meat from the store.3

So the people in the community can go4

hunting for the Elders only.  But we younger generation5

can live on store bought food, but the Elders can live6

off the caribou.7

What else?  And I went to a meeting in8

Gameti and the youth were involved there, it was really9

great.  The youth spoke to -- it wasn't only me.  It was10

a -- there's about -- about five (5) or six (6), they11

spoke their mind, they want -- they were so concerned,12

like what's going on.  Is it the mine site?  Is it the13

climate change?  What is it, they keep saying, but nobody14

knows.15

What is -- why is the caribou just going -16

- gone so fast?  Is it because people are hunting them so17

much, shoot -- shooting too much caribou?  And earlier a18

woman came up and cried for her business for caribou. 19

But the main concern is the caribou right now, not20

businesses or anything like that.  When -- when you go21

hunting and you make money off that, in our culture22

that's not good.  23

There's so much things I want to say about24

the caribou, because we grew up with it.  We love dry25
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meat.  We like making pequont (phonetic).  We like to1

sew.  And if we lose that, if we lose that -- if we lose2

the caribou, we're going to lose our culture, and the3

young generation, they're going to lose it.  They're not4

going to pass it on to generation after generation.5

Me, I'm part and on behalf of the younger6

generation.  I want the caribou to grow in large numbers7

so that the younger generation can have the life we have8

as a Tlicho way of life.  Mahsi, everybody.9

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   Mahsi,10

Robyn.  Thank you.  (DOGRIB SPOKEN)11

12

(DOGRIB INTO ENGLISH THROUGH INTERPRETER)13

14

CO-CHAIRPERSON JOSEPH JUDAS:   At this15

time, I'm going to ask one (1) elderly lady to do the16

closing prayer, Madeline Champlain (phonetic) from --17

from Whati.  Thank you for all the people that have been18

here.  So we'll probably go till noon tomorrow, but we19

will reconvene at 9:00 a.m. the -- the following --20

tomorrow morning. 21

So I know that all of -- all of the staff22

are -- I know that they are tired, but we're supposed to23

be here until 9:00 only.  So at this time I would like to24

ask Madeline Champlain from Whati to do the closing25
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prayer.  Let us pray.1

2

(INTERPRETATION CONCLUDED)3

4

(CLOSING PRAYER)5

6

--- Upon adjourning at 9:10 p.m.7

8

Certified Correct,9

10

11

12

__________________13

Wendy Warnock, Ms.14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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